
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
300 Lakeside Drive, P. O. Box 12688, Oakland, CA 94604-2688

BOARD MEETING AGENDA
August 28,2014

5:00 p.m.

A regular meeting of the Board of Directors will be held at 5:00 p.m. on Thursday, August 28,2014,
This meeting shall consist of a simultaneous teleconference call at the following locations:

Members of the public may address the Board of Directors regarding any matter on this agenda.
Please complete a "Request to Address the Board" form (available at the entrance to the Board
Room) and hand it to the Secretary before the item is considered by the Board. If you wish to
discuss a matter that is not on the agenda during a regular meeting, you may do so under Public
Comment.

Any action requiring more than a majority vote for passage will be so noted.

Items placed under "consent calendar" are considered routine and will be received, enacted,
approved, or adopted by one motion unless a request for removal for discussion or explanation is
received from a Director or from a member of the audience.

Please refrain from wearing scented products (perfume, cologne, after-shave, etc.) to these meetings,
as there may be people in attendance susceptible to environmental illnesses.

BART provides service/accommodations upon request to persons with disabilities and individuals
who are limited English proficient who wish to address BART Board matters. A request must be
made within one and five days in advance of Board meetings, depending on the service requested.
Please contact the Office of the District Secretary at 510-464-6083 for information.

Rules governing the participation of the public at meetings of the Board of Directors and Standing
Committees are available for review on the District's website (http://www.bart.gov/about/bod), in
the BART Board Room, and upon request, in person or via mail.

Meeting notices and agendas are available for review on the District's website
(http://www.bart.gov/about/bod/meetings.aspx), and via email or via regular mail upon request.
Complete agenda packets (in PDF format) are available for review on the District's website no later
than 48 hours in advance of the meeting. Those interested in being on the mailing list for meeting
notices (email or regular mail) can do so by providing the District Secretary with the appropriate
address.

Please submit your requests to the District Secretary via email to BoardofDirectors@bart.gov; in
perSonorU.S.mailat300LakesideDrive,23,dFlo;r,oakland,C-A946|2;fu*5l0-464-6011;or
telephone 5 I 0-464-6083.

Kenneth A. Duron
District Secretary

BART Board Room
fu;;' c;;ro,h street Mall - rhird
344 -20th Street
Oakland. CA 94612

Regal International East Asia Hotel
No. 516 Hengshan Road
Shanghai 2000300, China

Floor



Regular Meeting of the
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The purpose of the Board Meeting is to consider and take such action as the Board may
desire in connection with:

1. CALL TO ORDER

A. Roll Call.
B. Pledge of Allegiance.
C. Introduction of Special Guests.

2. CONSENT CALENDAR

A. Approval of Minutes of the Meeting of August 14,2074.* Board
requested to authorize.

B. Award of Contract No. 0lRQ-130, Construction of Hayward Maintenance
Complex Project Sandoval Way Access Road.* Board requested to
authorize.

C. Award of Contract No. 01RQ-140, Construction of Hayward Maintenance
Complex Project Building Four Demolition.* Board requested to
authorize.

D. Reject All Bids for Invitation for Bid No. 8939, Purchase of Hi-Rail
Switcher.* Board requested to reject.

3. PUBLIC COMMENT - 15 Minutes
(An opportunity for members of the public to address the Board of Directors on matters under
their jurisdiction and not on the agenda. An additional period for Public Comment is provided at
the end of the Meeting.)

4. ENGINEERING AND OPERATIONS ITEMS
Director McPartland, Chairperson

A. Earthquake Safety Program Citizens' Oversight Committee Report.* For
information.

B. Award of Contract No. 6M7220, Emergency Restoration Work of the
Commercial Fiber Optic and Wireless Network.* Board requested to
authorize.

C. Warm Springs Extension Project: Semi-Annual Project Update.* For
information.

x Attachment available 2 of3



5. PLANNING. PUBLIC AFFAIRS. ACCESS. AND LEGISLATION ITEMS
Director Raburn, Chairperson

A. (CONTINUED from the August 14,2014 Board Meeting)
Station Profile Survey Funding Agreement.* Board requested to
authorize.

B. Increased Spending Authority for Contract No. 91CW-226,Fumishing
Bicycle Lockers with Electronic Controllers.* Board requested to
authorize.

6. ADMINISTRATION ITEMS
Director Saltzman, Chairperson

A. Review of Draft Fiscal Year 2015 to Fiscal Year 2024 Short Range
Transit Plan/Capital Improvement Program. * For information.

7. GENERAL MANAGER'S REPORT

A. Report of Activities, including Update of Roll Call for Introductions
Items.

8. BOARD MATTERS

A. Termination of Free Transportation Privileges upon Leaving Office for
Current, Newly Elected, and Newly Appointed Board Members and their
Dependents. For discussion and possible action. (Director Raburn's
request.)

B. Board Member Reports.
(Board member reports as required by Government Code Section 53232.3(d) are
available through the Office of the District Secretary.)

C. Roll Call for Introductions.
(An opporfunity for Board members to introduce a matter for consideration at a future
Committee or Board Meeting or to request District staffto prepare items or reports.)

D. In Memoriam.
(An opportunity for Board members to introduce individuals to be commemorated.)

9. PUBLIC COMMENT
(An opportunity for members of the public to address the Board of Directors on matters under
theirjurisdiction and not on the agenda.)

* Attachment available 3 of 3



DRAFT
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

300 Lakeside Drive, P.O. Box 12688, Oakland, CA94604-2688

Board of Directors
Minutes of the l,774th Meeting

August 14,2014

A regular meeting of the Board of Directors was held August 74,2014, convening at9:04 a.m. in
the Board Room, 344 20th Street, Oakland, California. President Keller presided; Kenneth A.
Duron, District Secretary.

Directors present: Directors Blalock, Fang, McPartland, Murray, Raburn, Saltzman, and
Keller.

Absent: None. Directors Mallett and Radulovich entered the Meeting later.

Director Raburn introduced Citizen Review Board Chairperson Sharon Kidd, and congratulated
her on being acknowledged as Citrzen of the Year by the California Peace Officers Association.

Consent Calendar items brought before the Board were:

1. Approval of Minutes of the Meetings of July 24,2014 (Special), and
July 24, 20 I 4 (Regular).

2. Fixed Property Tax Rates Fiscal Year 2074-2015 - General Obligation
Bonds.

Director Blalock made the following motions as a unit. Director Raburn seconded the motions,
which carried by unanimous acclamation. Ayes - 7: Directors Blalock, Fang, McPartland,
Murray, Rabum, Saltzman, and Keller. Noes - 0. Absent -2: Directors Mallett and
Radulovich.

1 . That the Minutes of the Meetings of July 24,2014 (Special), and July 24,
2014 (Regular), be approved.

2. Adoption of Resolution No. 5267,In the Matter of Fixing the Rate of
Taxes for San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District for Fiscal Year
20t4115.

Director Saltzman, Chairperson of the Administration Committee, brought the matter of
Collateral Pool for Small Business Bonding Assistance Program and Risk Mitigation before the
Board. Mr. Jim Bridgeman, Department Manager, Insurance, presented the item. The item was
discussed.

Director Radulovich entered the Meeting.

Discussion continued.

Director Mallett entered the Meeting.

-l-



DRAFT
Discussion continued.

Director Raburn moved that the Controller/Treasurer be authorized to establish a Collateral Pool
to support the issuance of bonds under its Small Business Bonding Assistance Program in an

amount not to exceed three million dollars (S3,000,000.00) and be authorized to exercise an

option to increase it to five million dollars (S5,000,000.00); and that Collateral provided for any
bond will not exceed forty percent (40%) of the bond amount or seven hundred and fifty
thousand dollars ($750,000.00) whichever is less; and that the Controller/Treasurer be further
authorized to establish a Third-Party Funds Administration Program at a cost not to exceed one
percent (1%) of the amount of bonds issued. Director Murray seconded the motion, which
carried by unanimous electronic vote. Ayes - 9: Directors Blalock, Fang, Mallett, McPartland,
Murray, Raburn, Radulovich, Saltzman, and Keller. Noes - 0.

Director Saltzman brought the matter of Time Extension to Agreement No. 6M2020, Brokerage
Services for an Owner Controlled Insurance Program, before the Board. Mr. Bridgeman
presented the item. Director Murray moved that the Controller/Treasurer be authorized to extend
the time of performance under Agreement No. 6M2020, with Aon Risk Services, to provide
Owner Controlled Insurance Program services, for an additional two years, to November 30,

2016, and that the original not-to-exceed amount for the Agreement remains at $7,500,000.00.
Director Raburn seconded the motion, which carried by unanimous electronic vote. Ayes - 9:

Directors Blalock, Fang, Mallett, McPartland, Murray, Raburn, Radulovich, Saltzman, and

Keller. Noes - 0.

President Keller announced that the order of agenda items would be changed, and brought the
matter of Assembly Bill 2493 (Bloom), Statewide Economic Development, Infrastructure
Construction, Affordable Housing and Job Creation. Director Blalock welcomed and introduced
Mr. Mark Green, former Mayor of Union City. Mr. Green addressed the Board. The item was

discussed. Director Blalock moved that the Board support Assembly Bill2493 (Bloom),
Statewide Economic Development, Infrastructure Construction, Affordable Housing and Job
Creation. Director Saltzman seconded the motion. Director Rabum requested the motion be

amended to include the Board's emphasis on sustainable communities. Directors Blalock and

Saltzman accepted the amendment. The amended motion carried by unanimous electronic vote.
Ayes - 9: Directors Blalock, Fang, Mallett, McPartland, Murray, Raburn, Radulovich, Saltzman,
and Keller. Noes - 0.

Director Saltzman brought the matters of Amended Reserve Fund Policy and Risk Management
Policy before the Board. Mr. Scott Schroeder, Controller/Treasurer; and Mr. Bridgeman
presented the items. The items were discussed.

Director McPartland, Chairperson of the Engineering and Operations Committee, brought the

matter of Change Order to Contract No. 15CQ-201, Procurement of Direct Fixation Rail
Fasteners, with L.B. Foster Company, for Extension of Time, before the Board. Mr. Paul

Oversier, Assistant General Manager - Operations, and Mr. Gregory Shivy, Principal Track
Engineer, presented the item. The item was discussed. Director Mallett moved that the General

Manager be authorized to issue a Change Order to extend the term of the Contract
No. I 5CQ-201, for the Procurement of Direct Fixation Rail Fasteners, to L.B. Foster Company,

of Pittsburg, Pennsylvania, until September 17,2019. Director Blalock seconded the motion,
which carried by unanimous electronic vote. Ayes - 9: Directors Blalock, Fang, Mallett,
McPartland, Murray, Rabum, Radulovich, Saltzman, and Keller. Noes - 0.



DRAFT
Director McPartland brought the matter of Quarterly Performance Report, Fourth Quarter Fiscal
Year 2014 - Service Performance Review, before the Board. Mr. Oversier; Mr. Jeffrey Lau,
Chief Safety Officer; and Mr. Benson Fairow, Deputy Chief of Police, presented the item. The
item was discussed.

The following individuals addressed the Board.
Mr. Chris Finn
Mr. John Arantes

Director Raburn, Chairperson of the Planning, Public Affairs, Access, and Legislation
Committee, announced that the matter of Station Profile Survey Funding Agreement with
Metropolitan Transportation Commission would be continued to a future meeting.

President Keller called for the General Manager's Report. Ms. Grace Crunican, General
Manager, reported on steps she had taken and activities and meetings she had participated in,
reminded the Board of upcoming events, and gave a report on the progress of outstanding Roll
Call for Introductions items.

President Keller called for the Controller/Treasurer's Report. Mr. Schroeder reported on the
activities of the Office over the past quarter. The report was discussed.

President Keller called for Board Member Reports and Roll Call for Introductions.

Director Saltzman requested that staff bring an informational report to the Board about planning
and service for special events, including but not limited to parades and sports games. This report
should include station staffing and train service levels. Director Mallett seconded the request.

Director Blalock reported he had attended the Fremont Festival of the Arts.

Director Murray commented on the continuing vacancy of the Police representative on the
Citizen Review Board, and complimented staff on the removal of the Legs hanging sculpture
from the Embarcadero Station.

President Keller called for In Memoriam commemorations, and requested that the meeting be

adjourned in memory of Lisa Isler, BART employee and former Service Employees International
Union, BART Chapter, President.

President Keller called for Public Comment. No comments were received.

President Keller announced that the Board would enter into closed session in the adjacent
conference room under Item l0-A (Conference with Real Property Negotiators) of the regular
meeting agenda, and that the Board would reconvene in open session at the end of that closed
session.

The Board Meeting was recessed at 12:21 p.m.

The Board reconvened in closed session at l2:30 p.m.

-J-



DRAFT
Directors present: Directors Blalock, Fang, Mallett, Murray, Raburn, Radulovich, Saltzman,

and Keller.

Absent: None. Director McPartland entered the Meeting later.

Director McPartland entered the Meeting.

The Board Meeting was recessed at 12:55 p.m.

The Board reconvened in open session at 12:57 p.m.

Directors present: Directors Blalock, Fang, Mallett, McPartland, Murray, Rabum,
Radulovich, Saltzman, and Keller.

Absent: None.

President Keller announced that the Board had concluded its closed session as noticed on the
agenda, and that there was no further announcement.

President Keller brought the matter of Time Extension to the Exclusive Negotiating Agreement
between the Pleasant Hill BART Station Leasing Authority Joint Powers Agency and Pleasant

Hill Leasing Associates, LLC, before the Board. Director Murray moved that the BART
representatives to the Pleasant Hill BART Station Leasing Authority (JPA) be authorized to vote
that the JPA extend the Exclusive Negotiating Agreement with Pleasant Hill Transit Village
Associates,LLC, for development of Block "C" at the Pleasant Hill/Contra Costa Centre BART
Station, for a period of six months, with a right by the JPA to extend for up to one 90-day period.
Director Blalock seconded the motion, which carried by unanimous electronic vote. Ayes - 9:

Directors Blalock, Fang, Mallett, McPartland, Murray, Rabum, Radulovich, Saltzman, and

Keller. Noes - 0.

President Keller returned to Roll Call for Introductions. Director Mallett requested a

comprehensive overview of station maintenance performance standards and corresponding
accountability standards for Board of Directors consideration on a future agenda.. Director
Radulovich seconded the request.

The Board Meeting was adjourned at 1:00 p.m. in memory of Ms. Lisa Isler.

Kenneth A. Duron
District Secretary

-4-



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

Project Sandovel Way Access Road

and fonmrd to the Boad

Awerd of No. 0lRGl30 for Construction of Meintenance Complex

}{ARRArII/E:

PtlRPtOSf,: To obtain Board authorization for the General Manager to award Contract No.
0lRQ-130 for Conslmction of Hayward Maintenance Complex Project Sandoval Way Access

Road to Sustainable Group, Inc., Moraga. CA.

DISCUSSION: The Hayward Maintenmce Complex Pmject (HMC) was adoped by ttrc BART
Board of Directors otMay 26,2011. The Project will provide for expanded and enhanced

maintenance complex facilities necessary to accomodate, in part, BART'S futurc system

demands" including the Silicon Valley Extension Project The Project consists ofthe acquisition
and impmvements to three parcels improved with four warehouse buildings on the west side of
the exising Haywad Yard. [mprovement elemene include a Vehicle-level Overhaul Shop,

Cormponent Repair Shop, Central Warehouse, Non-Revenue Vehicle Shop and Storage Areq and
trackrrork

Phase I ofthe Pmject includes, among other elements an access road to connect Sandoval Way
with other pmperty at lte HMC. The Disrict therefore pepared Contract No. 0lRQl30 for
Construction ofHaywad Maintenance Complex Project Sandoval Way Access Road. The

Contract scope irrcltrdes construction ofthe access road, drainage improvements, fencing and
associated wort,

On May I 3, 20 I 4 an Advance Notice to Bidders was mailed to I 73 prospective bidders.
Contract Documents were sent to 22 plan rooms. The Contract was advertised as a Micro Small
Business Entity (MSBE) set-aside on May 20,2014 in local publications- A total of 5 firms
prnchased copies of the Contract Documents. A pre-bid meeting and site visit werc conducted
on Jrme 5, 2014 wi& 3 prospective bidders attending. Bids were publically opened on July 8,

2014. The two Bids receive4 and the Engineels Estimate" are as follows:

Bidder Location Total Bid Price
Sustainable Group- Inc. Moraga- CA $353.0r 8.00

Joseph Cumiskey Constnrtion
Corporation

Belmonr CA $374.000.m

Enginee/s Estimate $2mi86,00



Award o{ Contracl tlo- 01RG13O

After review by District slaff, the Bid of Sustainable Group, lnc. was deemed the lowest
responsive Bid. Furtlrermore, a review ofthis Bidder's license, business experience, and

financial capabilities has resulred in a determination that the Bidder is respotrsible. Staffhas also
determined thar the Biddels Bid of $353,0t 8.0O is fair and reasonable.

Pursuant to the District's Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Program Small Business Elements,
all Bidders arc requircd to be a BART<ertified MSBE at the time of Bid. The lowest responsive
Bidder, Susrainable Grorp, lnc., is a BART-certified MSBE. Ptnsuant to the DBE Prograrn" no
DBE goals were establishod for this Contract.

FISCAL IMPACT: Funding of up to $353,018 for award of Contraci No. 0lRQ-130 is
included in fie toral project budget for 0l RQffiO, Hayward Maintenance Complex Project The

Office of the Contr,oller/Treasurer certifies that fimds are currently available to meet lhis
obligation.

. As of July 23, 2014,$177 206,856 is available for commitnent for this project from the
following sources:

BART has expended $14,419,322.80, encumbered $5,139,523.67, and pre-ercr'mbered

$19,800,000.00 to date. This action will encumber up Io an additional $353,018.ffi, leaving an

available fund balance of $137,494,91.74.

There is no fiscal impact on available un-pmgrammed Dstrict Reserves.

ALTERNATIYf,S: The altematives are not to award the Contract, or rcbid. Not awarding the
Contrat is not recommeaded because the access road is needed for the Project. Rebidding is not
recommended due to the Project completion deadline date, as delays would negarively impact
award of other HMC contracts.

RECOMMEIT{DATION: Adoption ofthe following motion.

Fmd
No.

Source Fund Description Amount

656E VTA Santa Clara County Transit Authority $ l1.600.000.00

852't BART FY 12 Operating Chpital Allocation $ 7,034,3,14.30

656K vTA Santa Clara County Transit Authority $ 108,133,406.95

3007 FTA $ 50,439,il4.96

Total $177.206,856.21



Award of Co{fiact No. 0 l RG1 30

MOTION: The General Manager or her desigrree is authorized to award Contract No.
0 I RQ. I 30 for Constnrction of Hayward Maintenance Complex Project Sandoval Way Access
Road to Sustahable Gmup, Inc." for the tolal Bid price of $353,01 8.00, pursuant to notification
Io be issued by the Gereral Manager, zubject to the Dislricl's protest procedures and FTA
rcquirements rrlated to prrotest procedures.



EXECUTIYE DECISION IX)CUMENT

Awerd of Contrect No. 01RQ14{l for Constnrction of Heywerd Meintcmnce Complex
Project Building Four Demolition

and for*ard to dte Boad

IIARNATI'E

PIIRP|OSE: To obtain Boad authorization for the General Manager to award Contract No.

OlRQl4O for Constnrction of Hayward Maintenarrce Complex Project Building Forn

Demolition to Dominguez and Sons Truckng Inc., San Jose, CA.

DISCUSSION: The Hayward Maintenance Complex Project (HMC) was adopted by the BART
Board of Directors on May 26, 201 l. The Project will pmvide for expanded and enhanced

maintenance complex facilities necessary to accommodate, in part BARTS futw€ system

demands, including the Silimn Valley Exension Project. The Project consists of the acquisition

of and improvements to three parcels currcntly containing forn warehouse buildings on the west

side of the exising Hayward Yard lmprovement elements include a Vehicle-level Overhaul

Shop, Component Repair Shop, Central Warehouse, Non-Revenre Vehicle Shop and Storage

Arca, and trackwork.

Phase I ofthe Project includes, among other elements, the demolition of Building Four to provide

the location for the Vehicle-I-evel Oveftaul Shop, and to provide space for a constmction
laydown area- The scope ofthis Contract includes the complete demolition of Building Four and

removal of all materials from the site.

On June 2, 2014 an Advance Notice to Bidders was mailed to 157 prospective bidders. Contract

Documents werc sent to 24 plan moms. The Contract was advertised as a Micro Small Business

Entity (MSBE) set-aside on June 2, 2014 in local publications. A total of I 5 firms purchased

copies of the Contract Documents. A pre-bid meeting and site visit were conducted on Iune 25,

2014 with 19 pmspective bidders attending. Bids were publicly opened on July 29,2014.The
tabularion of Bids receive4 and the Engineet's Estimate, arc as follows:

Bay Constnrction Co./Bay Line Cutting &



Sustainable Group Inc. CA
Cumiskey Construction Corp. San Francisco, CA $909,000.00

Empire Engineering & Construction, Inc. Oakland, CA $910,000.00

Engineer's Estimate $l,500,000.00

Av{ard Cont acl l.lo. 01 RGl 40

The Bid submitted by Bay Consruction Co/Bay Line Cutting & Coring Inc., a Joint Venhrre,
was disqualified because neither the Joint Venture, nor the individual firms, was a

BART-c.ertified Micro Small Business Entity (MSBE). The Bids submitted by Pantano

Excavating and Plummerbuilt Inc. were non-responsive because the Bids did not include the
Confidential Statement ofQualifications and Business References for Construction. After
review by District staff, the Bid submitted by Dominguez and Sons Trucking, Inc. was deemed

to be the lowest responsive Bid. Furthermore, a review of this Biddefs license, business

experience, and financial capabilities has resulted in a determirntion that the Bidder is
responsible. Staffhas also determined that the Bidde/s Bid of $770,000.fi) is fair and

reasonable.

Pursuant to the District's Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Program Small Business Elernents,

all Bidders are required to be a BART-certified MSBE at the time of Bid. The lowest responsive

Bidder, Dominguez and Sons Trucking, Inc., is a BARTtertified MSBE. Pursunt to the

Progmm, no DBE goals werc eslablished for this Contracr.

FISCAL IMPACT: Funding of up to $770,000.00 for award of Contract No. 0lRQl40 is

included in the total pmject budget for 0l RQ000, Hayward Maintenance Complex Project. The
Office of the Coouoller/Treasurer certifies that firnds are currently available to meet this
obligation.

As of August 5,2014, $177,206,856.00 is available for commitment for this pmject from the

following sources:

Fund
No-

Source Frmd Description Amount

656E VTA Santa Clara County Transit Authority $ I1,600,000.00

852.1 BART FY l2 Operatine Capital Alloc, $ 7,034J34.30

656K VTA Santa Clara County Tra$it Authority $r08,133,406.95
3007 FTA $ 50,439,114.96

Tolal $177,206.856.21

BART has expended $15,031,794.88, encumbered $5,139,528.36, and pretncumbered
$19,800,m0.00 to date. This action will encrmrber up to an additional $770,000.00, leaving an
available fiurd balance of $136 A65,532.97.

Tlrere is no fiscal impact on available un-progmmmed Disilrict Resewes.



ALTERNATIVES: The altematives are to decline to award the Contract, or rebid. Not
awarding the Contract would result in no available location for the HMC vehicle level overhaul
shop, a critical component in the overall firnction of the envisioned HMC facility. Rebidding the
Contract would result in delays to execution of the work, potentially resulting in increased
Prcject costs due to those delays.

Rf,COMMEII{DATION: Adoption of the following motion.

MOTION: The General Manager or her desigrree is aulhorized to award ConEact No.
OtRQl,() for Construction of Hayward Maintenance Complex Pmject Building Four
Demolition to Dominguez and Sons Trucking, tnc., for the total Bid price of $770,000.00,
pursuant to notification to be issued by the General Manager, subject o the District's protest

procedures and FTA requirernents r€laled to protests.

Award Contract No. 01RQ-l40



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

Reject Sole Bid for IFB 8939 - Purchase of Hi-Rail Switcher

AND FORWARD TO THE BOARD OF

I,IARRATTVE:

PURPOSE:

To obtain Board authorization for the General Manager to reject the sole bid for IFB 8939 -
Purchase of Hi-Rail Switcher.

DISCUSSION:

This IFB is for the purchase ofone (l) Hi-Rail Switcher to be used to move the new rail vehicles at the

Whipple Yard rail car receiving facility and the Hayward Yard test track during testing ofthe new

vehicles.

A notice requesting bids was published on June 40. 2014 and bid requests were mailed to three (3)

prospective bidders. Bids were opened on June 24c. 2014 and one ( I ) bid was received'

Grand Total including Engineer's Estimate including
Bidder Unit Price 97o Sales Tax
Shuttlewagon Inc. S649,850.00 $708,336.50

97o Ssles Tax
$378.000.00

The bid submitted by Shuttlewagon, Inc. is 54% above the Engineer's Estimate. The variance rn

price is due to the significant engineering costs to redesign a standard Hi-Rail Switcher to meet

the current rail and road fiurctions available on current District Hi-Rail Switchers. Specifically,

the specification required a transmission and broad gauge axles that are no longer available.

These features would allow for 45 MPH highway operation, as well as normal trackway

operations. Additionally, a coupling design to accommodate both the existing and new rail car

couplers was specifid.

Given the magnitude of the difference between the Engineer's Estimate and the sole bid received,

District Engineering has decided to modifu the specification to allow for the procurement ofa
standard Hi-Rail Switcher with broad gauge axles and to accommodate only the new rail car

coupler. Based on this modification staff believes that re-advertising the IFB will result in
substantially lower responsive bid(s).

!9'JTAL AT.AGER AF

l/kte,a &TA"
oATE: c IY BOARO lNlTLAIEg{TEri: No

qt{oFnPil.h,
f srots /

i^L/e+-,t
*0[r: Oqt.ral Corrnaal

M,&,{,,{r, 4,
Fllrricl Secrot ry I

tt



Reiect Sole Bid for IFB 8939 - Purchase ot Hi-Rail Switcher

FISCAL IMPACT

There is no fiscal impact resulting from the rejection of this bid.

ALTERNATIVE:

The altemative is to award this contract without suffrcient budgeted funds for completion.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

It is recommended that the Board adopt the following motion:

MOTION:

The sole bid tendered for IFB 8939, for the purchase of Hi-Rail Switcher, is rejected.



SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANS]T DISTRICT

MEMORANDUM

TO: Board of Directors DATE: August 22,2OL4

FROM: General Manager

SUBJECT: E&O Agenda ltem 4.A: Earthquake Safety Program Citizen's Oversight Report -
For lnformation

At the August 28th Board of Directorrs meeting, Mr. Matt Wrona, Chair of the Earthquake Safety
Program Citizen's Oversight Committee, will provide a short update on the Committee's
activities and present the Board with its Periodic Report. Mr. Wrona will be speaking on behalf
of the five member Citizen's Oversight Committee assembled following the passage of the
General Obligation Bond in 2004.

lf you have any questions about the attached Report, please contact Molly McArthur,
Community Relations Division Manager, Capital Projects, Office of External Affairs, at (510) 464-
6L76.

Attachment

cc: Board Appointed Officers
Deputy General Manager
Executive Staff



SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

MEMORANDUM

TO: Board of Directors DATE: August 28,2014

FROM: Earthquake Safety Program
Citizen' s Oversight Committee

SUBJECT: Report of Activities

Since January 24,2013, when the current Citizen's Oversight Committee members were

appointed, five Committee meetings have been held and all Committee members have

participated in the required Ethics Training. As you are aware, it is the responsibility of this

Committee to review project scheduling and budgeting, and to confirm work is completed and

that bond funds are only being spent on earthquake safety upgrades to the BART System, as

provided in the 2004 BART G. O. Bond Measure.

All Committee Members actively participated in the meetings, asked probing questions and

requested additional information when necessary. The meetings have been fairly comprehensive

in their coverage of project matters, and staff has responded cooperatively to all follow up

questions and requests. Project staff has been forthcoming in their presentation of details,

methods and approaches to challenges. Additionally, the Committee would also like to
acknowledge that BART management staffs from other departrnents have made themselves

available to answer specific questions in their areas of expertise, including Treasurer Scott

Schroeder and Manager of the Audit Departrnent Terry Green. These sessions allowed the

Committee to ask very specific questions and receive detailed answers from the most

knowledgeable members of staff.

Overall, the Committee finds that the BART Earthquake Safety Program is providing the Bay

Area with effective upgrades of the transit system that enhance capability to withstand

earthquakes and minimize the disruption of service. Based upon the information (verbal and

written) provided by the BART staff, the COC confirms that the BART Earthquake Safety

Program is performing the work in accordance with the requirements of the Bond Measure. It is
particularly noteworthy that the project has been able to experience savings on some portions of
the work and that these savings have allowed additional upgrades to be programmed.

Matthew W. Wrona
Chair, Earthquake Safety Program
Citizen's Oversight Committee



BART Earthquake Safety Program
Citizen's Oversigh t Committee

Report to the BART Board of Directors

August 28, 2014

Report No. 3
August 2014



Earthouake Safetv Prosram Citizens' Oversight Committee
Renort to BART Board of Directors

August 2014

I. Overview

The Earthquake Safety Program Citizens' Oversight Committee (COC) has been in

existence since January 2006. The current Committee is the fourth Committee

empanelled by the BART Board of Directors to carry out the duties specified in Measwe

AA.

II. Establishment of the Citizens' Oversieht Committee

The BART Earthquake Safety Program Citizens' Oversight Committee was created as

required following the passage of Measure AA on November 2, 2004. The measure,

which authorized the BART District to issue bonds for $980 million dollars to make

earthquake safety improvements to BART facitities in Contra Costa, San Francisco and

Alameda counties, stipulated that BART establish a Citizens' Oversight Committee

(COC) to verifu that bond revenues are spent as promised.

The measure called for a five-member panel to be created from interested individuals

who mwt reside within the three-county BART District. Each member must have

specific expertise and fulfrll one of the follori/ing:

o One member shall have expertise in seismic retrofitting
o One member shall have expertise in auditing
s One member shall have expertise in engineering
o One member shall have expertise in public frnancing or project management

o One member shall represent the community at large

Itl- Duties end Resoonsibilities of the Committee

The Committee Members assume no professional liability as to the quality and soundness

ofthe design and construction ofany element ofthe Program. The members ofthe COC



have three key duties to fulfill, as set forth in BART Board Resolution 4920, passed by
the BART Board in Jr.ine 2004. They are to:

o Review scheduling and budgeting of projects to be funded by the bond
measure.

o Confirm that work is completed and bond funds are expended in accordance
with the bond measure.

D Inform the public concerning the expenditure of bond revenues.

IV. Selection of the COC

On January 24,2013, the BART Board of Directors selected five members and four
alternates to serve as the Citizens' Oversight Committee. The length of service for this
panel will be two years - from January 24,2013 to January 24, 2015. The curent
Commitlee is the fouth Committee to serve.

2013-2015 Membership
o Matt Wrona, Seismic Seat - Committee Chair
D Ralph Mason, Public Financing/Project Management Seat - Vice Chair
B Sayed Sultan, Engineering Seat

D Robert Barksdale, Auditing Seat

tr JuiianoWaldron, Community At Large Seat

Alternates
tr fuchard Pipkin, Engineering Seat

o San Bak Lee, Public FinancelProject Management Seat

tr Ching Wu, Seismic Seat

o Prabhat Goyal, Community At Large Seat

V. Report

Five COC meetings and an Ethics and Public Training meeting have been held under this
Committee and are covered by this report. During the course of these meetings, the

Committee has asked staff for a wide range of information on the seismic upgrade
program, from the Audit practices employed, to the Transbay Tube retrofit constuction
progress, to the Berkeley Hills Tunnel Study, to contingency funding and status of funds
from frrnding sources.

Summary Financial Report

At each meeting, a financial report is presented to the committee detailing how much
money has been spent out of the total $980,000,000 in General Obligation Bond frrnds.
At the February 2014 COC meeting, staff reported that 25 contracts within the
Earthquake Safety Program were complete, with two currently in construction. The
project has expended $529,130 ,402 as of December 2013 which amounts to 54o/o of the
total Bond funds.

3



A summary of the meetings follows:

February 26, 2013 - Orientation Meeting

An odentation meeting was held on February 26, 2013 for new Citizens' Oversight

committee Members and Altemates. The committee was provided with an overview of
the functron of the Citizens' Oversight Committee and a review of its responsibilities and

duties.

The Committee was provided with the following:

o General Obhgation Bond L,anguage
o Resolution 4920
o Committee By Laws
. Brown Act
o Conllict Interest Code
. Earthquake Safety Program Fact Sheet
. Earthquake Safety Program Scope
. Form 700
o Exhibit A: Reportable Interests
o BART Contacts information
o Earthquake Safety Program Bond Financial Report
o Contracting Status Report
o Project Pro$ess Report

Staff invited members of the Committee to introduce themselves and share some of their

work experience.

New members reviewed the history of the Citizens' Oversight Committee and the

Earthquake Safety Program, as well as the language of Measure AA The Committee also

reviewed all sources of firnds for ESP, the Brown Act, the Conflict of Interest Code and

associated exhibits, and the COC Bylaws. The Committee and alternates were informed

that they would undergo Ethics and Public Service Training in a separate meeting.

Staffdetailed the construction of the BART system, and the seismic issues related to it,
including wlnerability and various retrofit concepts. Staffprovided an overview of the

program's progress since the last meeting, noting the completed activities, the current

activities, the upcoming activities, and the schedule. Staffalso reviewed the Financial

Status Report with the Committee.

4



New members were given a chance to speak with outgoing Committee Chairman, Elmo
Wedderbum, for information. Elmo Wedderburn emphasized the Committee's role and
suggested quarterly meetings.

Staff proposed to provide a breakdown of funding and cost savings to present at the next
meeting.

The Committee was pleased with the presentation of materials and the response to
questions. The next meeting was scheduled for Apil23, 2013.

April 23,2013 - Ethics and Public Service Training Meeting

The Committee was provided with the following:

. Laws and Principals AB 1234 Traning
o Project Progress Report
. Bond Financial Report
r Contracting Status Report

The Committee underwent Ethics and Public Service Training.

The Committee was pleased with the presentation of materials and the response to
questions. The next meeting was scheduled for May 7,2013.

May 7, 2013 - Second Meeting

The second COC meeting was held on May 7,2013. The Committee was provided with
the followrrg reports:

o Project Progress Report
o Bond Financial Report/Project Schedule
o Contracting Status Report

Staff discussed the selection of a Chairperson/Vice Chair and reviewed the roles and
responsibilities of each position. The Committee nominated Matt Wrona for Chairperson
and Ralph Mason for Vice Chair and the Committee approved unanimously.

Scott Schroeder, BART's Controller - Treasurer, presented information on BART's
General Obligation Bond fund and how the investments have been managed for the
Earthquake Safety Program.

The Committee led a discussion about the estimated cost of the Berkeley Hills Tunnel vs.
the Fremont Line Project.

5



The committee expressed interest in having BART',s Auditor be the speaker at the next

meeting and requ"rt"d .or" information regarding the Transbay Tube Retrofit'

Staff ilformed the committee that discussion about the Transbay Tube must be done in a

closed session, due to security considerations, and members must sign a confidentiality

agreement.

The committee was pleased with the presentation of materials and the response to

questions. The next meeting was scheduled for August 6, 20i 3 '

August 6, 2013 - Third Meeting

The rhird COC meeting',vas held on August 6, 2013' The Committee was provided with

the following reports:

. Project ProSress Repod

. Bond Financial Report/Project Schedule

. Contracting Status Report

Terry Green, BART Manager of Special Investigations and Audits, gave an overview of

the role, responsibilitres and procedures of the Auditing Department'

The committee requested a sample of an Auditing report to be handed out at the next

meeting.

The committee requested that information about the options for the Berkeley Hills

Tunnel be part ofthe presentation at the next meeting'

The committee was pleased with the presentation of materials and the response to

questions. The next meeting was scheduled for October 3, 2013 but was postponed until

December 3,2013.

I)ecember 3, 2013 - Fourth Meeting

ThefourthCoCmeetrngwasheldonDecember3,2013.TheCommitteewasprovided
with the following repods:

. Project Progress RePort

o Bond Financial Report/Project Schedule

o Contracting Status Report
. Sample Auditing RePort

Staff explained to the committee that BART',s intemal processes related to the Berkeley

Hills Tunnel had not been completed as anticipated and that discussion on that topic

would be rescheduled for a later date.

6



The Committee had a briefdiscussion with staff about about the progress ofthe Transbay
Tube construction and BART's operations under various earthquake scenarios.

The Committee asked for details about the Report to the Board. Staff informed the
Committee that rnformation about the Report to Board would be on the agenda for the
next COC meeting in February 2014. The Committee Chair will present the report to the
BART Board.

The Commrttee was provided copy of the sample audit report.

The Committee was pleased with the presentation of materials and the response to
questions. The next meeting was scheduled for February 4, 2014.

February 4, 2014 - Fifth Meeting

The fifth COC meeting was held on February 4,2014. The Committee was provided with
the following reports:

. Project Progress Report

. Bond Financial ReporilProject Schedule

. Contracting Status Report

Staff stated that BART's internal processes related to the Berkeley Hills Tunnel had not
been completed as anticipated, and that the COC members will be kept up to date with
the progress ofthe BHT Report. If it has been reported to the BART Board before the
next COC meeting it will be put on the subsequent agenda.

The Committee requested that language stating that the audits demonstrate and prove that
BART is in compliance with the General Obligation Bonds be included in the Report to
the BART Board.

The Committee was pleased with the presentation of materials and the response to
questions. The next meeting was scheduled for May 6,2014.

VI. Public Access to the COC

The Earthquake Safety Program has established a number of systems for the public to
contact them with questions. These include:

. A dedicated COC telephone information line

. An email address

. COC section of the BART website

The telephone and email are checked daily by prqect staff. Any inquiries that are

received via phone or email are sent on to the COC Chair and the appropriate COC seat



holder to provide a response. Project staffprovides the Chair with additional information

or assistance as required. Additionally, when the coc website is updated with the agenda

and minutes ofthe meeting, an email rs sent to the Earthquake Safety Program electronic

mailing list, which includes 853 members (April,201a). To date, the COC has received

one inquiry from the public.

VlI. Summary lea4qlltittgq BSDorll

After completron ofthe first year ofthe fourth term ofthe Citizens' Oversight

Committe;, members of the Committee reached agreement that information provided by

BART staff was presented in an infomrative manner, helping members understand work

schedules and firnding processes. During the term, members have reviewed the schedule

and budget for projects funded by the General obligation Bond and confirm that, based

upon thJ information provided by staff, the work is being completed and that funds are

being expended rn accordance with the Bond Measure.

Members are satisfied with presentations made by BART's Controller - Treasurer and

Managet ofSpecial Investigations and Audits departments, in addition to those made by

Earthquake Safety Project staff. The committee has concluded that the project staffis
effectwely structured and organized to addless potential issues and complete the project

8



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

Approve and Forward to the Board

BOARD INITIATED ITEM: NO

Dept: Office of the Chief

Award of Contract No. 6M7220 Emergency Restoration, Preventive Maintenance,
Non-Emergency Repair and Seismic Relocation Work of the Commercial Fiber Optic and

Wireless Networks

NARRATIVE

Purpose

To authorize the General Manager to award Contract No. 6M7220 for the Emergency
Restoration, Preventive Maintenance, Non-Emergency Repair and Seismic Relocation Work of
the Commercial Fiber Optic and Wireless Network to Phase 3 Communications, lnc.

Discussion

Since 1994, the District has executed both separate and combined contracts for emergency
restoration services and maintenance services for the Commercial Telecommunication Revenue
Program (now known as the Commercial Communications Revenue Program). Emergency
restoration services under the contracts have consisted primarily of emergency repair of
commercial fiber optic cables and wireless network infrastructure. Maintenance services under
the contracts have consisted of first bringing the infrastructure supporting the fiber cables to a
sustainable level by repairing major problems, and thereafter continuing maintenance of the
fiber and wireless infrastructure as needed. Staff recommends award of Contract No. 6M7220 in
order to ensure the uninterrupted continuation of such services.

Advance Notices to Bidders were mailed to 38 prospective Bidders. The Contract was
advertised on April 25,2014 in various local publications. Only 1 firm purchased copies of the
Contract documents. A pre-bid meeting was conducted on April 11, 2014 wilh 3 prospective
bidders attending. One bid was received on May 13, 2014,from Phase 3 Communications, lnc.
(Phase 3). A Selection Committee evaluated the technical qualifications of the Bidder and
determined that the Bidder met the minimum technical requirements. Bidder's price bid was
publicly opened on August '12,2014. Tabulation of the price bid and the Engineer's Estimate is
as follows:



BIDDERS LOCAT
toN

BASE BID OPTION
YEAR 1

OPTION
YEAR 2

TOTAL BID
PRICE
(Base Bid +
Option Year l
Bid + Option
year 2 Bid)

Phase 3
Communications,
lnc.

San
Jose,
CA

$854,210.00 $8s4,210.00 $854,210.00 $ 2,562,630.00

Engineer's
Estimate $s78,92'r.06 $578,921.06 $s78,921.06

$ 1 ,736,763.18

A review of Phase 3's license, business experience, and financial capabilities has resulted in a
determination that the Bidder is responsible. Staff has also determined that the bid of
$2,562,630.00 is fair and reasonable. The original Engineer's Estimate was substantially lower
than the Total Bid Price because it did not account for prevailing wage.

Phase 3 will not be subcontracting any work and will do all work with its own forces. Therefore,
the District's Non-Discrimination in Subcontracting Program does not apply. However, Phase 3
is an MBE certified firm.

Fiscal lmpact

Funding for FY2015 in the amount of $854,210.00 is included in the Office of the Chief
lnformation Officer's (OCIO) revised operating budget. The remainder due under Program
Contract No. 6M7220 will be included in the proposed budgets of the OCIO for fiscal years 2016
through 2017.

Alternative

To not award this Contract or to rebid it. This would prevent the District from continuously
maintaining the commercial fiber optic and wireless network as required in its license
agreements with commercial carriers, thereby subjecting the District to liability.

Recommendation

Adoption of the following motion.

Motion

The General Manager is authorized to award Contract No. 6M7220 for the Emergency
Restoration, Preventive Maintenance, Non-Emergency Repair and Seismic Relocation Work of
the Commercial Fiber Optic and Wireless Network for the Base Bid amount of $854,210.00 to
Phase 3 Communications, lnc., pursuant to notification to be issued by the General Manager.
The General Manager is also authorized to exercise Option Year 1 Bid amount of $854,210.00

and Option Year 2 Bid amount of $854,210.00 for a total Bid Price of $2,562,630.00.

contract No. 6l\47220 2



TO:

FROM:

STIBJECT:

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

MEMORANDUM

Board of Directors

General Manager

DATE: August22,20l4

E&O Agenda Item 4.C: Warm Springs Extension Project: Semi-Annual Project
Update - For Information

At the August 28d Board of Director's meeting, staff will provide an update on the progress of
the Warm Springs Extension (WSX) Project, which will include a discussion of the project
schedule, budget, environmental compliance, and the status of construction contracts that are

underway and planned.

If you have any questions about the attached presentation, please contact Paul Medved, Group
Manager, Planning & Development at (510)287-4750.

Attachment

cc: Board Appointed Officers
Deputy General Manager
Executive Staff

42334.t



Item No. 5-A

Authorize the General Manager to Execute Agreement with the Metropolitan

iIARRATME:

I@:
To obtain Board authorization for the General Manager to execute a funding agreement (the

"Agreement") with the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) to commit budgeted

funds allocated for BART's Station Profile Survey (the "Survey") to MTC for the purpose of
conducting the Survey as ajoint project.

DISCUSSION:

Following adoption of MTC's Transit Sustainability Project, MTC initiated a regional program

of transit passenger data collection to satisff Title VI equity reporting requirements and to refine

regional planning and analysis tools. MTC intends to collect representative transit passenger data

approximately every five years and to share survey costs with operators. Much of the data that

MTC requires, such as access/egless modes and passenger demographics, is also required by

BART for planning and reporting purposes.

BART last collected detailed stationJevel survey data more than six years ago as part of its 2008

Station Profile Survey. BART intends to update these data through the proposed joint project.

The results will be used to inform current and future services, initiatives, and investrnents,

including Transit-Oriented Development and Customer Access prognms, as well as facilitate

demographic aaalyses as required by Title VI.

MTC and BART staff members have worked together over the past year to select a survey

consultant. The consultant proposes an approach involving personal interviews using tablet
computers, a methodology recommended by the FTA for its inclusiveness and high response

rates. A pre-test was conducted by MTC in June 2014, and the methodology was determined to
be viable. While the tablet computer methodology is more expensive than Station Profile survey
methods BART has used previously, the cost to BART for the MTC survey will be comparable
to costs for previous BART Station Profile surveys because of MTC's participation in the funding
of the new survey. Moreover, the new methodology appears to produce higher response rates,

better geocoding of addresses, and less respondent confusion about the detailed questions and

""w*i"i,

EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

Transportation Commission for BART Station Prolile Survey

b



Authorize General Manager to Execute Funding Agreement with MTC for BART Station Profile Survey

branching required for this kind of survey. MTC is targeting Fall2014 to begin the survey.

The Office of the General Counsel will approve the Agreement as to form.

FISCAL IMPACT:

The requiied funding is proposed to be provided from FY15 operating funds allocated for this
purpose. Note that these funds were initially allocated in FY14, but were rolled over to FYl5
due to scheduling constaints. The total available balance is $480,000.

For this initial joint survey, MTC has committed to funding 80%o of a survey of approximately
30,000 passengers with a total cost of $993,530. BART' s 20%o share would be $ 198,706.
This survey would assure a minimum station sample size of 545 completed surveys among
people waiting on station platforms. BART staffhas determined, however, that a larger
minimum sample size is required to be able to identiff station-specific changes over time with
greater confidence. The entire cost of the additional surveys would be borne by BART.
Increasing the minimum sample size to approximately 800 surveys per station would require an

estimated additional $229,186 in BART funds, which includes a 5% contingency.

After frrnding BART's 20oh slane and the additional sample, the remaining balance of $52,108
would be designated as contingency funds which could support additional data collection and/or
analysis if needed.

ALTERNATIYES:

To not approve this request to conduct the survey as a joint project with MTC, but rather conduct
it independently at a future date using the methodology BART has used previously. While this
alternative would provide slightly higher sample sizes, it would not take advantage of this
opportunity for regional cooperation and likely improvements in data quality.

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval of the following motion.

MOTION:

That the General Manager or her designee be authorized to execute a Funding Agreement with
MTC for a joint BART Station Profile Surrey, with BART to contribute an amount not to exceed

$427,892.00.



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

Increased spending Authority for contract No . grcw-226 Furnishing Bicycle Lockers
with Electronic Controllers

NARRATIVE

PURPOSE
To obtain Board authorization fgr.ihe 

^Qelgrar_Manager 
to increase the spending authority by anadditionar $800,000 for contracr No. 91cw-226 rrriInrng Bicycre Lockers with ErectronicControllers.

DISCUSSION

In February 201 1 , the Board approved the award of contract No. 91cw-226 to eLockTechnorogies LLC of Berkerey, cR tor the eio price oi sz,os 4,3fr',..4i. T* c""tiJJii, uRequirements conrract with in indefinite totara;;;tiry;;; five-year term that enabres theDisrrict to procure additionar rockers under the bontract as'aooit6";i frili;il";o]ielavaitaore
over the contract term. The erectronic bike rockers are shared use ana opeTate;il;;BikeLink stored value smart cards, the same 

"aros 
*eJio. tne oistrict;s Ielt_s"";" aii;.Stations. The five-year term of the Contract enOi in f,rfli"n ZO f O.

19 d3te, the District has purchased and received g2g bike tockers ar a cost of $2,236,666. TheDistrict now owns and operates 1 ,1s0 erectronic ro.xer, 
"t 

go ,i"1i"r..-iil i"i..'-#iiilp.noingauthority on this contract is $11.3,s91, whicn can onty purcnase approximatery 37 additionarlockers. lt is expected that avairabrc funding and o"i,"no *irr "r;rd th;;;;;i,iJ.pJ"oins
authority over the term of the contract.

Based on customer satisfaction with the bike lockers, increasing demand for secure bike parkingthrolghout the Districr, and avairaue funding, stan recommeni"";l;;;;# 
";"$H6,difri"additional 

.spending authority, which would iirow ror ttre f.urcna"e oi ip-prorir"t.r-r;b2? '
additional lockers.

The contractor, eLock rechnorogies, was the sore bidder for rhis contract despite eltensiveoutreach at the time the contractwas advertised. lts bid price was o"r"rrin" irJi.-"J"estimate, and the lockers thev have delivered fully meei&pectations. The addirional lockerswill 
.be 

dep-loyed. arongside existing rockers. pri"i.,".rg [":rers of the same type and operatingsystem will provide a consistent customer experience.

BOARo INITIATEO |TEM: No



ALTERNATIVES
Do not increase the spending authority under Contract No. 91CW-226 and only purchase 37
lockers with the current spending authority. lnstallation of additional lockers could be delayed.

FISCAL IMPACT
The District currently has more funds available for bicycle lockers ($255,146) than the current
spending authority($113,581). However, full funding has not yet been identified for the
proposed spending authority. Additional funding sources would need to be identified and the
Controller/Treasurer will need to certify the availability of funds for the purchase of additional
lockers beyond current available funds of $255,'146.

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt the following motion.

MOTION
The General Manager is authorized to increase the spending authority of Contract No.
91CW-226 from the original amount of $2,334,384 to $3,134,382, subject to funding avaitabitity.

Bicycle Lockers 2





BART Marketing & Research Department        DRAFT 0


BART Station Profile Survey Update
BART Board of Directors
Aug. 28, 2014


BART Marketing & Research Department







BART Marketing & Research Department 1


Background


 BART occasionally surveys passengers to gather data on trip origins, 
entry station access modes, exit station egress modes, trip destinations, 
trip characteristics, and demographics.


– 13 surveys to date, most recently in 2008.
– Information is used for modeling, access planning, regulatory compliance, etc.


 In 2012 MTC proposed coordinated regional transit passenger data 
collection 


– Goal: create greater uniformity in survey data
– Phased implementation, with BART originally proposed for 2015
– MTC commitment to survey agency customers approximately every five years and 


share survey costs with transit operators


 Subsequent meetings with MTC culminated in proposal today







Sample Map from 2008 Station Profile Study


BART Marketing & Research Department 2







BART Marketing & Research Department


Sample Map from 2008 Station Profile Study


BART Marketing & Research Department 3







Sample Chart from 2008 Station Profile Study


Median Distance from Home to BART 
by Any Mode (miles)


0.46
0.55
0.63
0.67


3.63
4.02


4.76
6.04


7.92


0.73


16th St. Mission
24th St. Mission


Ashby
Downtown Berkeley


Glen Park


-
Dublin/Pleasanton


El Cerrito del Norte
Millbrae


N. Concord/Martinez
Pittsburg/Bay Point


The distance traveled between home and BART is longest at or 
near the end of the line and shortest at closer-in, urban stations.


5 Longest


5 Shortest


BART Marketing & Research Department 4







BART Marketing & Research Department 5


Methodology


 Three methods considered: self-administered paper questionnaire, 
brief paper questionnaire with telephone follow up, interviewer-
administered tablet computer survey


– Prior BART Station Profile surveys used paper questionnaires distributed in 
stations.  Cost effective, but response rate fair (34%); survey accuracy and 
completeness difficult to ensure.


 Selected for 2014 survey: tablet computer
– High response rates (70-80%)
– More accurate geocoding (real-time)
– Administration by interviewer improves question comprehension, response 


accuracy, response completeness
– Methodology recommended by FTA for its inclusiveness and high response rates
– While more expensive than paper questionnaires, cost to BART will be 


comparable due to cost sharing agreement with MTC.







BART Marketing & Research Department 6


Methodology Evaluation


 Pre-test conducted June 2014
 Results:


– 1,099 tablet computer interviews completed; estimated response rate: 76% 
– Onboard and platform intercepts tested; platform method more efficient, higher 


response rates
– Overall survey questions worked well, though interviews were relatively long 


for platform completion (median length: 7 minutes, 44 seconds)
– Independent observation results: refusals were similar demographically to 


participants, but Latinos may be underrepresented.  Consultant will address 
through staffing plan.







BART Marketing & Research Department 7


Sample Sizes


 MTC’s commitment for initial survey: 80% of cost for approximately 
30,000 surveys


– Initial sampling plan: minimum number of surveys per entry station goal = 400 
(median = 445)


 BART staff determined larger minimum sample size required
– BART’s 2008 survey: minimum = 577 (median = 1,119)
– Identify station-specific changes over time with greater confidence
– Initial sampling plan revised to increase minimum to 545 without impacting cost 


(median = 545)


 BART proposes “buying up” to minimum of 800 per station; 
approximately 38,000 total surveys (median = 800)







BART Marketing & Research Department 8


Proposed Funding Agreement


Description Cost MTC Share BART 
Share


Base Approx. 30,000 surveys 
(minimum 545 / station)


$993,530 $794,824 
(80%)


$198,706
(20%)


Additional 
Sample


Increase minimum to 
800 / station*


$229,186 $0
(0%)


$229,186
(100%)


Total Approx. 38,000 surveys $1,222,716 $794,824
(65%)


$427,892
(35%)


*Cost for additional sample includes a 5% contingency.


 BART funds for this project included in budget







BART Marketing & Research Department 9


Next Steps


If motion authorizing funding agreement with MTC is approved:
 MTC to proceed with full survey – expected to begin in October


– Proposed field work schedule:
• Phase 1: fall 2014
• Phase 2: spring 2015 


 MTC expects draft data and draft report from consultant 
within three months of fieldwork completion.








FY15 - FY24 Short Range Transit Plan/ 
Capital Improvement Program (SRTP/CIP) - Draft 
 


August 28, 2014 







What is the SRTP/CIP?  
• Provides overview of BART’s long-term operating and 
capital financial overlook 


• Required by MTC  
• Last published in 2007 


• Internal SRTP/CIP-related work completed in interim, including 
RTP/RTCI and Asset Management Plan 


 
 


2 







• FY15-FY24 SRTP/CIP has 
two components: 


 
• “Building a Better BART” 


executive summary intended 
to communicate with the 
public 
 


• Traditional SRTP/CIP that is 
more detailed and meets 
MTC’s technical 
requirements 


 


3 


New Format for the SRTP/CIP 







BART’s Role in the Region 
• Key driver of Bay 
Area economy 


• Well-functioning 
BART supports 
sustainability of 
region 


• BART is critical to 
accommodating 
regional growth 
over the next 25 
years 


4 







Overall Financial Outlook 


5 







Financial Outlook: Key Findings 
• Operating: ~$500M cumulative ten-year deficit 


• 5% of total projected operating uses 
• Annual shortfalls range from $6 million to $80 million (<7%/year) 


 
• Capital: ~$4.8B cumulative ten-year shortfall 


• 50% of total projected need 


6 







SRTP: Assumptions & Outlook 
• Provides forecasts of 


ridership, service, operating 
sources and operating uses 
• Includes expansion projects 


 
• Includes significant 


contributions from operating 
funds to fund “Big 3” SGR 
projects 
 


• The timing of capital needs 
increases projected annual 
operating shortfalls 


7 







BART’s Comprehensive Asset 
Management Program (AMP) 
• Systematic, risk-focused approach 
• AMP will prioritize operating and capital infrastructure 
needs and guide BART’s long-term financial plan to: 
• Minimize risk  
• Guide where BART spends its money to get best long-term value 
• Maintain financial stability (long-term value for investment)  


 
• AMP will identify capital needs 


• Moving from reactive to proactive approach (anticipate needs) 
• Comprehensive approach 
• Identify criticality to safety and system operations 
• Likely to increase identified need in CIP 


8 







CIP Projects FY15-24 


9 


System Reinvestment 
74.5% 


Service and Capacity 
Enhancement 


17.5% 


System Expansion 
3.3% 


Earthquake Safety 
4.6% Other 


0.1% 







CIP Needs FY15-24 


(m
ill


io
ns


) 


10 


 CIP Categories  
System 


Reinvestment 
 Capacity 


Enhancement 


Sys Expansion 
Earthquake Safety 


Other TOTAL 


BART Stations $1,292  $160  $1  $1,454  


Station Access 251 58 8 317 


Trains and Other Vehicles 2,040 965 <$1 3,005 


Tracks and Related 
Infrastructure 1,205 149 440 1,795 


Maintenance Shops & Yards 379 189 <$1 568 


Train Control, Power 
Systems, & Communications 1,861 156 <$1 2,018 


Security 124 0 0 124 


Administration 8 0 1 9 


BART System Expansion 0 0 318 318 


Grand Total $7,160  $1,678  $769  $9,608  







CIP – Funding Outlook FY15-24 
Total 


Total Need $9.6 


Previously Identified Funding $0.3 


Committed Funding $4.5 


Total Funding $4.8 


Shortfall ($4.8) (In
 b


ill
io


ns
, r


ou
nd


ed
 fr


om
 s


ou
rc


e 
ca


lc
ul


at
io


ns
) 


11 







CIP – “Big 3” Capital Projects  
• Board identified “Big 3” high 
priority projects: 
• Fleet of the Future rail cars 


(1,000 cars) 
• Hayward Maintenance Complex 
• Train Control Modernization 


 
• Earmarked CPI-based fare 
increase revenue to support 
funding 
 


12 







CIP – BART Metro  
• Together with “Big 3,” 
BART Metro projects 
comprise Core Capacity 
improvement program 
 


• BART Metro projects 
designed to increase 
capacity and efficiency of 
core system 
 


• $280M projected costs 
over next ten years 


13 







CIP – Station Modernization 
• Improvements to 
increase capacity and 
improve station 
experience for patrons 
and employees 


• Program successfully 
underway with key early 
wins and plans for 
systemic investments 


• $240M funding identified 
over next ten years 
• Includes parking fees 


14 







CIP – Access & Accessibility 
• >50% of BART riders 
access stations by 
modes other than car 


• Specific focus on:  
• Bike access 
• Transit and shuttle 


integration 
• ADA/accessibility  
• Parking management 


• $40M funding identified 
over ten years 
• Includes ~$5M/year of 


parking revenues 


15 







CIP – System Expansion 
• BART-to-OAK 


• Automated guideway transit 
system 


• 3.4 mile connection to Oakland 
International Airport 


• Open later this year 
• Warm Springs extension 


• 5.4 mile BART extension to 
Warm Springs 


• Open 2015 
• eBART 


• Diesel multiple unit technology 
• Ten mile extension to Antioch 
• Open 2017 


 
 


16 







Future Efforts 
• Continuous update of 


operating and capital long-
term outlook 


 
• Develop strategies for 


dealing with operating and 
capital shortfalls 
• Align timing of available funds 


with funding needs 
• Identify and secure additional 


funding resources 
 


• Final document scheduled 
for consideration by the 
Board in October 
 


17 





		FY15 - FY24 Short Range Transit Plan/�Capital Improvement Program (SRTP/CIP) - Draft�

		What is the SRTP/CIP? 

		New Format for the SRTP/CIP

		BART’s Role in the Region

		Overall Financial Outlook

		Financial Outlook: Key Findings

		SRTP: Assumptions & Outlook

		BART’s Comprehensive Asset Management Program (AMP)

		CIP Projects FY15-24

		CIP Needs FY15-24

		CIP – Funding Outlook FY15-24

		CIP – “Big 3” Capital Projects 

		CIP – BART Metro 

		CIP – Station Modernization

		CIP – Access & Accessibility

		CIP – System Expansion

		Future Efforts






 


BUILDING A BETTER BART
Investing in the Future of the 
Bay Area’s Rapid Transit System


July 2014 DRAFT











iii


Building a Better BART


TABLE OF CONTENTS


Introduction


BART’s Role in the Region


Investing in BART’s Future


Overview of the BART System


BART’s Recent Accomplishments


Building a Better BART: Major Investment Initiatives


Conclusion: Allocating Limited Resources







daily riders


19851978 2001 2013


211,600
daily riders


146,800 
daily riders


331,600
daily riders


392,300
daily riders


Embarcadero 
station opens


1976


West Dublin/ 
Pleasanton   


station opens


2011


2007


Four SFO Extension 
stations begin 


service: South San 
Francisco, San Bruno, 


SFIA, and Millbrae


2003


Castro Valley and 
Dublin/Pleasanton 


stations open


1997


Colma and 
Pittsburg/Bay 
Point stations 


open


1996


North Concord/ 
Martinez station 


opens


1995


Transbay 
Service begins


1974


20 new 
stations


1973


BART begins serving 
12 stations between 


MacArthur and 
Fremont


1972


Voters approve 
$792 million
bond to fund 


construction of
71-mile 


BART System


1962


California State 
Legislature 
creates the 


BART District


1957


Record ridership 
of 568,061 


exits in a day


2012
Annual ridership 


hits a record 
101.7 million


The Story of BART







1


BART’S ROLE  
IN THE REGION
The Birth of BART: A Defining 
Moment in Bay Area History 
The idea of a Bay Area rapid transit system surfaced 
at a turning point in the Bay Area’s history. In the late 
1940s, the region was experiencing unprecedented 
growth and increasing congestion on the region’s 
highways threatened to undermine the Bay Area’s 


1 Bay Area Rapid Transit. History of BART: The Concept is Born. Web. 
http://www.bart.gov/about/history.


INTRODUCTION
In 1962, the residents of the Bay Area made a visionary 
investment in the region’s future by voting to fund 
the initial construction of the Bay Area Rapid Transit 
system (BART). Thanks to their foresight, today’s Bay 
Area residents enjoy one of the strongest economies 
and highest qualities of life in the world, supported by 
the efficient mobility provided by BART.


After decades of service to the region, the BART 
system now finds itself facing two critical challenges. 
First, hundreds of millions of dollars in reinvestment 
are needed to maintain and upgrade 40-year old 
systems and infrastructure. While BART has always 
been an exceptional steward of public resources, 
much of its core infrastructure is now approaching 
the end of its useful life and major capital investment 
is required for the system is to continue its record of 
safe, high-quality, and reliable service.


Secondly, new system capacity is needed to support 
a growing region. Ridership is already outgrowing 


BART’s capacity as demographic changes have made 
transit increasingly popular. The region is planning for 
much of its future growth to be located around BART 
stations, which will add even more passengers. Finally, 
system extensions are under construction to southern 
Fremont, Silicon Valley/San Jose, Oakland International 
Airport, and eastern Contra Costa County that may 
add still more riders to BART’s already heavily-used 
core system.  Ironically, BART’s extraordinary success is 
driving some of its most urgent challenges.


This document provides information to help riders 
and the public better understand the BART system, 
its history, its current challenges, and what the future 
holds. It includes an overview of BART’s role in the 
region; BART’s financial outlook, capital assets, and 
recent accomplishments; and the system’s major needs 
for reinvestment, modernization, and expansion to 
meet growing ridership demands. The document aims 
to begin a conversation on a question that is central to 
the region’s future:  How can we meet today’s chal-
lenges in a way that helps to Build a Better BART for 
the future?  


economic vitality.1 Just a decade after opening in 
1936, the Bay Bridge was already reaching its capacity 
and the need for another transbay link was becoming 
apparent. 


Policymakers realized that to manage this dramatic 
growth and allow Bay Area cities to thrive, they 
needed a strong and coherent vision for the region. 
The early planners, saw the creation of BART as a 
mechanism that could lend structure to the region’s 
growth. BART would encourage cohesive develop-
ment by linking the major commercial centers 
throughout the nine counties that touch the San 
Francisco Bay.







2


BART began operating in 1972 with 28 route miles 
of track serving 12 stations. It carried 100,000 people 
during its first week of revenue service. Today, BART 
comprises 104 route miles of track serving 44 stations 
in 21 cities and 4 counties. A full overview of the 
system is provided on pages 8-9.


As the fifth-busiest heavy rail rapid transit system in 
the United States, BART enables over 400,000 daily 
riders to access many of the region’s prime destina-
tions for work, school and recreation. BART meets the 
diverse needs of people from different parts of the 
region, enabling them to interact and share space.  In 
so doing, BART plays a critical role in reinforcing the 
Bay Area’s identity as one region. From the opening 
of service to the present day, BART has enhanced 
quality of life in the Bay Area by providing a rapid 
and reliable alternative to the car and fostering a 
lifestyle that enables all people to conveniently live, 
work, and play in different cities. 


Supporting the Region’s  
Economic Vitality
Since its creation in the 1970s, BART has served as a 
guiding force in the Bay Area’s growth and develop-
ment. Research indicates that BART helped preserve 
the preeminence of downtown San Francisco as a 
regional economic center during the 1980s when 
downtowns of major cities in similar metropolises 
experienced significant losses in employment.2   


Beyond San Francisco, the BART system has sup-
ported the rise of major employment centers in cities 
throughout the region—including Oakland, Berkeley, 


2 Cervero, Robert, and John Landis. “Twenty Years of the Bay Area Rapid 
Transit System: Land Use and Development Impacts.” Transportation Re-
search Part A: Policy and Practice. 31.4 (1997): 309-333. Web. 6 Mar. 2014. 
<http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0965856496000274>.


Recent events have demonstrated the magni-
tude of BART’s impact on the Bay Area. BART 
provided critical support during the Bay Bridge 
closures over Labor Day weekend in 2013. 
During Thursday and Friday of that weekend, 
BART experienced its third- and fourth-highest 
ridership days ever, at 475,000 and 457,000 
riders respectively. 


But, BART is a critical back-up when the bridge 
is not an option; it supports hundreds of 
thousands of commuters daily. The 2012 fire 
near the West Oakland station, which resulted 
in a shut-down of BART’s transbay service for 
morning commuters, dramatically illustrated 
the challenges of a Bay Area without BART. The 
emergency shutdown resulted in hours of delay 
across the Bay Bridge. Despite the deployment 
of alternatives such as telecommuting, carpool-
ing, and increased ferry and bus service, it was 
readily apparent that BART is a foundation of 
the Bay Area’s transportation system and plays 
an essential role in supporting the region’s 
economy. 


Both these incidents underscore the fact that 
the Bay Area’s quality of life and economic 
strength has come to be inextricably linked 
to the fast, reliable, and resilient regional rail 
service provided by BART. 


Events Dramatically Illustrate 
BART’s Role







3


Building a Better BART


Walnut Creek, Fremont, Dublin, Pleasanton, and 
Pleasant Hill—by providing a reliable connection to 
thousands of commuters who work in these cities 
each day. The system has also encouraged mixed-use 
developments and multi-family housing around its 
stations, allowing more Bay Area families access to 
jobs and schools without the expense of a car. 


In 2012, UC Berkeley and the Bay Area Council 
conducted a “BART State of Good Repair Study,” 
which provides insight into how BART service impacts 
the Bay Area’s economy.  The study estimated a 
net loss in value for the region if BART is unable to 
maintain its reliable service between $22 and $33 
billion dollars over the next 30 years.3 The study 
found the following benefits of BART: travel and 
vehicle ownership cost savings for riders; reduced 
traffic congestion; business operating cost savings 
corresponding with reduced costs for workers and 
increased reliability stemming from reduced conges-
tion; and increased business productivity due to 
expansion in access to labor markets.


Sustainability
BART plays a central role in meeting the region’s 
sustainability goals. In California, about 40% of 
greenhouse gas emissions come from transportation, 
and of those, about 70% are from personal driving.4 
A 2010 study seeking to quantify the greenhouse 
gas emissions related to the BART system found that 
BART reduced over 1 million metric tons of carbon 
dioxide per year, and the system eliminated 12.7 
times the emissions it produced through its own 
service.5 These emissions reduction benefits result 
from a mode shift from personal vehicles; a reduc-
tion in roadway congestion; and transit’s ability to 
promote dense, mixed land-use patterns that reduce 
vehicle trips and trip distances. Data gathered by the 
Bay Area Council in 2013 indicated that when BART is 
not running, congestion produces 16 million pounds 
of additional carbon each day.6 These contributions 
make BART indispensable to the important task of 
creating a more sustainable Bay Area.


21,000 PEOPLE/HOUR


9,000 VEHICLES/HOUR


Moved under the Bay by
BART at rush hour


Moved across Bay Bridge
at rush hour


25,000 PEOPLE/HOUR
BART capacity compared to 
one highway lane


2,400 VEHICLES/HOUR
Highway capacity per lane


3 “A State of Good Repair for BART: Regional Impacts Study What Could 
Happen if BART Fails To Maintain A State of Good Repair” Elizabeth Dea-
kin, University of California, Berkeley, Arlee Reno, Cambridge Systematics, 
Inc., James Rubin, University of California, Berkeley, Sean Randolph, Bay 
Area Council Economic Institute, Michael Cunningham, Bay Area Council, 
May 2012.


4 “California Greenhouse Gas Inventory for 2000-2012.” California Air 
Resources Board, http://www.arb.ca.gov/cc/inventory/data/data.htm.


5. Bay Area Rapid Transit. Quantifying BART’s Greenhouse Gas Emissions 
with the American Public Transportation Association’s Recommended 
Practice. 2010.


6. Bay Area Council. BART Strike Having Costly Environmental Impact on 
Bay Area. 2013.


2011 Bay Bridge Toll Evaluation Final Report 
Sustainable Communities Operations Analysis Study +  
Highway Capacity Manual 2010


Moving People Across the Bay


Highway vs. BART







4


Building a Better BART


Accommodating Growth
Similar to the era of BART’s founding, the Bay Area is 
once again at a turning point. The State of California 
has acknowledged climate change as a major public 
policy issue, and has mandated that regions develop 
sustainable visions for future growth that reduce the 
40% of the state’s greenhouse gas emissions that 
are associated with transportation.7 In response, the 
region has developed its first integrated transporta-
tion and land use plan, Plan Bay Area. 


Plan Bay Area combines the Metropolitan Transporta-
tion Commission’s (MTC) 2040 Regional Transporta-
tion Plan with the Association of Bay Area Govern-
ments’ (ABAG) Sustainable Communities Strategy.  
This plan sets a vision for regional growth in which 
public transportation forms the backbone of the next 
chapter in the Bay Area’s development.8 By 2040, Plan 
Bay Area anticipates 2 million additional Bay Area 
residents. It seeks to accommodate this growth by 
concentrating future population and employment 
within priority development areas around major 
transit hubs – many of which are centered on BART 
stations. Plan Bay Area also projects 250,000 new jobs 
(a 40% increase) located in areas adjacent to BART 
stations. With the system already supporting nearly 
half of the Bay Area’s transit passenger miles, BART’s 
role to the region is projected to become more 
important than ever before.  


26%
24%


Percentage of 
workers in downtown 
OAKLAND  who use 
BART to commutePercentage of 


workers in downtown 
SAN FRANCISCO  


who use BART 
to commute


MTC Plan Bay Area  BART 2010 Customer Satisfaction Study


BART Moves the Bay Area


7. California Assembly Bill 32 (AB 32) passed in 2006 required the Califor-
nia Air Resources Board to devise a plan that would reduce California’s 
greenhouse gas emissions to a certain level by 2020. Senate Bill 375 (SB 
375) passed in 2008 mandated reductions in greenhouse gas emissions and 
vehicle miles traveled through strengthening linkages between transpor-
tation investment decisions and land use patterns.


8 BART Transit-Oriented Development Policy, http://www.bart.gov/sites/
default/files/docs/BART_TOD_Policy.pdf. 


Transit-Oriented Development (TOD) is higher-
density, walkable, mixed-use development 
located at a transit stop or station. It is designed 
to allow people to drive less and walk, bike, and 
take transit more by providing well-connected 
and human-scale street networks focused 
around frequent transit service. Successful 
TOD also improves the efficiency and cost-
effectiveness of transit service. 


BART’s adopted TOD Policy (2005) acknowl-
edges that 


“by promoting high quality, more 
intensive development on and near 
BART-owned properties, the District 
can increase ridership, support long-
term system capacity and generate 
new revenues for transit… [create] 
attractive investment opportunities 
for the private sector and [facilitate] 
local economic development goals.”  


BART’s TOD program supports the growth 
projected in Plan Bay Area by promoting mixed 
use development at BART stations. BART staff 
works actively in partnership with cities, com-
munity stakeholders, and the private sector 
to advance and facilitate projects. Completed 
TOD projects include Castro Valley, Richmond, 
Fruitvale, Powell Street, Pleasant Hill/Contra 
Costa Centre, Ashby, and Hercules. New projects 
are being considered or developed at Pleasant 
Hill/Contra Costa Center, Richmond, Walnut 
Creek, West Dublin/Pleasanton, MacArthur, San 
Leandro, South Hayward, Glen Park, Coliseum, 
and Millbrae. 


BART’s Transit-Oriented 
Development Program


Source: BART Transit-Oriented Development Policy, http://www.
bart.gov/sites/default/files/docs/BART_TOD_Policy.pdf. 







5


Building a Better BART


The Challenge of Supporting the 
Bay Area’s Future
Based upon Plan Bay Area growth projections, BART 
estimates daily ridership of nearly 500,000 by 2025 
and 600,000 daily riders by 2040.9 These forecasts 
assume the BART system continues to operate reliably 
day-to-day and is able to expand its capacity to serve 
this increase in ridership.10 However, to accommodate 
this growth and guarantee the system’s ongoing reli-
ability will require significant reinvestment in aging 
infrastructure and expansion of the system.


BART faces nearly $20 billion in operating and capital 
needs over the next 10 years. Although staff has 
identified substantial funding to meet this need, 
both the operating and capital programs face sig-
nificant funding challenges in coming years. If BART 
is unable to  reinvest sufficiently to keep its infra-
structure in good working order, system failures will 
become more frequent, reliability and service quality 
for current passengers will decrease, and the system 


will be unable to serve additional riders; as well as 
become a less appealing alternative for potential 
new passengers. 


Diminished levels of BART service would have severe 
implications for the Bay Area’s transportation 
network. Passengers who shift from BART to private 
automobiles due to poor service would exacerbate 
congestion on highways that are already at capacity, 
thus degrading service for existing highway users. A 
reduction in BART riders and increase in automobile 
users would further increase vehicle miles traveled, 
leading to greater greenhouse gas emissions, air 
pollution, and respective losses in the Bay Area’s 
economic and environmental health. Diminished 
levels of BART service would also result in a decrease 
in the number of people the transportation system 
can move during peak periods at a time when travel 
demand in the region is growing.  


The commitment of funding agencies and public 
and private partners will be critical to BART’s next 10 
years and beyond. 


9.   Bay Area Rapid Transit. SRTP ridership forecasts: does not include the 
two station SVBX project, State-of-Good-Repair


10. Deakin, Elizabeth, et al. “A State-of-good-repair for BART: Regional 
Impacts Study.” (2012)







6


Building a Better BART


INVESTING IN 
BART’S FUTURE
This section provides a snapshot of BART’s 10-year 
financial outlook, including both capital and operat-
ing needs and identified funding sources.


BART’s operating financial outlook shows a shortfall 
of $6 million in FY16 increasing up to $80 million 
in FY24. However, because BART’s future operating 
projection takes funding availability into consider-
ation in the design of the service plan, the cumulative 
$500 million operating shortfall represents only 5% 
of the total projected operating needs forecast over 
the 10-year timeframe of this plan (and no more than 
a 7% shortfall in any given year). 


The main drivers of operating cost are the salary 
and benefit expenses of BART’s employees. Current 
increases in the cost of the medical coverage and 
pension benefits are having a big impact on BART’s 
future financial plan. BART’s capital needs also 
impact how much funding is available for operations. 
BART has traditionally allocated operating funds 
to capital in order to support investment in critical 
system infrastructure, which is necessary to sustain 
the reliability and safety of the system. 


BART’s Capital Improvement Program (CIP), un-
like the operating projection, is not financially 
constrained. The CIP is a projection of all the capital 
needs that BART faces, regardless of funding avail-
ability, and it shows a much more significant short-
fall. Capital expenses include projects such as a new 
fleet of rail cars, upgraded maintenance facilities, 
modernization of stations, and system extensions. 
(major capital projects are described starting on 
page 11).


For the 10-year timeframe of this plan (FY15-FY24), 
fully funding the CIP would require approximately 
$9.6 billion. BART has previously identified ap-
proximately $320 million in capital funding and staff 
has identified an additional $4.5 billion in future 
funding that has been committed or can reasonably 
be assumed to become available to BART. This leaves 
a shortfall of approximately $4.8 billion over the 
next 10 years, approximately 50% of the total capital 
need. Other speculative sources have been identified 
but are highly uncertain.


BART has also identified some capital needs and 
funding sources beyond the 10-year horizon of this 
plan. However, any detailed cost estimates are likely 
to be inaccurate due to the uncertainty of projecting 
need and funding availability that far into the future.


 


 $5  


 $10  


 $15  


 $20  


FY15 FY16 FY17  FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 


 


  


Bi
llio


ns Available 
Funding


Need


$0 


Shortfall


BART’s Cumulative Funding Shortfall







7


Building a Better BART


Funding Challenges
Key funding issues BART faces are: 


 ÆCompetition for funding. BART is not the only 
agency facing funding challenges, which means 
that finding additional external funding sources 
for operating and capital programs remains limited 
and highly competitive.


 ÆOperating an aging system while accommodating 
uncertain ridership increases. One of the key chal-
lenges that BART faces in the near term related 
to the service plan is the inability to increase peak 
service levels until the first of the new rail cars 
enter revenue service in FY18. In addition, Transbay 
Tube capacity cannot be increased significantly un-
til completion of the Train Control Modernization 
Project (described on page 15). Should ridership 
grow substantially more than forecast before the 
arrival of enough new train cars, BART will have to 
keep older cars operating in revenue service longer 
than planned. Crowding could increase delays and 
make service less reliable. Investment in tools like 
the Strategic Maintenance Plan (SMP), which im-
proves car reliability and availability for a relatively 
low cost, will become increasingly important in the 
coming years.


 Æ Impacts of safety rule changes. BART is in the pro-
cess of implementing a new and enhanced safety 
program that includes more restrictive operating 
rules to improve protection for employees in the 
BART right-of-way. The new program will reduce 
train speeds in work areas and thus impact on-time 
performance and reliability. As much as possible, 
BART will move scheduled maintenance work to 
non-revenue service hours, but even so, this will 
require a significant increase in the number of 
maintenance workers and other operating costs. 
Starting in FY15, BART added $5 million to its bud-
get to address these rules, including 40 additional 
positions with ongoing annual costs; however, 
additional new investments, both operating and 
capital, are needed to fully address all safety initia-
tives and programs.


 ÆUnexpected economic fluctuations. Operating 
forecasts are based on a number of assumptions. 
In particular, the ridership and operating financial 
forecast assume steady annual growth, whereas 
past experience suggests that over the next 10- 
years, the Bay Area is likely to experience both 
periods of higher-than-normal growth and reces-
sion or economic downturn. The actual financial 
outcomes are typically quite different from the 
projection, but these are fluctuations that cannot 
be accurately foreseen by BART at present. 


 ÆMisalignment between need and funding avail-
ability. Particularly important for BART’s capital 
program, the timeline on which funding is ex-
pected to become available does not align with 
the projected timeline when the capital investment 
needs will arise, creating a more dramatic shortfall 
in the near term than the longer term. 


BART is committed to the task of seeking additional 
funding though obtaining grants, working with 
regional partners, and pursuing additional funding 
sources to address its identified funding shortfalls. 
However, additional tools will be necessary to ensure 
the system’s ongoing financial health. 


Increasingly, BART faces a fundamental tension 
that pits reinvestment in the system against 
system expansion. It is often easier to generate 
support and attract funding for new projects 
than for maintenance projects because rid-
ers and other stakeholders tend to take for 
granted current infrastructure and service 
levels. However, system expansions actually 
increase maintenance and operating needs, 
which exacerbates existing deficiencies. Without 
proper upkeep of the system’s infrastructure, 
the quality and reliability of the BART system 
suffers and expansion becomes increasingly 
untenable, creating a vicious circle. 


System Reinvestment  
versus Expansion







8


Building a Better BART


The BART System


OVERVIEW OF  
THE BART SYSTEM 
BART operates trains daily on five lines connecting 
Alameda, Contra Costa, San Francisco, and San Mateo 
counties. The BART system and the mobility it offers 
to hundreds of thousands of Bay Area residents each 
day is the result of the integration between the 
system’s physical infrastructure, its maintenance, the 
links to surrounding communities through a variety 
of access modes, and the coordinated efforts of all 
BART personnel.


More than Trains and Stations:  
What Keeps BART Running?
The People of BART
Staff and Board: A total of 3,420 employees work to 
ensure reliable and efficient BART service each day. 
BART is governed by a Board made up of nine publicly 
elected directors that provide strategic and policy 
guidance to provide safe, reliable, customer-friendly, 
and clean regional public transit to Bay Area residents 
and visitors. 


Customers: More than 400,000 riders use BART  
every weekday. 







9


Building a Better BART


Train Control, Power Sys-
tems, and Communications: 
The Operations Control 
Center (OCC) in Oakland 
houses BART’s central train 
control computer system that 
supervises train movements 
24 hours a day. The OCC also 
houses systems that control 


ventilation, coordinate emergency response, and 
monitor system power. BART’s “third rail” provides 
1,000-volt DC electricity to propel trains at up to 
80 mph. The OCC is critical to ensure the system’s 
reliability and safety every day.


Infrastructure and Service


Other Services
ADA Paratransit: Paratransit service is available to people who cannot use the accessible fixed-route services 
due to a disabling health condition. BART works together with other Bay Area transit agencies to coordinate 
regional paratransit travel in order to provide effective, accessible service to and from its stations.


BART Stations: BART has 44 
stations: 16 at ground level, 
12 elevated, and 16 subway 
stations. Every station has 
buildings, fare gates, fare 
collection equipment, eleva-
tors and escalators, plazas, 
waiting areas, and many 
other features that serve the 
public.


Station Access: There are a 
wide variety of facilities and 
services that allow access to 
BART stations, including bike 
facilities, bus and shuttle 
loading areas, passenger 
drop-off/pickup zones, taxi 
zones, and parking facilities. 
BART manages 47,000 park-


ing spaces across 33 stations. Almost all BART stations 
have bike racks, over half of BART stations have bike 
lockers, and four, soon to be five, stations have bike 
stations. BART also has many features throughout 
the system to accommodate people with disabilities, 
such as tactile pathways, Braille signage, and audible 
announcements. 


Trains and Other Vehicles: 
BART has a fleet of 669 
rail cars, which are joined 
into three- to ten-car trains 
to provide daily service. 
BART staff also use over 30 
other types of vehicles to 
maintain and service the 
BART system. 


Tracks and Related  
Infrastructure: BART oper-
ates revenue service across 
104 route miles: 37 miles 
in subways and tunnels, 23 
miles on elevated structures, 
and 44 at ground level. 
The entire BART system, 
which includes non-revenue 


facilities such as maintenance facilities and tail 
tracks, contains over 500 linear miles of track. BART’s 
3.6-mile Transbay Tube, which connects the East Bay 
with San Francisco, serves half of BART’s ridership 
each day.


Maintenance Shops and 
Yards:  BART has five 
maintenance facilities, 
tools, and other equipment 
that support the upkeep 
and repair of the system. 
Facilities at Hayward, 
Concord, Richmond, and 
Daly City stations are used 


for vehicle maintenance. Major repairs are handled 
at the Hayward facility. Oakland Shops is used for 
non-revenue vehicles.


Security:  The 296 women 
and men of the BART Police 
Department provide 24/7 
police response to emergen-
cies on the BART system. As 
the only dedicated transit 
police department in Califor-
nia, the BART Police force is 
unique in its exclusive focus 


on the safety and security of BART’s passengers and 
employees. They use a community-oriented policing 
and problem-solving philosophy to build relationships 
with stakeholders and address the root cause of 
crimes or disorder on the system.


Administration: There are 
a variety of administrative 
activities and facilities be-
hind the scenes that support 
BART, such as information 
technology equipment, cus-
tomer service, and planning 
studies. In addition, BART 
has a robust emergency 


preparedness program, coordinated with adjacent 
jurisdictions, and a dedicated Safety Department.







10


Building a Better BART


Train Upgrades: To improve 
durability and customer 
convenience, new vinyl seats 
that are easier to clean and 
longer lasting than the exist-
ing fabric seats have been 
installed on approximately 
300 train cars, with an ad-
ditional 230 cars scheduled 


to get upgraded seats in FY15 to finish the program. 
Also, new composite flooring that is more durable 
and easy to clean than existing carpets has been 
installed in a total of 200 cars, with an additional 115 
cars scheduled to get new floors in FY15 to complete 
the program. 


BART’S RECENT ACCOMPLISHMENTS


New, Brighter, Clearer Sta-
tion Signage: Most of BART’s 
stations are over 40 years 
old. Through the ongoing 
Station Modernization 
Program, BART has installed 
new signage at Ashby, Daly 
City, Pleasant Hill/Contra 
Coasta Centre, Powell, and 


Union City to make stations easier to navigate and 
more aesthetically appealing. 


Full Clipper Integration: In 
December 2010, BART fully 
transitioned to Clipper card 
fare technology. Clipper 
is a safe and convenient 
transit fare card that works 
on many other Bay Area 
transit systems, including 
AC Transit, SFMTA (Muni), 


Golden Gate Transit, and Caltrain. It can also be used 
to pay for parking at BART stations.


Improved Bike  
Accommodation: Over 
the past two years, BART 
has implemented a more 
inclusive bike policy to 
allow bikes on all trains at 
all times, with very limited 
exceptions. Additionally, 
BART has opened three new 


bike stations to provide safe, secure, convenient bike 
storage at Downtown Berkeley, Embarcadero, and 
Ashby stations, along with 336 new bike lockers at 
19 stations. A new bike station near the 19th Street 
Oakland station is scheduled to open by the end of 
Fall 2014.


Preparing for the Next  
Big One: BART’s Earthquake 
Safety Program has been 
steadily investing in crucial 
seismic upgrades to core 
infrastructure to preserve 
the strength of system 
structures in the event of an 
earthquake. The program 
will be completed in 2023.


System Expansion: West Dub-
lin/Pleasanton, BART’s 44th 
station (an “infill” station), 
opened in 2011 between the 
Dublin/Pleasanton and Castro 
Valley stations. BART has also 
made progress on the BART-
to-Oakland International 


Airport, eBART to Antioch, and Warm Springs exten-
sions during the past 5 years. 


Poster Art Program: 
BART’s Poster Art Program 
continued to bring a dose 
of whimsy and wonder into 
BART stations. In 2010, a 
series called “First Ride” 
by Josh Ellingson showed 
fantastic, surreal transit 
trips that inspire a sense 


of wonder in kids of all ages. In 2012, Owen Smith 
contributed “Literary Journeys,” depicting riders im-
mersed in books by Dashiell Hammett, Jack London, 
and Amy Tan, with scenes from the books coming to 
life in the BART car around them.


In its over 40 years of service, BART has pursued the objective to deliver a high quality of service. It has 
achieved major accomplishments in evolving its stations as places and multimodal hubs, promoting seamless 
links with other modes of access, maintaining its infrastructure and fleet, and extending its service throughout 
the region. In the past five years, BART has made significant strides in a number of areas to improve customer 
convenience and to ensure that BART will continue to operate efficiently for its next 40 years and beyond.







11


Building a Better BART


BUILDING A BETTER 
BART: MAJOR 
INVESTMENT 
INITIATIVES
BART’s major investment initiatives are described 
on the following pages. These investments will first 
and foremost reinvest in the system to rebuild and 
upgrade aging infrastructure in support of continued 
reliability, high service quality, and safety of custom-
ers and employees. BART is also planning other major 
investments that will add core capacity, improve the 
sustainability of the system, modernize the existing 
system, and expand the system to serve new markets 
to support BART’s evolution into a modern 21st-
century system. 


In particular, BART has identified three large, inter-
related projects that have been determined to be 
the highest priority needs and essential to meeting 
BART’s safety, reliability, capacity, and sustainability 
goals. These are known as the “Big 3,” and form the 
basis of BART’s Core Capacity Program. They are: 


 ÆFleet of the Future Railcars: A modern, expanded 
fleet of railcars to meet growing ridership de-
mands, improve passenger comfort, and keep 
service reliable 


 ÆHayward Maintenance Complex (HMC): A new 
maintenance facility to maximize car availability 
by providing additional capacity to maintain and 
store the expanded fleet


 ÆTrain Control Modernization Project (TCMP): An 
improved train control system to increase train fre-
quency and put the expanded fleet in service both 
safely and reliably


While BART has worked closely with MTC to develop 
funding plans for these three important projects, 
some of the identified funding sources remain highly 
uncertain. A recent regional agreement authorizes 
BART to seek FTA New Starts Core Capacity funding 
for these projects as part of BART’s Core Capacity 
Program.


Beyond these key capital investment initiatives, BART 
must fund the ongoing operation of the system. The 
future operating plan reflects continued growth 
in BART ridership, though at a slower pace than in 
FY12 and FY13 when growth exceeded 6% a year. In 
addition, it includes the four new extension projects 
that are scheduled to open in the next 10-years: 


 ÆBART-to-Oakland International Airport: Opening 
FY15 (fall 2014)


 ÆBART to Warm Springs (WSX): Opening FY16


 ÆEast Contra Costa County (eBART): Opening FY18


 ÆSilicon Valley Berryessa Extension (SVBX): Opening 
FY18 [not currently included in the SRTP financial 
projections because project capital and operating 
costs are funded by Santa Clara VTA]







12


Building a Better BART


The Fleet of the Future is a $3.3 billion project 


to expand BART’s current fleet from 669 cars 


to 1,000 cars. This will improve the reliability of 


BART’s fleet, decrease maintenance costs, re-


lieve crowding, and help meet growing demand 


associated with regional population growth and 


system expansions. 


1 Sustainable Communities Operations Analysis, BART. 2013


Fleet of the Future


The combination of a 1,000 car fleet and a new 


train control system will allow BART to run 


up to 30 trains per hour per direction through 


the Transbay Tube, transporting 30,000 peak 


direction passengers each hour (a 43% increase 


over today’s 21,000) and improving service 


frequencies for BART riders.1 


Over 17,000  customers provided input on the new cars during the design phase. 







13


Building a Better BART


Average Age of BART Fleet Compared to Peer Rail Agencies


26


BART CTA MBTA NYCT WMATA SEPTA
Chicago Boston New York Washington Philadelphia


17202121


30


Average Age of Fleet in Years


Why Invest in New Cars?
BART is currently running the oldest rail fleet in the 
United States. BART began service over 40 years ago 
and the original cars still comprise the majority of 
BART’s fleet today. In the 1990s, BART implemented 
a midlife overhaul program, a cost-effective way 
to extend the life of the cars, reflecting BART’s 
commitment to be an exceptionally good steward 
of public funds. Now, with an average fleet age of 
30 years, the rail car fleet needs to be replaced. This 
aging fleet is more susceptible to breakdowns, which 
disrupt service. The technology in these older cars is 
outdated and  the vehicles are no longer produced, 


which adds to the repair challenges and makes them 
more costly to repair and maintain. 


BART needs more capacity to keep up with projected 
demand: BART is already crowded and daily ridership 
is projected to increase by 25% to nearly 500,000 by 
2025 and by 50% to 600,000 by 2040. The current 
fleet is not capable of handling this many passengers. 
The new rail cars, each of which will be able to carry 
more passengers, will enable BART to meet this 
growing demand. 


BART’s New Train Cars
The new cars will be:


 ÆQuieter: “Micro-plug” doors will reduce noise


 ÆCooler: Cooling systems will distribute air directly to 
the ceilings, making it more comfortable for stand-
ees on hot days


 ÆEnergy Efficient: The lightweight cars will be more 
sustainable with extremely efficient LED lighting, 
daylight sensors, white roofs to deflect heat and 
light, and advanced propulsion and braking systems


 ÆCleaner and more comfortable: Padded seats will be 
covered with easy-to-clean fabric


 ÆEasy to use: Digital screens and destination signs 
will reflect color coded BART lines as used in the 
BART system map, and next stop information will be 
readily available via automated announcements and 
the digital screens


 ÆEasy to board: The new train cars will have 50% 
more doors than the current cars, making it faster 
and easier for customers to get on and off


Funding and Phasing  
The total cost for 1,000 rail cars is estimated at $3.3 
billion. BART and MTC have developed a funding 
plan that identifies potential future funding for 850 
of these cars, with 18% from BART funds and the 
remainder from MTC and other federal and local 
funding sources. Not all of these funding sources are 
secured and some are highly uncertain. Furthermore, 
the final 150 cars are unfunded as of now.


To date, BART has ordered the first 775 cars. The new 
train cars will be phased into the existing fleet begin-
ning in 2017. Delivery of the 775th car is scheduled 
for fall 2021. A new contract could be required to 
order the additional cars.


BART will continue to aggressively pursue funding for 
the full 1,000 car fleet. Although acquisition of cars 
beyond 775 may require a new, separate procure-
ment, which could incur significant additional cost 
per car, this SRTP/CIP makes the same cost assump-
tions as the current 775 car purchase for planning 
purposes because no estimates of the potential cost 
increase are available at this time.







14


Building a Better BART


BART has prioritized three interrelated capital 


investment initiatives to ensure the system can 


safely, efficiently, and comfortably serve cur-


rent and new riders. They are known as the “ Big 


3.” The modern railcar fleet has been described 


previously. Described here are the remaining 


two: an improved train control system to enable 


trains to operate more frequently and a new 


maintenance facility to maintain and store the 


expanded fleet.


The “Big 3” together can address some key 


current bottlenecks that hinder BART’s ability to 


meet current and future ridership growth:


 Æ The Transbay Tube and Train Control System: 


A single two-track tunnel provides the 


Maintenance and Train Control


only rail connection between the financial 


and cultural center of San Francisco and 


the 2.7-million person East Bay. Due to the 


system’s aging train control system, the 


Transbay Tube is only able to safely accom-


modate about one train car per 2.5 minutes, 


equating to 23 trains per hour with capacity 


for 21,000 passengers. Peak demand on the 


system is already approaching  this capacity. 


 Æ Maintenance Facilities: BART has limited 


space to maintain and repair railcars and 


other equipment, reducing  its ability to 


quickly put trains back into service, and 


limiting the system’s ability to operate at 


maximum capacity during peak periods. 







15


Building a Better BART


TRAIN CONTROL 
MODERNIZATION  
A modern, improved train control system will allow 
BART to safely operate more frequent service. A train 
control system consists of both hardware and soft-
ware that are used to ensure safe operation of the 
system. It monitors train location, ensures sufficient 
distance between trains, manages train movements, 
and helps staff to analyze and report on any issues. 
The Train Control Modernization Project (TCMP) 
entails removing aging train control equipment from 
the BART system and upgrading to a new system. 
BART staff is recommending a Communication-Based 
Train Control (CBTC) system that will improve the 
reliability of the system, decrease the runtime of 
trains between stations, and allow trains to run closer 
together. 


Why Invest in Train Control 
Modernization?
Modernizing BART’s train control system will allow 
trains to operate at more closely spaced intervals and 
at faster speeds, thereby increasing the BART system’s 
capacity to carry passengers. A modernized train 
control system will enable BART to meet projected 
transbay demand of over 30,000 passengers per hour 
in the peak, compared to today’s approximately 
21,000 riders.


Funding and Phasing 
The TCMP is estimated to cost $700 to $900 million. 
More detailed and accurate cost estimates will be 
available once final design is complete. 


As part of the MTC Core Capacity Challenge Grant 
program, a multifaceted funding plan has been 
adopted that meets a significant portion, if not all, 
of this need. Funding sources could include FTA New 
Starts Core Capacity grants. As development of the 
replacement train control system progresses, signifi-
cant effort will be required to ensure that the varied 
sources identified within the MTC program yield the 
targeted funding amounts and, if necessary, identify 
any additional resources to fully fund the project. 
Thirty-nine million dollars have already been secured 
and future anticipated revenues have been identified 
to cover much of the remainder. 


Once a contract is awarded for the project, it will 
take approximately seven to eight years to fully 
implement and complete. Implementation will start 
in the core so that increased transbay service capacity 
can be achieved early in the project.


BART is also investing in an initiative called “BART 
Metro” that is dependent on and complements 
implementation of the “Big 3” projects. It includes 
both near- and mid-term improvements such as 
service changes and changes to tracks and stations 
that will increase BART’s flexibility, efficiency and 
cost-effectiveness, and allow for increased train 
frequency in high demand areas. 


HAYWARD MAINTENANCE 
COMPLEX 
BART already has one maintenance shop and yard 
facilities in Hayward, which it plans to expand to ac-
commodate the growing fleet and the system expan-
sions currently underway, including the Santa Clara 
Valley Transportation Authority’s (VTA) BART Silicon 
Valley project. The HMC project has two components: 


 ÆReconfiguration of the existing Hayward Yard


 ÆAcquisition of three adjacent properties on the 
west side of the existing Hayward Yard for a larger 
primary repair shop, a new component repair 
shop, a vehicle overhaul shop, a new central parts 
warehouse, and a new maintenance and engineer-
ing repair shop


Why Invest in The Hayward 
Maintenance Complex?
BART needs increased maintenance capacity as part 
of its Fleet of the Future program. The HMC will 
ensure that BART’s maintenance and repair capacity 
is sufficient to support the new railcar fleet for both 
the current system and system expansions. 


Funding and Phasing 
The HMC will cost approximately $432 million, and a 
funding plan has been developed by BART and MTC 
to cover the full project cost. Creation of the HMC is 
jointly supported by BART and VTA. Environmental 
clearance for the HMC project has been approved, 
cost-sharing agreements with VTA have been ex-
ecuted, and design work is currently in progress.







16


Building a Better BART


BART Metro is a package of improvements 


designed to allow BART to evolve to better 


serve commuters during peak times and relieve 


overcrowding, while also enabling robust, cost-


effective off-peak service in high demand areas. 


BART Metro is a concept that was first proposed 


in the San Francisco Bay Area Regional Rail Plan 


in 2007 (MTC). It has since been refined through 


BART’s Sustainable Communities Operational 


Analysis in 2013-14. Together with the “Big 


3”, described previously, the improvements 


described here comprise BART’s Core Capacity 


Improvement program.


BART Metro: Core Capacity  
and Efficiency


BART System Demands


Powell/
Civic Center


All Other 
Stations


Montgomery


Embarcadero


22%


17%


Downtown 
Oakland 
(19th & 12th)


Source: Morning Peak Station Exits  
6 A.M. - 10 A.M. May 2014


10%


29%
22%







17


Building a Better BART


Why Invest in Core Capacity 
 and Efficiency?
BART Metro goes beyond the “Big 3” to address 
some additional key elements of the BART system 
which limit the system’s ability to expand ridership 
and undermine system efficiency, including: 


 ÆDowntown  San Francisco Stations: Peak-period 
station use is concentrated at a few stations, in 
particular Embarcadero and Montgomery: 22% of 
BART users use Embarcadero, and 22% use Mont-
gomery. These stations cannot accommodate sig-
nificantly more riders during peak commute hours 
without incurring unacceptably long wait times for 
riders exiting trains and leaving the platform. 


 ÆTwo-Track System: BART is largely a two-track sys-
tem, with one track in each direction. This does not 
allow for redundancy, so if anything goes wrong, 
such as a train breakdown or an obstruction on 
a track, a large portion of the system is forced to 
shut down, impacting riders far from the incident. 


 ÆLack of Train Turnarounds: Ridership is not evenly 
distributed across the system. There is higher and 
more consistent, all-day demand on the core of the 
system. However, there are few places where trains 
can turn around to allow for higher frequency in 
the core. This means that empty BART trains often 
have to run long distances before they can turn 
around and serve higher-demand core areas, which 
is highly inefficient. 


BART Metro Projects
BART Metro projects include: 


 ÆTurnbacks that allow for trains to be distributed 
more efficiently to high-demand parts of the sys-
tem, especially at peak hours


 Æ Increased train storage capacity at key locations in 
the system to ensure that BART trains are readily 
available to provide service where and when there 
is the most demand


 Æ Improved protection of BART tracks to avoid ob-
structions from foreign objects, which will decrease 
the incidence of service disruptions and allow 
trains to operate at higher speeds


 ÆModifications at Embarcadero and Montgomery 
stations, such as additional escalators, elevators, 
waiting space, and fare payment entry points that 
will allow more people to comfortably access these 
stations at peak periods 


Funding & Phasing
The first phase of BART Metro is a $58 million pro-
gram of improvements. Several funding sources have 
been identified for the highest priority components 
of the BART Metro project including funds from 
MTC, the California Transportation Commission, and 
the Alameda County transportation sales tax. No 
environmental review or engineering work has been 
initiated to date.  Implementation of BART Metro will 
be coordinated with implementation of the “Big 3” 
as the BART Core Capacity Improvement Program. 


Concord


Bayfair


Millbrae


Richmond


Daly City Glen Park


Pleasant Hill


South Hayward


Pittsburg/
Bay Point


24th Street & Mission


Dublin/
Pleasanton


SFO International Airport


Montgomery


FremontExisting Turnbacks
Planned Turnbacks


New Train “Turnbacks” for 
Improved Efficiency and Flexibility







18


Building a Better BART


The Station Modernization Program will invest 


resources into existing stations and surrounding 


areas to increase capacity in order to serve 


more riders throughout the day and enhance 


the quality of life around the stations. In combi-


nation with BART’s collaborative station area 


planning work and Transit Oriented Develop-


ment program, these station improvements will 


help make Plan Bay Area a reality. 


Station Modernization will improve the look, feel, 


efficiency, and usability of BART stations for rid-


ers, as well as enhance the safety and comfort 


of the work environment for BART employees. It 


will address all aspects of the stations, including 


buildings, escalators and elevators, circulation 


and signage, plazas and waiting areas, climate 


control and ventilation, lighting and ambient 


environment, and other station equipment 


upgrades.


Station Modernization: 
Creating Great Places


Angelo DeSantis







19


Building a Better BART


Why Modernize the Stations?
Stations do more than provide the passenger 
interface between BART trains and the surrounding 
communities. If done well, stations create significant 
economic benefits for communities around the 
stations, becoming a focal point for thriving busi-
nesses and new homes. BART stations can also be 
memorable places, creating a sense of identity and 
pride for surrounding neighborhoods. As the region 
becomes more reliant on transit, it is critical to 
transform stations so they more seamlessly connect 
to communities, create great places, and make the 
transit network function well. Each station needs to 
add positively to the vibrancy of neighborhoods.


Stations are a rider’s introduction and entry point to 
the BART system. However, like much of the rest of 
the system, many of BART’s stations are 40 years old 
and are in need of significant improvement. Through 
intensive use over the years, they have become dirty 
and cluttered: items have accumulated in and around 
the stations, such as newspaper boxes, pay phones, 
and retail kiosks, many of which may not be neces-
sary to BART riders or employees. 


Ensuring that stations provide a high quality arrival 
and waiting experience, function properly, are easy 
to navigate, and are pleasant and safe places to be is 
critical to customer and employee satisfaction and to 
support increasing ridership on the system. There are 
also opportunities in stations to modernize lighting 
and become more energy efficient. 


Stations are also the workplace for hundreds of BART 
employees who are the primary face of BART for 
passengers. Currently, many employee facilities are 
inadequate. Upgrading employee workspaces and 
equipment will ensure they can efficiently, safely, and 
comfortably do their jobs and continue to provide 
high quality customer service to BART’s riders.


Cleaner, Brighter, Easier to Use 
BART Stations 
The Station Modernization Program seeks to invest in 
the core BART network, through three coordinated 
improvement efforts:


 ÆEarly Wins improvements are low-cost, easy-to-
implement changes at BART stations with an 
emphasis on improving the customer experience 
and employee work environment (deep-cleaning, 
de-cluttering, and improving or creating new Sta-
tion agent break rooms). 


 ÆSystemic Investments address critical deficien-
cies at multiple stations to advance the Building 
a Better BART strategy, e.g. improving signage, 
replacing escalators, upgrading emergency/security 
lighting, replacing fire alarms, reducing intrusion 
by pigeons, or improving BART’s street-level entry-
ways/canopies. 


 ÆGateway Stations are intended to be “show-
case” stations that will receive a comprehensive 
transformation. This effort will thoroughly assess 
station needs and prioritize a set of improvements 
designed to make substantive upgrades that can 
be used to leverage funding. The first round of 
Gateway Stations is expected to include four to six 
stations; as funding becomes available, BART envi-
sions that all stations will eventually be upgraded.  
The first three stations selected as pilots are El 
Cerrito del Norte, Powell Street, and 19th Street.  
Lessons learned at these pilot stations will inform 
future station renovations.


Creating great places at BART stations through 
beautification, improved access, enhanced capacity, 
and increased safety should all positively impact 
riders and surrounding communities. Each station 
modernization effort will include a unique set of 
improvements that respond to the specific local 
context and conditions at that station.


Funding and Phasing
Funding for station improvements is expected to be 
approximately $240 million, with $150 million from 
California State Proposition 1B, $10 million from 
BART capital allocations (from parking revenues), 
and $80 million from dedicated local funding. For 
planning purposes, it is expected that roughly 10% of 
funds will go to Early Wins, 45% to Systemic Invest-
ments, and 45% to Gateway Stations. The Station 
Modernization Program is intended to leverage BART 
funds to access other public or private funds.


Angelo DeSantis







20


Building a Better BART


BART riders access stations in many ways, 


including local transit, shuttles, taxis, bicycles, 


and private automobiles. Plan Bay Area projects 


tens of thousands of new BART riders in coming 


years, many walking, biking, or taking transit 


from new developments in neighborhoods 


immediately surrounding BART stations. To 


ensure convenient, seamless access for current 


and future riders, BART is engaged in several 


initiatives to improve the bicycle and pedestrian 


infrastructure at stations and coordinate with 


other transportation providers to improve 


shuttle and transit connections. 


Improving Access & Accessibility 


How Riders Access BART 
from Home


49%


4%


15%


31%


Car


Walk


Transit
Bicycle


Paul Sullivan







21


Building a Better BART


Why Invest in Multimodal Access?
Over time, BART has evolved from a largely park-and-
ride commuter system to a system that is accessed 
using many different modes of transportation.
Currently, over 50% of riders access BART from home 
by walking, transit or biking. Improving the ease and 
convenience of accessing BART by walking, transit, 
and biking will positively benefit surrounding com-
munities and maximize riders’ flexibility in choosing 
how to access BART.


As ridership grows, investing in high quality multi-
modal access to BART stations is more critical than 
ever. Changing demographics and more compact 
development patterns are changing the way people 
get around throughout the Bay Area. Further, BART’s 
capacity to provide automobile parking for passen-
gers is increasingly limited due to land constraints, 
competing transit-oriented development prospects, 
and sustainability goals. 


Investments in Access
Station Access
BART staff recently completed a Pilot Access Study at 
stations on the inner C-line from Orinda to Concord. 
The project evaluated a wide variety of strategies 
for using expected parking fee revenue to improve 
non-automobile access to the stations. The project 
identified a set of cost effective investments for 
Contra Costa County stations in the short-, medium-, 
and long-term. It also identified a group of policy 
questions that must be addressed before BART can 
begin to deploy a similar approach system-wide.  


BART’s Bicycle Program
BART’s bicycle program is guided by the 2012 BART 
Bicycle Plan, which aims to double the percentage of 
riders that access BART by bicycle by 2022. The BART 
Bicycle Program seeks to:


 Æ Improve bicyclist circulation in and around stations


 ÆEnsure sufficient secure parking for bikes


 ÆEnhance the environment for bicycling beyond the 
boundary of BART stations through working with 
community and city partners


 ÆMake room for bicycles on BART trains


 ÆRaise awareness about the benefits of bicycling as 
a means to access stations


Paul Sullivan







22


Building a Better BART


Transit and Shuttles
BART coordinates with and contributes millions 
of dollars annually to other transit operators who 
provide feeder services to ensure that passengers 
can easily access BART via transit. BART provides and 
maintains bus loading areas at stations for its public 
transit partners that are equipped with shelters, some 
of which have real-time departure information.


The use of shuttles to access BART has risen dramati-
cally in recent years. Currently, over 100 shuttles 
make stops at BART stations; however, shuttle move-
ments are not coordinated by BART. This disrupts 
traffic circulation in and around stations and results 
in passengers getting picked up and dropped off at 
locations that are not always safe. BART is working 
on several initiatives to improve shuttle access and 
coordination, including: 


 ÆEstablishing cooperative relationships with shuttle 
operators


 ÆCreating a dedicated area for shuttle stops 


 ÆReconfiguring bus/shuttle dropoff areas to increase 
capacity


 ÆConsidering a permit system for shuttles to facili-
tate better communication and reduce disruptions 
and conflicts


Intermodal Areas   
BART has curbside areas at most of its stations that 
provide access for pedestrians, transit, shuttles, taxis, 
passenger dropoffs and pickups, and ADA-accessible 
loading. BART is investing in projects to upgrade 
and renovate these intermodal areas at Downtown 
Berkeley, Richmond, and Lafayette stations.







23


Building a Better BART


Americans with Disabilities Act: Making 
BART Accessible for All
In compliance with the federal Americans with 
Disabilities Act (ADA), the BART system has several 
features that make it easy for seniors and people 
with disabilities to use the system. These include 
elevators to all levels of a station, designated priority 
seating near train doors, level boarding from the 
platform to all trains, Braille labels of important 
features in the system, audio capabilities throughout 
the system for the hearing impaired, and textured 
tiles along the length of train platforms to warn 
passengers that they are close to the platform edge.


BART also provides ADA paratransit service to eligible 
individuals whose disability prevents them from 
accessing, boarding, or riding BART trains. Service 
is provided in lift vans by East Bay Paratransit and 
through partnerships with other local agencies. In 
general, eligible passengers must make advance 
reservations to use the service.


Recent and ongoing initiatives to improve BART’s 
accessibility include:


 Æ Installing detectable pathways throughout the 
BART system for passengers with sight impairments 
(usually pathways with raised yellow tiles)  ÆCreating safer stairways through the addition of 


yellow slip-resistant traction strips on the edge of 
each stair


 Æ Implementing better signage on station platforms


 ÆPiloting a new video relay system that will pro-
vide on-call American Sign Language interpreters 
through video feed and hearing loops to enhance 
the audio information for passengers with hearing 
impairments


Funding and Phasing
BART estimates that all desired upgrades and 
improvements to access infrastructure through 2040 
could cost over $800 million. Approximately $40 
million in possible funding has been identified, but a 
large shortfall still remains. 


BART receives about $5 million per year through the 
Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Section 5307 
funds that are designated for ADA improvements. 
BART usually uses this source to fund any improve-
ments that are required by FTA’s Triennial Audit, 
other upgrades necessary to maintain compliance 
with the ADA, or other high priority ADA projects.


Eric Fischer







24


Building a Better BART


BART is expanding!  Extensions 
to Oakland International 
Airport, southern Alameda 
County, and eastern Contra 
Costa County are underway 
and expected to open in the 
next three years, and several 
other expansions are under 
consideration.


In coming years, BART will 
serve a much larger area 
and meet the needs of an 
expanding market. Some 
extensions will use new 
technologies, which will 
seamlessly connect with 
the existing system, and will 
continue to provide the level 
of reliability and quality that 
BART passengers expect. 
Most BART extension projects 
are funded collaboratively 
by BART and the new 
communities they will serve.


BART System Expansion


Colma


Ashby


Powell


Orinda


Concord


Hayward


Bayfair


Millbrae


Richmond


Coliseum


Berkeley


San Bruno


Daly City
Glen Park


Lafayette


Fruitvale


Macarthur
Rockridge


Union City


Balboa Park


Embarcadero


San Leandro


12th Street


Walnut Creek


Pleasant Hill


South Hayward


Castro Valley


El Cerrito Plaza


South San Francisco


Pittsburg/
Bay Point


El Cerrito Del Norte


24th Street & Mission
16th Street & Mission


Dublin/
Pleasanton


North Concord/Martinez


SFO International Airport


Montgomery
19th Street


Civic Center
Lake MerrittWest Oakland


North Berkeley


West Dublin/
Pleasanton


Fremont


eBART


BART to
Oakland 


International
Airport (OAK)


BART Silicon Valley


Warm Springs


Planned Extensions


BART’s System Expansion







25


Building a Better BART


Why Expand the System?
BART’s extensive and reliable service connects 
communities throughout the Bay Area, improving 
accessibility for commuters and bringing visitors to 
many of our region’s top destinations. There are two 
regional rail gaps that have long been considered 
priorities for the Bay Area:


 ÆConvenient rail service to the Bay Area’s inter-
national airports. BART to SFO was completed in 
2003 and a direct connection to the Oakland Inter-
national Airport has long been desired. 


 ÆDirect connection to San Jose. San Jose is the larg-
est city in the Bay Area and third largest in Cali-
fornia. A direct rail connection from downtown 
Oakland, downtown San Francisco, and other East 
Bay centers to downtown San Jose is a key missing 
link in BART’s system. 


Other system expansions are often driven by 
community desires to provide more travel options 
for residents, employees, and tourists. BART is 
currently working with local communities and 
regional partners to understand transit needs in 
several communities and develop solutions that fit 
the region’s growing desires for sustainable transit 
access and mobility. Consistent with Board policy to 
examine corridor-appropriate technologies, two of 
the projects are using non-BART technology.


In fall 2014, BART will welcome the next addition to 
the system: a new service that links the Oakland In-
ternational Airport with Coliseum station. Passengers 
will be transported on a mostly elevated, driverless 
people-mover from Coliseum station to the Airport 
along the Hegenberger Road business corridor. 


The people-mover ride time will be approximately 
8.5 minutes. The total trip will take 12 to 15 minutes, 
including the walk from the Coliseum station 
platform, the wait time, and the ride to the airport 
terminal doors. The total BART-to-OAK trip time will 
be approximately half as long as the current AirBART 
bus total trip time. 


The BART-to-OAK project meets several needs. It 
provides a high-quality, reliable connection for air 
travelers that will not be impacted by the traffic 
congestion and Coliseum events that impact existing 
modes (AirBART, AC Transit buses, taxis and airport 
shuttles). It will also provide service for more airport 
passengers and future public and private develop-
ment that is expected in the area. 


Funding and Phasing
The BART-to-OAK Project  will cost approximately 
$484 million and is already fully funded. 


BART-TO-OAKLAND 
INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT (OAK)


Behind the scenes of BART-to-Oakland Interna-
tional Airport project construction (wheelhouse 
motor drives)







26


Building a Better BART


BART is building a 5.4-mile extension from the 
existing Fremont station to a new station in the 
Warm Springs District of South Fremont. This project 
is underway and projected to open in December 
2015. The Warm Springs/South Fremont station and 
the surrounding site are being designed to promote 
multimodal access and to accommodate potential 
future transit-oriented development. This project 
extends BART to the border of Santa Clara County, 
setting the stage for a longer extension to San Jose 
and Santa Clara, described below.


Funding and Phasing
The Warm Springs extension will cost $767 million 
and is fully funded. 


The eBART (East Contra Costa BART Extension) 
project is a 10-mile, one station extension of BART 
that will create a link from Pittsburg/Bay Point to 
Antioch in eastern Contra Costa County. The project 
will utilize a cost-effective technology called DMU 
(diesel multiple unit) trains that use clean-diesel 
technology and can carry 300 to 400 people in each 
two-vehicle train. Passengers will use a new platform 
at the Pittsburg/Bay Point station for a direct cross-
platform transfer to the eBART train. 


The eBART project will carry as many people as an 
additional lane of Highway 4, reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions by 260,000 pounds per day, and improve 
freeway operations by offering people an efficient 
alternative for travel to eastern Contra Costa County. 


Funding and Phasing
The eBART project will cost approximately $503 
million. The project is fully funded through a partner-
ship between Contra Costa County, BART, regional 
bridge tolls, the State of California, and East Contra 
Costa County communities. eBART is scheduled to 
begin service in December 2017.


eBARTBART TO WARM SPRINGS 







27


Building a Better BART


Through a partnership between BART and the Santa 
Clara Valley Transportation Authority (VTA) the BART 
system is expanding to serve Silicon Valley. Building 
on the Warm Springs extension, this two-phase 
project, called BART Silicon Valley, will deliver service 
from Fremont to Santa Clara, west of San Jose. It is 
managed and funded collaboratively by BART and 
VTA. The complete 16-mile extension will provide a 
fast, reliable and convenient transportation alterna-
tive to driving in two of the most congested highway 
corridors in the Bay Area, I-880 and U.S. 101.


The first phase, Silicon Valley Berryessa Extension 
(SVBX), is a 10-mile, two-station extension to Milpitas 
and the Berryessa area of north San Jose. This phase 
is under construction and anticipated to open in 
FY18. 


The future phase envisions bringing BART through 
downtown San Jose and west to the Santa Clara 
Caltrain station. This six-mile, four-station extension 
will include a five-mile subway tunnel through down-
town San Jose. Construction on the future phase will 
begin as additional funding is secured.


Funding and Phasing
The total capital cost of the first phase, SVBX, is 
estimated at approximately $2.3 billion. The future 
phase is largely unfunded, but is a priority of by Plan 
Bay Area. VTA is working on securing funding for 
the future phase. SVBX was funded through multiple 
revenue streams, including: 


 ÆSanta Clara County Measure A, the half-cent sales 
tax passed in 2000 and other local sources (51%)


 ÆState of California Traffic Congestion Relief  
Program (10%)


 ÆFederal grants including the New Starts  
program (39%) 


BART SILICON VALLEY EXTENSION IDEAS UNDER STUDY
There are several additional long-term extension con-
cepts that are being studied. These include extending 
the Dublin/Pleasanton line to Livermore, a “wBART” 
extension from Richmond to Hercules, and an exten-
sion of eBART from Antioch to near Brentwood.


CONNECTING TO LIVERMORE
In addition to this regional-scale analysis, BART has 
initiated a project-level environmental review for the 
Livermore corridor. The District is analyzing transit 
alternatives in the I-580 corridor beyond the existing 
Dublin/Pleasanton BART station.







28


Building a Better BART


CONCLUSION: 
ALLOCATING  
LIMITED 
RESOURCES 
BART faces serious funding challenges and will have 
to make hard choices in coming years. The agency will 
have to weigh the benefits of investments in state of 
good repair, capacity, and expansion to ensure the 
system’s integrity and ability to adapt, modernize and 
grow to support the changing and growing Bay Area 
in coming years. 


BART staff has undertaken a series of simultaneous 
system assessments and planning efforts to ensure 
that the system’s needs are known, including examin-
ing the needs of individual stations, rolling stock, 
and system infrastructure; and assessing needs for 
enhanced capacity and system modernization. Staff is 
actively working on a number of initiatives to ensure 
that limited revenues are allocated to the highest 
value projects.


BART Vision Study
Over the past 40 years, BART focused on building 
out the vision of its original 1958 plan. That work is 
largely done, at least for the counties in the BART 
district. To guide the next 40 years of investment, 
BART needs a new vision, one that is tailored to the 
region’s current economic ambitions, demographic 
changes, sustainability goals, and fiscal realities. 
BART’s new vision must focus BART’s limited resources 
to help the region best achieve its goals. 


The BART Vision Study grew from the BART Metro 
work. It looks farther into the future, examining 
how new lines and stations can help BART address 
its critical capacity and state-of-good-repair needs, 
better connect to other transit services, and provide 
the best service for the greatest number of people 
within its financial constraints. The study will look at 
infill station opportunities as well as potential new 
lines, particularly in the transbay corridor and most 
transit-oriented growth areas. The Vision Study is 
intended to recommend three to five priority projects 
for more detailed analysis.


Finding the Right Balance


State of Good 
Repair


Capacity


Extensions







29


Building a Better BART


Comprehensive Asset 
Management Program
To ensure that system reinvestment, risk, and finan-
cial stability are adequately considered, BART staff 
has developed a comprehensive Asset Management 
Program (AMP) and a Budget Project Governance 
Group to guide BART’s long-term financial plan and 
ensure it adequately addresses system reinvestment, 
minimizes risk, and maintains financial stability.  The 
AMP includes a broad risk framework that assesses 
the likelihood of near-term failure for each asset and 
the consequent impact on the BART system, rather 
than merely looking at the assets age or condition 
as had been done in the past. For BART’s annual 
capital budgets and long-term financial plans going 
forward, the AMP will allow staff and the Board to 
take a systematic, risk-focused approach to funding 
allocations, screening all projects and operating 
needs, and prioritizing investment of scarce resources 
accordingly. 


Other Decision-Making Factors
The General Manager, staff, and the BART Board also 
take a series of other critical factors into consider-
ation when making funding decisions, for example: 


 ÆGoals. A future update to BART’s Strategic Plan 
will likely include a comprehensive review of the 
agency’s goals, which will help guide how BART 
invests in its future.


 ÆEquity. BART takes very seriously its commitment 
to ensure equitable and just investments that sup-
port customers throughout its system. Through the 
federal Title VI program and BART’s own environ-
mental justice policies, equity is thoroughly consid-
ered in BART’s planning and funding allocations.


 ÆOther Project-Specific Factors. BART also consid-
ers issues such as whether a project is already 
underway and needs ongoing funding to continue 
implementation or whether projects are depen-
dent on one another and need to be implemented 
in concert. 


THE CHALLENGE 
To maintain the Bay Area’s economic competitiveness 
and long-standing desirability as a place to live and 
work, it is vital to invest in the future of BART. Just 
as the founding of the system was a major regional 
initiative that has transformed the Bay Area, address-
ing the challenge of BART’s operating sustainability 
and funding shortfall in the face of significant 
growth must also be a regional priority. 


Together we can, and must, Build a Better BART to 
support a vibrant future for our region.








 


BART FY15-FY24
Short Range Transit Plan and  
Capital Improvement Program 


July 2014 DRAFT











i 


 


 


BART FY15-FY24 SHORT RANGE 
TRANSIT PLAN AND CAPITAL 
IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM 
Federal transportation statutes require that the Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission (MTC), in partnership with state and local agencies, develop and 
periodically update a long-range Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) and a 
Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) that implements the RTP by 
programming federal funds to transportation projects contained in the RTP. To 
effectively execute these planning and programming responsibilities, MTC requires 
that each transit operator in its region that receives federal funding through the 
TIP prepare, adopt, and submit to MTC a Short Range Transit Plan (SRTP) that 
includes a Capital Improvement Program (CIP). 


 


 


 


 
 
  







 


ii 


 


 
Table of Contents 


 Page 


BART FY15-FY24 SRTP/CIP Acronym List .............................................................................. iv 


1  Introduction ............................................................................................................................. 1-1 


2  Overview of the BART System ........................................................................................ 2-1 
Milestones in BART’s History ............................................................................................ 2-1 
Governance and Organizational Structure ................................................................. 2-2 
Services Provided and Areas Served ........................................................................... 2-5 
Fares ....................................................................................................................................... 2-8 
Customer Information ....................................................................................................... 2-9 
Physical Infrastructure and Capital Assets ...............................................................2-13 


3  BART Goal Areas, Objectives, and Performance Evaluation ................................. 3-1 
Development of Goal Areas .............................................................................................. 3-1 
Objectives and Performance Indicators ....................................................................... 3-1 
Historical BART System Performance ......................................................................... 3-4 
Compliance .......................................................................................................................... 3-27 


4  Operating Service Plan and Financial Plan .................................................................. 4-1 
Long-Term Operating Financial Outlook ...................................................................... 4-1 
Operating Service Plan ..................................................................................................... 4-3 
Operating Financial Plan ................................................................................................... 4-9 


5  Capital Improvement Program ........................................................................................ 5-1 
Long-Term Capital Financial Outlook ............................................................................ 5-1 
Capital Needs ....................................................................................................................... 5-5 
Capital Funding .................................................................................................................. 5-27 


 


Appendix A:  Adopted BART Policies 


 


Table of Figures 


 Page 


Figure 2-1  Milestones in BART History ........................................................................... 2-1 


Figure 2-2  BART Board of Directors .............................................................................. 2-2 


Figure 2-3  BART Staff Statistics ..................................................................................... 2-3 


Figure 2-4  Union Membership ......................................................................................... 2-3 


Figure 2-5  BART Organizational Chart (FY15 Budget) ............................................. 2-4 


Figure 2-6  BART Routes and Hours of Service ........................................................... 2-5 


Figure 2-7  BART Headways ............................................................................................. 2-5 


Figure 2-8  BART System Map.......................................................................................... 2-6 


Figure 2-9  BART Fare Components and Ticket Prices  .......................................... 2-10 


Figure 2-10  BART Station-to-Station Fare Table ......................................................2-12 


Figure 2-11  BART’s Access Hierarchy ............................................................................ 2-15 


Figure 2-12  BART Bike Parking Supply ......................................................................... 2-18 


Figure 2-13  Automobile Parking at BART Stations ................................................... 2-19 







 


iii 


 


Figure 2-14  BART Rail Vehicle Inventory ..................................................................... 2-20 


Figure 3-1  BART FY15 SRTP/CIP Goal Areas, Objectives,  
and Performance Indicators ....................................................................... 3-3 


Figure 3-2  BART Weekday Ridership FY04-FY13 .................................................... 3-6 


Figure 3-3  BART Annual Ridership FY04-FY13 ......................................................... 3-6 


Figure 3-4  BART Revenue Service Hours FY04-FY13 ............................................. 3-7 


Figure 3-5  BART Revenue Service Miles FY04-FY13 ............................................... 3-8 


Figure 3-6  BART Operating Financial History ($ millions) ...................................... 3-9 


Figure 3-7  Customer On-time Performance ..............................................................3-12 


Figure 3-8  Train On-time Performance .......................................................................3-12 


Figure 3-9  Peak Car Availability ..................................................................................... 3-13 


Figure 3-10  Mean Time between Service Delays (hours) ....................................... 3-14 


Figure 3-11  Incidents ............................................................................................................ 3-15 


Figure 3-12  OSHA Recordable Injuries per OSHA ..................................................... 3-16 


Figure 3-13  Cost per Revenue Vehicle Hour (in FY08$) ......................................... 3-19 


Figure 3-14  Cost per Passenger (in FY08$) ................................................................ 3-19 


Figure 3-15  Cost per Passenger Mile (in FY08$) ...................................................... 3-20 


Figure 3-16  Farebox Ratios for U.S. Heavy Rail Operators (2012) .......................3-21 


Figure 3-17  Average Weekday Ridership ................................................................... 3-22 


Figure 3-18  Elevators and Escalators Availability .................................................... 3-23 


Figure 3-19  Customer Complaints per 100,000 Passengers ................................ 3-25 


Figure 3-20  Police Response Time per Emergency Incident (minutes) ............... 3-26 


Figure 3-21  Crimes per Million Riders ........................................................................... 3-26 


Figure 3-22  FTA Triennial Review Findings ................................................................ 3-29 


Figure 4-1  BART Extensions under Construction ...................................................... 4-4 


Figure 4-2  BART Ridership Forecast ............................................................................. 4-5 


Figure 4-3  BART Rail Service Forecast ......................................................................... 4-8 


Figure 4-4  BART Operating Financial Forecast ($ millions) ................................. 4-10 


Figure 5-1  BART’s Capital Financial Outlook, FY15-24 ............................................ 5-3 


Figure 5-2  Overview of CIP Categories and Subcategories ................................... 5-6 


Figure 5-3  CIP Funding Needs ($ thousands) ..............................................................5-7 


Figure 5-4  Major BART Investments’ Schedule and Total Cost ............................. 5-11 


Figure 5-5  Capital Funding Sources: Previously Identified  
and Committed Funding ($thousands) ................................................. 5-29 


Figure 5-6  Capital Funding Sources: Potential Discretionary Funding  
($thousands) ................................................................................................ 5-30 


 
  







 


iv 


 


BART FY15-FY24 SRTP/CIP ACRONYM LIST 


Acronym Description 


(AB)  Assembly Bill 


(ADA)  Americans with Disabilities Act 


(AMP) Asset Management Program 


(APTA) American Public Transportation Association 


(BATA)  Bay Area Toll Authority  


(BFS)  BART Facilities Standards  


(BPA) Bonneville Power Administration  


(BPD)  BART Police Department  


(CalPERS)  California Public Employee Retirement System  


(CARP)  Capital Asset Replacement Program  


(CBTC)  Communication-Based Train Control  


(CCA)  California Carbon Allowances  


(CCTV) Closed-Circuit Television  


(CIO) Office Of The Chief Information Officer  


(CIP) Capital Improvement Program  


(CMA) Congestion Management Agencies  


(CMAQ)  Congestion Mitigation And Air Quality  


(COPPS)  Community Oriented Policing and Problem Solving  


(CPI) Consumer Price Index 


(CPTED)  Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design  


(CPUC)  California Public Utilities Commission  


(CTA) Chicago Transit Authority  


(DBE) Disadvantaged Business Enterprise  


(DCC) Doppelmayr Cable Car  


(DMU)  Diesel Multiple Unit  


(DOL) Department Of Labor  


(eBART) East Contra Costa Bart Extension  


(EBPC) East Bay Paratransit Consortium  


(ETR)  Employee Trip Reduction  


(FHWA) Federal Highway Administration  


(FTA)  Federal Transit Administration  


(FY) Fiscal Year 


(GO 175) General Order 175  


(GO) General Obligation  


(HMC)  Hayward Maintenance Complex  


(HOV) High Occupancy Vehicle  


(HVAC) Heating, Ventilation, And Air Conditioning  







 


v 


 


Acronym Description 


(ICS) Integrated Computer Systems  


(JARC) Job Access And Reverse Commute  


(LA Metro) LA County Metropolitan Transportation Authority  


(LEP)  Limited-English-Proficiency  


(LRT) Light Rail Train  


(MARTA) Metropolitan Atlanta Rapid Transit Authority  


(MBTA) Massachusetts Bay Transportation Authority  


(MOU) Memorandum Of Understanding  


(MPO) Metropolitan Planning Organization 


(MTBSD) Mean Time Between Service Delays  


(MTC) Metropolitan Transportation Commission  


(NCPA)  Northern California Power Agency  


(NYCT) New York City Transit  


(O&M)  Operations and Maintenance 


(OAK) BART to Oakland International Airport 


(OCC)  Operations Control Center 


(OPEB)  Other Post Employment Benefit  


(OSHA)  Occupational Safety and Health Administration 


(PATCO) Port Authority Transit Corporation  


(PCG) Budget Project Control Group  


(PDA)  Priority Development Area  


(PEPRA) California Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act  


(PG&E) Pacific Gas and Electric Company  


(PPC)  Passengers Per Car  


(RM1) Regional Measure 1  


(RM2)  Regional Measure 2  


(RTP) Regional Transportation Plan  


(SCIP) Safety Culture Improvement Program  


(SFIA) San Francisco International Airport  


(SFMTA) San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency  


(SFO)  San Francisco International Airport  


(SMP) Strategic Maintenance Plan  


(SMSP) Safety Management Software program  


(SRTP) Short Range Transit Plan  


(STA) State Transit Assistance  


(STP) Surface Transportation Program  


(SVBX) Silicon Valley Extension  


(SVRT) Silicon Valley Rapid Transit  







 


vi 


 


Acronym Description 


(TCMP) Train Control Modernization Project  


(TDA) Transportation Development Act 


(TIP)  Transportation Improvement Program  


(TOD)  Transit-Oriented Development 


(TPI) Transit Performance Initiative 


(TPS)  Traction Power System  


(TSP) Transit Sustainability Project  


(VRF) Vehicle Registration Fee  


(VTA) Santa Clara Valley Transportation Authority  


(WMATA) Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority  


(WSX) BART to Warm Springs  







Introduction 
 


1-1 


 


1 INTRODUCTION 
This FY15-FY24 Short Range Transit Plan/Capital Improvement Program (SRTP/CIP) 
projects BART’s capital and operating needs for the coming decade, including 
reinvestment to upgrade its aging system and new investments to modernize and 
expand the system in compliance with the Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission’s (MTC) requirement. It has the following purposes: 


 To serve as a management and policy document for BART 
 To provide the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) and MTC with required 


information to meet regional fund programming and planning criteria 
 To describe and validate BART’s capital and operating budgets 
 To inform requests for federal, state, and regional funds 
 To assess BART’s financial capacity to carry out proposed levels of service and 


associated CIP 
 To provide MTC with regular information on projects and programs of 


regional significance 
 To articulate goals, objectives, and standards by which BART assesses the 


system’s performance (also part of the MTC Triennial Performance Audit of 
the operator) 


The final FY15 SRTP/CIP is anticipated to be adopted by the BART Board of 
Directors in September 2014.  


BART’s financial capacity to carry out proposed levels of service and associated CIP 
is an important component of the SRTP/CIP. The financial forecast shows BART 
facing major challenges in its operating program over the 10 years: BART must 
fund critical capital renovations and infrastructure upgrades while maintaining 
high service levels to meet ridership demands and operating new system extensions 
when they come on line. This SRTP reflects the fact that BART is projecting annual 
operating deficits ranging from $6 million to $80 million over the next 10 years.  


BART is committing a significant amount of operating funds to critically important 
capital programs over the next 10 years in addition to baseline capital allocations. 
The need for these allocations will put a great deal of pressure on future operating 
budgets. The timing associated with these allocations is reflected in the projected 
annual operating shortfalls. 


As with the operating outlook, the capital forecast illustrates serious funding 
challenges for BART in the coming years. Currently identified funding falls far short 
of the system’s capital needs, especially in the short term.  This shortfall poses 
major challenges for ensuring that BART can adequately reinvest to maintain the 
system’s reliability and safety, while also making enhancements and adding 







Introduction 
 


1-2 


 


capacity to serve new ridership demands and serve extensions that are under 
construction. 


Similar to the timing issue with operating allocations, there is a misalignment 
between timing of need and availability of capital funding. Particularly important 
for BART’s capital program, funding is expected to become available at a far slower 
rate than is required to meet the schedule for BART’s capital needs, creating a 
more dramatic shortfall in the near term than the longer term.  


The combination of the operating allocations and capital funding timing issues 
amplify the significant financial challenges BART is facing over the next 10 years. 
BART is working to develop strategies to address the operating allocation timing 
issue in order to reduce pressure on future operating budgets, and will work with 
MTC to finance the capital funding misalignment to the extent possible. 


  


 


  







Overview of BART System 
 


2-1 


2 OVERVIEW OF THE BART SYSTEM 
For over 40 years, BART has provided reliable rapid transit service in the Bay Area. 
Over that time, the system has grown to accommodate the needs of a denser and 
expanding region. This chapter discusses the key milestones in BART’s history and 
provides an introduction to BART’s governance and organizational structures. It 
also describes the service BART provides, the areas it serves, its fare structure, and 
the extensive physical infrastructure that is required to ensure that BART runs 
smoothly and safely.  


MILESTONES IN BART’S HISTORY 


Figure 2-1 below sets out key milestones in BART’s history. 


Figure 2-1 Milestones in BART History 


1957 
California State Legislature creates BART in response to Bay Area growth and 
transportation needs 


1962 
Voters approve $792 million general obligation bond issue in San Francisco, Alameda, and 
Contra Costa counties that provides funding to construct original 71-mile system (bond fully 
paid off in 2000) 


1972 
BART begins service 


12 stations open from MacArthur to Fremont 


1973 


20 stations open 


Richmond to Ashby: 6 stations 


Concord to Rockridge: 6 stations 


Montgomery Street to Daly City: 8 stations 


1974 Transbay service begins 


1976 Embarcadero station opens 


1995 North Concord/Martinez station opens 


1996 Colma and Pittsburg/Bay Point stations open 


1997 Castro Valley and Dublin/Pleasanton stations open 


2003 
Four San Francisco International Airport (SFO) extension stations begin service:  


South San Francisco, San Bruno, San Francisco International Airport (SFIA), and Millbrae 


2007 
BART and SamTrans, with the aid of MTC, agree to turn SFO extension operations over to 
BART 


2010 West Dublin/Pleasanton station opens 


2012 BART celebrates 40 years of service and, on the day of the Giants’ World Series victory 
parade, carries the most riders ever, nearly 570,000 


2014 BART-to-Oakland International Airport Project  to open in fall 2014 


 







Overview of BART System 


2-2 


GOVERNANCE AND ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE 


Nine publicly elected directors form BART’s governing board. BART is one of three 
transit systems in the country with an elected board. The members of other transit 
agency’s boards are appointed. A member of the BART Board: 


 Serves a four-year term 
 Represents approximately 374,000 residents in one of nine election districts 


that comprise the three-county District 
 Provides strategic and policy guidance to achieve BART’s mission to provide 


"safe, reliable, customer-friendly and clean regional public transit" to Bay 
Area residents and visitors 


 Represents diverse constituencies, taking a leadership role by working with a 
broad range of stakeholders in the region, state, and nation to promote 
effective transit policies and political support for regional transit initiatives 


 


Figure 2-2 BART Board of Directors 


BART Board of Directors Counties Represented 
Term Ends in 


December 


Joel Keller, President Contra Costa 2014 


Thomas M. Blalock, P.E., Vice President Alameda 2014 


James Fang San Francisco 2014 


Zakhary Mallet, AICP Alameda/Contra Costa/San Francisco 2016 


John McPartland Alameda 2016 


Gail Murray Contra Costa 2016 


Robert Raburn, Ph.D Alameda 2014 


Tom Radulovich San Francisco 2016 


Rebecca Saltzman Alameda/Contra Costa 2016 


 


  







Overview of BART System 


2-3 


Organizational Structure 


BART’s staff is one of the organization’s greatest resources in providing safe and 
reliable daily service to the Bay Area. Figure 2-3 below provides an overview of 
BART’s staff.   


Figure 2-3 BART Staff Statistics 


Operating and capital employees, per FY14 Budget* 3,420 total positions 
*Some positions are vacant. 
 
The following is a profile of BART employees as of February 2014: 
Gender 2,436 Male 


849 Female 
Age (average) 49.5 years (age range 19.5 to 81.9 years) 
Ethnicity** American Indian/Alaska Native 22 


Asian 810 


Black/African American 828 


Hispanic/Latino 446 


Native Hawaiian/Other Pacific Islander 12 


White 1,167 
Average length of employment 12.8 years 
Average salary (without benefits) $77,641 annually 
Number of retirees 2,115 
**The Federal Transit Administration uses these racial categories and category names 


BART budgets and reports financial and operating statistical data on a fiscal year 
(FY) basis, July to June. 


Union Representation 


BART has five employee and collective bargaining agreements, covering 85.8% of 
BART’s workforce, which expire in FY17. Union membership, based upon positions 
budgeted for FY14, is shown in Figure 2-4. The remainder of BART staff is non-
represented. 


Figure 2-4 Union Membership 


Union Membership 


Service Employees International Union 1021 1,529 


Amalgamated Transit Union Local 1555 902 


American Federation of State, County and Municipal 
Employees Local 3993 


249 


BART Police Officers Association 240 


BART Police Managers Association  46 


Figure 2-5 shows BART’s organizational structure for the FY15 Budget. BART has 
five Board-appointed positions: General Manager, General Counsel, Controller-
Treasurer, District Secretary, and Independent Police Auditor. BART is the only 
transit district in California with a dedicated police department. BART Police 
provide a full range of law enforcement services within its jurisdiction.  


 







Overview of BART System 


2-4 


Figure 2-5 BART Organizational Chart (FY15 Budget) 


 







Overview of BART System 


2-5 


SERVICES PROVIDED AND AREAS SERVED 


Fixed-Route Rail Service 


BART operates five lines in Alameda, Contra Costa, San Francisco, and San Mateo 
counties, as shown in Figure 2-8 on the next page. The current lines and hours of 
service are given in Figure 2-6 below. 


Figure 2-6 BART Routes and Hours of Service 


 Hours of Service 


Route Weekday Saturday Sunday 


Pittsburg/Bay Point—SFO1 4 a.m.–12 a.m. 6 a.m. –12 a.m. 8 a.m. –12 a.m. 


Dublin/Pleasanton—Daly City 4 a.m. –12 a.m. 6 a.m. –12 a.m. 8 a.m. –12 a.m. 


Richmond—Fremont 4 a.m. –12 a.m. 6 a.m. –12 a.m. 8 a.m. –12 a.m. 


Richmond—Millbrae2 5 a.m. –8 p.m. 9 a.m. –6 p.m. Not in service 


Fremont—Daly City 5 a.m. –7 p.m. 9 a.m. –6 p.m. Not in service 


1 Service extended to Millbrae during evenings and weekends  


2 Terminates at Daly City during Saturday service 


The system’s headways (minutes between trains) are shown in Figure 2-7. 


Figure 2-7 BART Headways 


 Headway (minutes) 


Monday through Friday1 Day: 15 


Night:  20 


Saturday, Sunday and major holidays 20 


1 For the Pittsburg/Bay Point—Daly City line, peak period (6 a.m. to 9 a.m. and 
4 p.m. to 7 p.m.) headways are 5 or 10 minutes           


 
BART periodically reviews and adjusts service levels, if necessary, to meet varying 
levels of ridership demand. Changes include lengthening or shortening trains, 
adding or removing trains scheduled on a route, or even changing a route’s service 
hours or terminal stations. To provide BART’s current peak period revenue service, 
573 cars are required of a total fleet of 669 cars. 


Depending on demand, holiday rail service is operated on a full or modified 
weekday schedule, or a Saturday or Sunday schedule. BART service is also 
coordinated with major Bay Area events. Additional rail service for special events is 
provided by either adding cars to regularly scheduled trains, placing additional 
trains in service, or providing revenue operations at times when the system is 
normally closed (e.g., early Sunday morning opening for the annual Bay-to-
Breakers footrace in San Francisco).   







Overview of BART System 


2-6 


Figure 2-8 BART System Map 


 


Demand Responsive Service  


BART complies with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) requirement to 
provide paratransit service comparable and complementary to the BART system. 
Federal regulations define the ADA paratransit service area as a 0.75-mile radius 
around each BART station.  


Paratransit service is available to persons who are prevented from using the 
accessible fixed-route services BART offers due to a disabling health condition. 
BART participates in a regional ADA eligibility process followed by the principal 
transit operators in the San Francisco Bay Area. BART, together with other Bay 
Area transit agencies, works to coordinate regional paratransit travel through the 
Bay Area Partnership Accessibility Committee. 







Overview of BART System 


2-7 


Paratransit Partnerships with Other Operators 


To provide effective paratransit service in its service area, BART partners with the 
following transit operators: 


AC Transit: In their areas of joint service, BART and AC Transit fund and administer 
the East Bay Paratransit Consortium (EBPC). Service is provided through 
contractors. BART assumes 31% and AC Transit 69% of the broker and service 
provider costs based on their proportionate areas of responsibility. They have split 
the cost of the Program Coordinator’s Office 50/50 since FY11. This office provides 
a neutral central point of contact and fulfills administrative and contract 
monitoring activities for the two agencies.  


SFMTA: BART has a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with the San Francisco 
Municipal Transportation Agency (SFMTA) whereby SFMTA provides service to 
meet BART's obligation within the City and County of San Francisco.  BART 
reimburses SFMTA for 7.9% of the net cost of ADA paratransit service for all San 
Francisco riders. BART also pays SFMTA an administrative fee for these services, 
which is calculated at 4.7% of BART’s annual payment. 


Other Agencies: BART has financial agreements with the Contra Costa County 
Transit Authority (County Connection), Eastern Contra Costa Transit Authority (Tri 
Delta Transit), and Livermore Amador Valley Transit Authority (LAVTA Wheels). 
These agencies provide paratransit service on BART’s behalf during the same hours 
they operate their own ADA paratransit service. BART’s share of the service 
provided by these operators is small compared to that provided by EBPC and 
SFMTA. 


The efforts of BART and partner operators focus on providing all ride requests to 
eligible recipients while at the same time controlling costs. 


Connecting Services Provided by Other Operators 


Several Bay Area bus operators provide connecting (or “feeder”) service to BART. 
These operators are AC Transit, County Connection, Dumbarton Express (operated 
by AC Transit), Muni (SFMTA), SamTrans (including Caltrain), Santa Clara Valley 
Transportation Authority (VTA), Tri Delta Transit, Union City Transit, WestCAT, 
Wheels, and City of Rio Vista. 


In the FY15 Budget, BART contributes about $12 million for feeder services 
provided by AC Transit, Muni, County Connection, Tri Delta Transit, WestCAT, and 
Wheels. Most of the funding is paid with BART’s share of State Transit Assistance 
(STA) funds allocated by MTC, and the rest comes from BART’s operating budget.  


  







Overview of BART System 


2-8 


FARES  


Fixed-route Rail Fares 


BART fares are computed using a distance-based formula with surcharges applied. 
Fare structure components and fare media, including discounted tickets and 
transfers, are shown in Figure 2-9. Figure 2-10 details station-to-station fares for 
BART’s 44 stations.  


On January 1, 2014, the following fare change was implemented:  


 Fares increased by 5.2% on average in accordance with the Board-approved, 
productivity-adjusted, Consumer Price Index (CPI)-based fare increase 
program. 


 The necessary federal Title VI equity analysis and public outreach were 
performed on this increase, and the Board approved the finding that the 
increase did not result in a disproportionate impact on protected groups. 


Demand Responsive Fares 


The ADA limits the fare that can be charged for ADA paratransit service to twice 
the full adult fare for a comparable fixed-route trip.  
Fares for paratransit services in which BART participates vary widely due to the 
range of fare structures of BART and local bus agencies. 


 BART/AC Transit EBPC fares are distance-based and range from $4.00 to 
$6.00 for trips in the East Bay and from $6.00 to $10.00 for trips into and out 
of San Francisco.  


 San Francisco trips that go beyond the BART service territory carried by EBPC 
also pay an additional Muni paratransit fare of $2.00. 


 SFMTA paratransit provides travel within San Francisco.  


 SF Access ADA service is $2.00 per ride.  


 SFMTA also provides non-ADA taxi service for eligible riders at the rate of 
$5 for $30 worth of service.   


 Fares for BART's other paratransit partners currently range from $2.50 to 
$4.00 per trip. 


Inter-operator Transfer Arrangements and Fare Coordination  


BART riders can receive discounted transfer fares for trips on the following 
operators: AC Transit, County Connection, Muni, Tri-Delta Transit, Union City 
Transit, VTA, WestCAT, and WHEELS. Discounted transfers are automatically given 
when the rider uses a Clipper card on AC Transit, Muni, and VTA (Clipper is the Bay 
Area’s universal fare card that works on many Bay Area transit systems). The rest of 
the operators accept a paper transfer dispensed in the paid area of the BART 
station. In addition, Muni and BART have an agreement whereby BART accepts 
Muni’s “A” Fast Pass, available only on Clipper, for unlimited rides on BART within 
San Francisco.  







Overview of BART System 


2-9 


BART Plus is an inter-operator agreement between BART and six East Bay bus 
operators. A BART Plus magnetic stripe ticket functions as a flash pass on the six 
bus operators and has loaded value available in eight denominations for use on 
BART. The BART Plus ticket offers BART’s 6.25% high-value discount and a last ride 
bonus so that, with as little as a nickel left on the ticket, the rider can take a last 
ride anywhere in the system. The current values of the transfers, Fast Pass, and 
BART Plus are shown in Figure 2-9. 


CUSTOMER INFORMATION 


BART provides information about its services in stations through advertisements 
and other publicity, online, and by telephone including:  


 Website (bart.gov) 
 Mobile web app (m.bart.gov) 
 Email and text subscriptions (bart.gov/alerts) 
 Text on-demand (bart.gov/sms) 
 Third-party applications (bart.gov/apps) 
 Twitter (@sfbart and @sfbartalert) 
 Facebook (facebook.com/bartsf) 
 Youtube (youtube.com/BARTable) 
 Pinterest (pinterest.com/sfbart) 
 Telephone (phone numbers vary depending on location) 


  







Overview of BART System 


2-10 


Figure 2-9 BART Fare Components and Ticket Prices (effective January 1, 2014) 


TRIP LENGTH  
Minimum Fare: Up to 6 miles $1.85 
Between 6 and 14 miles1 $1.93 + 14.1¢/mile 
Over 14 miles $3.04 + 8.5¢/mile 


 SURCHARGES 


Transbay $0.94 
Daly City2 $1.08 
San Mateo County3 $1.37 
Capital4 $0.13 
Premium fare applied to trips to/from SFO $4.27 


SPEED DIFFERENTIAL Charge differential for faster or slower than 
average trips, based on scheduled travel time ±5.4¢/minute 


RESULTING FARES 


Range 5 $1.85 to $11.65 
Average fare (before discounts) 6 $3.68 


Average fare paid (after discounts) 6 $3.52 


RAIL FARE 
DISCOUNTS and 
SPECIAL FARES7 


 


Children under 5  Free 


62.5% Discount: $0.65-$4.35 when using Clipper 
card; 
$9 mag stripe ticket with $24 
ticket value 


    Children 5 through 12  
     Persons 65 and over  
     Persons with a qualifying disability 
Students 13 through 18: 50% discount 8 $16 ($32 ticket value) 


Regular adult: 6.25% discount  
$45 and $60 ($48 and $64 ticket 
value) 


Excursion (entry/exit, same station) 9 $5.55 
SEMI-MONTHLY 


RAIL/BUS PASS 
BART Plus (w/$15 to $50 BART value) 10 
(6.25% discount, last ride bonus) 


$43 to $76 (8 denominations) 


MONTHLY RAIL/  
Muni PASS 11 


“A” Fast Pass (Unlimited monthly use of 
BART within San Francisco and SF Muni) $76 


ONE-WAY 
TRANSFERS:  


FROM BART TO 12 
(issued at rail stations) 


County Connection 
Muni, within San Francisco13 
Tri Delta Transit 


Union City Transit 


VTA (Express buses only at Fremont station) 
WestCAT 


Wheels 


Pay $1 of $2 fare (50% disc) 
Pay $1.50 of $2 fare (25% disc) 
Pay $0.75 of $2 fare (37.5% disc) 
Pay $1.50 of $2 fare (25% disc) 
Pay $2 of $4 fare (50% disc) 
Pay $1 of $1.75 fare (43% disc) 
Pay $1 of $2 fare (50% disc) 


TWO-WAY 
TRANSFERS: FROM BART/ 


TO BART12 


AC Transit 
Pay $1.85 of $2.10 one-way fare 
(12% disc) 


Muni, within San Francisco 
Pay $1.75 of $2.00 one-way fare 
(12.5% disc) 


Muni, Daly City station  Free  ($2.00 one-way fare) 


ADA SERVICE 
East Bay Paratransit Consortium14 $4.00-$10.00 


All other areas 
See ADA Paratransit 
Section 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







Overview of BART System 


2-11 


 


NOTES: BART Fare Components and Ticket Prices 


1 Trips over 6 miles within the East Bay Suburban Zone (certain station pairs between Pittsburg/Bay Point and Orinda, Fremont-Bay Fair, Richmond-Ashby, and 
Dublin/Pleasanton-Bay Fair) are priced at the fare indicated for trips under 6 miles. 


2 The Daly City surcharge is applied to trips between Daly City station and San Francisco stations; it does not apply to Transbay trips or San Mateo County 
surcharge trips. 


3 The San Mateo County surcharge is applied to trips between San Mateo County stations (except trips between the San Francisco International Airport (SFIA) 
station and Millbrae station for which only the Premium Fare is charged) and trips between San Mateo County stations (except Daly City) and San Francisco 
stations. It does not apply to Transbay trips. 


4 The capital surcharge is applied to trips that begin and end in the three-county BART District including Daly City; the Board approved this surcharge in May 
2005 to be used to fund capital projects within this area. 


5 Fares shown are effective January 1, 2014. BART rail fares are computed by automatic fare collection equipment and are rounded to the nearest 5¢. Prior fare 
increases occurred on July 1 of 2012 and 2009; January 1 of 2008, 2006, 2004, and 2003; April 1 of 1997, 1996, and 1995; January 1, 1986; September 8, 1982; 
June 30, 1980; and November 3, 1975. 


6 The average rail fare before and after discounts includes rail passenger revenue from all fare instruments. The figures shown are for FY14 (through February 
2014). 


7 Discounts are given with the appropriate Clipper card. High-value discount, red, and green magnetic stripe tickets continue to be sold via mail and at My Transit 
Plus locations at Embarcadero, Montgomery, Powell Street, Civic Center, Walnut Creek, and Bay Fair Stations; at Lake Merritt Station; and at some retail 
locations around the Bay Area. However, the retail network is being phased out as BART transitions to the Clipper card.  


8 Sold at participating schools; tickets include a last ride bonus 


9 There is a three-hour limit on the excursion fare. 


10 The BART Plus ticket became available on April 1, 1991 and is good for one-half month beginning either on the first day or 16th day of the month. It has a 
stored value like an adult BART blue ticket that allows travel on BART up to the amount of the stored value during the valid one-half month period. In addition, 
patrons may use the BART Plus ticket as a flash pass for unlimited rides on the following bus operators during the valid one-half month period: County 
Connection, Rio Vista Delta Breeze, Tri Delta Transit, Union City Transit, WestCAT, and Wheels. 


11 BART began accepting the regular adult Muni Fast Pass for BART travel within San Francisco on April 1, 1983. The current “A” BART/Muni Fast Pass allows 
unlimited rides on Muni and BART within San Francisco. The price of the monthly Fast Pass is currently $76.00. Muni reimburses BART $1.21 (effective July 1, 
2012 through June 30, 2014) for each Fast Pass trip on BART. Muni Fast Passes are available only on Clipper. 


12 When transferring between BART and a Clipper-enabled operator, the Clipper card automatically gives the transfer discount. For the connecting operators 
that are not Clipper-enabled, transfers are issued free of charge from vending machines located inside the paid area of BART rail stations.  


13 Effective April 10, 2014; before that time, Muni offered a two-way transfer.  


14 BART and AC Transit formed the East Bay Paratransit Consortium (EBPC), which provides service to eligible BART customers in service areas that overlap 
with AC Transit.







Overview of BART System 


2-12 


Figure 2-10 BART Station-to-Station Fare Table (effective January 1, 2014) 


 







Overview of BART System 


2-13 


PHYSICAL INFRASTRUCTURE AND CAPITAL ASSETS 


As a fixed rail system that carries riders across four counties, BART is a capital-
intensive system. BART operates and maintains a wide variety of capital assets and 
manages a great deal of physical infrastructure throughout the Bay Area such as 
railcars, tracks, stations, and maintenance facilities. BART’s infrastructure is valued 
at $21 billion.  


Most of this infrastructure is over 40 years old and at, or close to, the end of its 
useful life, placing increasing strain on the system to maintain its high performance 
and meet growing demand. BART staff estimates that $6.5 billion of BART’s 
infrastructure is now in poor or very poor condition. BART has recently developed 
an Asset Management Strategy which is designed to efficiently and effectively 
rebuild this high performing but quite old transit system into a new world class 
system over the next 10 years. The strategy is specifically designed to show maximal 
value for money and to manage safety, operational, and financial risk.   


BART’s Comprehensive Asset Management Program: 
Allocating Limited Resources to High Value Investments 


Over the last two years, BART staff has been developing a comprehensive Asset 
Management Program (AMP) and a Budget Project Governance Group to guide 
BART’s long-term financial plan and ensure it adequately addresses system 
reinvestment, minimizes risk, and maintains financial stability. The Asset 
Management Strategy is a product of the AMP. 


The comprehensive AMP allows BART to take a more systematic, risk-focused 
approach to prioritizing investment of scarce resources for both operating and 
capital needs. BART’s 40,000+ assets are generally divided into six broad categories: 
Guideways, Facilities, Non-revenue Vehicles, Systems, Revenue Vehicles, and 
Support. BART has developed six asset management plans based on these 
categories that serve as a roadmap for implementing the Asset Management 
Strategy. 


Each asset management plan includes a risk management plan. The comprehensive 
risk framework assesses the likelihood of near-term failure for each asset and the 
consequent impact on the BART system, rather than merely considering age or 
condition, as has been done in the past.  


The six plans are combined into the comprehensive Asset Management Strategy for 
BART to guide the effective allocation of resources. The Asset Management 
Strategy is used to screen capital projects and inform funding allocations for 
BART’s annual capital budgets going forward. 


The Budget Project Governance Group 


To manage and implement the AMP, BART has established a Budget Project 
Governance Group (BPGG). The BPGG will be responsible for linking the asset 
management plans with the annual budget process and ensuring that funding 
decisions minimize BART’s safety, operational, and financial risks.  







Overview of BART System 


2-14 


The BPGG includes staff from a broad range of BART departments to ensure the 
full range of system functions is considered, which includes: 


 Planning and Development 
 Office of the Chief Information Officer 
 Transportation 
 Rolling Stock and Shops 
 Maintenance and Engineering (including Asset Management)  
 Administration and Budget 
 External Affairs 
 System Safety 
 Operation Planning 
 BART Police Department 


The role of the BPGG is evolving, but its overall mission is to: 


 Guide where BART spends its money to get the best long-term value for its 
investment 


 Identify initiatives and innovations that can reduce net long-term operating 
and maintenance costs for the set target service levels and risks 


 Provide guidance on communicating with the community and customers on 
how to address our asset needs 


Over the course of the next year, BART will further define how the AMP and BPGG 
will be linked to the annual budget and long-term financial plan.  


BART Stations  


Stations are the point of entry for passengers accessing the BART system.  BART has 
44 stations: 16 subway, 12 elevated, and 16 at grade (ground level).  


 Platform length is typically about 700 feet to fit the maximum train length 
of 10 cars 


 Stations are spaced on average between 1/2 to 1 mile apart within and near 
San Francisco, Oakland, and Berkeley downtown areas, and 2 to 10 miles 
apart in suburban areas 


 Automated fare collection equipment accepts cash, credit cards, and debit 
cards to vend and process magnetic stripe tickets and to load Clipper cards 


 Rider information is provided through the following means: 


 Platform-level automated train destination signs that show an arriving 
train's destination and other information 


 Platform and concourse-level special displays provide train schedules, 
local area destinations, connecting transit, and other information 


 A public address system linked to BART's Operations Control Center (OCC) 
gives additional passenger information; station agents also use it to make 
in-station announcements 







Overview of BART System 


2-15 


 Station agent booths provide electronic message boards displaying 
elevator status 


 Riders enter and exit the stations from the street-level and traverse from 
mezzanine to platform levels by stairways, elevators and escalators 


 BART works hard to ensure that its stations are clean and bright, as well 
as functional and accessible to all riders. In FY14, BART added more 
station cleaning crews to improve station and elevator cleanliness, which 
includes station cleaning, painting, and making upgrades and repairs. In 
FY15, BART is adding two staff crews that will be responsible for deep-
cleaning stations.  


Station Access 


BART’s Access Guidelines (2004) are meant to guide policy and investment decisions 
about access to BART stations. The guidelines include an Access Hierarchy, shown in 
Figure 2-11. 


Figure 2-11 BART’s Access Hierarchy 


 
 


According to BART’s latest Station Profile Survey (2008), the overall access mode 
share to the stations was as follows: 


 Car: 49% 
 Walking: 31% 
 Transit: 15% 
 Bicycle: 4% 







Overview of BART System 


2-16 


The most notable changes since the previous Station Profile Survey (1998) were the 
increase in the walking mode share (5 percentage points) and the decrease in the 
transit mode share (8 percentage points). The next Station Profile Survey is 
scheduled to be conducted in Fall 2014. 


BART has intermodal areas at most of its stations, dedicated to providing 
convenient access for many forms of connecting transportation: buses, shuttles, 
taxis, passenger dropoffs and pickups, paratransit service, and ADA accessible 
loading areas. Bus bays for public transit partners are designed with shelters, some 
of which provide real-time departure information. Possible initiatives include 
creating a dedicated area for shuttle stops, which may include adding signage and, 
in some cases, reconfiguring or reassigning the limited space for buses in the 
intermodal area; adding more secure bicycle parking (i.e. bike stations); and 
removing barriers to pedestrian access within station areas. 


Pedestrian Infrastructure 


At BART’s urban stations, which do not have BART maintained parking, sidewalks, 
or associated pedestrian infrastructure (crosswalks, pedestrian countdown signals, 
etc.), pedestrian facilities are provided as part of the street networks under control 
of local jurisdictions. All other BART stations, which are surrounded by station 
areas under BART jurisdiction, have sidewalks along driveways and bus zones that 
connect the surrounding street networks to the station entrances. Elevated stations 
within freeway medians (such as the Dublin/Pleasanton and West 
Dublin/Pleasanton stations) have pedestrian bridges.  


 Access within BART stations is provided by stairways, elevators, and 
escalators that connect the street level to concourse and platform levels. 
BART also works closely with partner jurisdictions to ensure good pedestrian 
accessibility to stations around the perimeters of the station areas. In FY15, 
BART is funding extra pedestrian improvements at Daly City, Orinda, and 
Coliseum stations.  


All BART stations also have facilities to accommodate people with disabilities. For 
example, all stations have at least one ADA accessible path. Stations also provide 
curb cuts with yellow tactile detectable warning strips which assist the visually 
impaired to safely transit between the street and the sidewalk. 


Transit and Shuttle Infrastructure 


The number of bus lines serving BART stations ranges from a single route (e.g. 
Orinda) to 15 or more (e.g. Downtown Berkeley). Fifteen percent of patrons 
traveling on weekdays from home to BART use public transit to access BART 
stations. BART makes payments to the local transit operators via feeder service 
agreements in return for this service.  


BART coordinates with local transit providers and shuttle operators to provide 
access to its stations. Of BART’s 44 stations, 26 have dedicated bus stops and 
layover space within the station area. At the remaining 18 stations, most of which 
are in urban environments, there are bus stops within the public right-of-way, 
often immediately adjacent to the station entrances. At San Francisco’s downtown 
stations (Embarcadero, Montgomery, Powell, and Civic Center), BART shares the 







Overview of BART System 


2-17 


concourse level with Muni light rail train (LRT) lines, providing convenient 
integration between systems. At Millbrae station, BART shares the station area 
with Caltrain. 


There are at least 100 privately- and publicly-operated shuttles that make stops at 
BART stations, At least three-quarters of all BART stations are served by shuttle 
service(s). These services consist mostly of community shuttles open to the public 
(e.g. Emery Go-Round, Broadway Shuttle, Daly City Bayshore Circulator), hospital 
and university shuttles (e.g. Kaiser, Alta Bates, UC Berkeley, UC San Francisco, Cal 
State University  East Bay), single-employer, last-mile shuttles (e.g. Tesla, Clorox, 
Men’s Wearhouse) multiple-employer, last-mile shuttles (e.g. Sierra Point shuttles, 
South San Francisco – Oyster Point Shuttle), and single-employer, commuter 
shuttles (e.g. Genentech, Google, Facebook, Cisco, etc.). 


The AirBART shuttle serves Oakland International Airport and is operated by BART 
in partnership with the Port of Oakland, the owner and operator of the airport. It 
currently carries an average of 60,000 riders a month. In fall 2014, AirBART will be 
replaced by the BART-to-Oakland International Airport automated guideway 
transit system spanning the 3.2 mile distance between the Coliseum BART station 
and the Oakland International Airport. The service is scheduled to have 4-minute 
frequencies and under 15-minute total travel times, of which 8.5 minutes will be on 
the tram. 


Bicycle Infrastructure 


After several “Bikes on Board” pilot programs, BART implemented a permanent 
program, effective December 1, 2013, that allows bikes on all trains at all times—
with the exception of the peak commute hours (7 a.m. to 9 a.m. and 4:30 p.m. to 
6:30 p.m.), during which riders are not allowed to bring their bikes on the first 
three cars of any train. The first three car rule provides an option for those riders 
who want to avoid bikes altogether.  


Other safety rules relating to bikes still apply: 


 No bikes are allowed in the first train car at any time  
 Bikes are never allowed on crowded trains 
 Bicyclists must yield priority seating to seniors, people with disabilities and 


pregnant women 
 Bikes are not to block doorways or aisles and are not allowed on escalators  


Staff will give a status report on the modified bike rules when BART has three 
consecutive months of an average of 450,000 weekday riders. The report will 
evaluate customer acceptance, safety and practicality of the modified rules. 


For riders who wish to leave their bikes at the station, almost all BART stations 
have bike racks, over half of BART stations have bike lockers, and four stations now 
have bike stations, which are secure, protected bike parking areas, often located 
inside the station. A new bike station near the 19th Street station in Oakland is 
scheduled to open in the fall of 2014. The figure below shows BART’s bike parking 
supply.  







Overview of BART System 


2-18 


Figure 2-12 BART Bike Parking Supply 


Bike rack spaces 3,424 


Bike station spaces 744 


Bike locker spaces 1,324 


TOTAL BIKE PARKING SPACES 5,492


Car Sharing Infrastructure 


Two companies, City Carshare and Zipcar, provide car sharing services at 19 BART 
stations in eight jurisdictions (El Cerrito, Berkeley, Oakland, Pleasant Hill, Walnut 
Creek, Concord, San Francisco, and Daly City). Car sharing vehicle pods are usually 
located in BART parking lots and garages. Patrons arriving at a BART station can 
pick-up their rented car share vehicle to travel from the station to their final 
destination and back. 


Park-and-Ride Infrastructure 


BART has almost 47,000 parking spaces at 33 of its 44 stations, as shown in Figure 
2-13. Most of these parking spaces are in surface lots; all other spaces are in BART’s 
16 parking structures. Paid parking is one of BART’s larger non-fare revenue 
sources. BART offers the following paid parking programs: monthly and single-day 
reserved parking, daily fee parking, and airport/long-term permit parking. 


 


  







Overview of BART System 


2-19 


Figure 2-13 Automobile Parking at BART Stations 


BART Station 
Parking 
Spaces BART Station 


Parking 
Spaces 


Dublin/Pleasanton 3,069  Coliseum 978  


Pleasant Hill 3,060  Rockridge 892  


Millbrae 2,981  Fruitvale 871  


Concord 2,345  North Berkeley 797  


El Cerrito del Norte 2,180  Richmond 750  


Fremont 2,142  El Cerrito Plaza 749  


Walnut Creek 2,096  Ashby 606  


Daly City 2,047  MacArthur 478  


Pittsburg/Bay Point 2,036  West Oakland 445  


North Concord/Martinez 1,977  Lake Merritt 214  


Bay Fair 1,669  Glen Park 53  


Lafayette 1,529  12th Street 0  


Hayward 1,467  19th Street 0  


Orinda 1,442  16th Street/Mission 0  


Colma* 1,424  24th Street/Mission 0  


South San Francisco 1,371  Balboa Park 0  


San Leandro 1,270  Civic Center 0  


South Hayward 1,253  Downtown Berkeley 0  


Union City 1,155  Embarcadero 0  


Castro Valley 1,118  Montgomery Street 0  


West Dublin/Pleasanton 1,100  Powell Street 0  


San Bruno 1,072  San Francisco Intl Airport 0  


TOTAL 46,636  


*Colma Station includes 815 spaces in the SamTrans surface parking lot. 


Trains and Other Vehicles 


BART has a fleet of 669 cars that consists of A- and B-cars, each with 60 seats 
available, and C- cars, which have 56 seats. These seating numbers reflect the 
recent completion of the Car Interior Modifications program which, in addition to 
adding hand straps and replacing car flooring materials, removed some seats from 
all three car types to open up space for bikes, wheelchairs, luggage, and strollers.  


Figure 2-14 show BART’s rail vehicle inventory. The following are standards related 
to train length, control, and speed: 


 Train length: Three cars minimum, per California Public Utilities Commission 
requirement, to 10 cars maximum based on station platform lengths. Lead 
cars are either an A- or C-car.  







Overview of BART System 


2-20 


 Train control: Computers along the right-of-way automatically control train 
movements, as supervised by the train control computer at the Operations 
Control Center. Train operators can override the automatic system if needed.  


 Train speed: Revenue service is based on a maximum speed of 70 miles per 
hour and an average speed of 34 miles per hour, including station stops. 


BART staff also use over 30 other types of vehicles to maintain and service the 
BART system.  


Figure 2-14 BART Rail Vehicle Inventory 


Car Type 
Number in 


Fleet Function 
Date 


Manufactured 
Date 


Renovated Size 


A2 59 Lead or  
trail car 


1971 to 1975 1995 to 2002 75 feet 
long by 


10.5 feet 
wide 


B2 380 Mid-train car only 70 feet 
long by 


10.5 feet 
wide 


C1 150 Lead,  
mid-train, or trail 


car 


1987 to 1990 N/A 


C2 80 1995 to 1996 


 


Tracks and Related Infrastructure 


BART operates on over 104 route miles of track: 37 miles in subways and tunnels; 
23 miles on aerial structures; and 44 miles at ground level. In total, BART uses and 
maintains approximately 500 miles of linear track counting all tracks running in 
two (or more) directions, train storage, track sidings, and rail access routes from 
yards. BART’s grounds and right-of-way include the areas adjacent to ground level 
trackways and other access points to system facilities. BART also invests in fences 
around its grounds and other track intrusion prevention, which contributes to 
maintaining system safety and security.  


Maintenance Shops and Yards 


Planned preventive and unscheduled maintenance for rail cars are performed at 
four facilities located at or near these stations: 


 Concord 
 Hayward 
 Richmond  
 Daly City 


Accident damage, component, and heavy repairs are performed at the Hayward 
facility. In addition, BART has a facility in Oakland to perform maintenance on 
support vehicles and equipment. 


In 2006, the Strategic Maintenance Plan (SMP) was introduced in the Rolling Stock 
and Shops department. Essentially, SMP is a proactive maintenance operation 
aimed at continuous improvement through strategically engineered, planned, and 
scheduled maintenance and overhaul activities. The SMP’s objective was for BART 







Overview of BART System 


2-21 


to evolve from a reactive run-to-failure car maintenance model to a proactive, 
planned maintenance model. This strategy succeeded in increasing service 
reliability for the fleet to a record of 3,757 hours mean time between service delays 
(MTBSD), an outstanding accomplishment for the oldest rail transit fleet in North 
America.  


Themes for the coming years for BART’s Rolling Stock and Shops focus on 
supporting increased service levels, commissioning new cars, and expanding the 
size of the fleet. BART has the oldest fleet in North America and is in the process of 
procuring new railcars. Until the new cars are online, BART must invest carefully in 
its existing aging fleet to sustain hard-fought gains in reliability without over-
investing in a retiring fleet.  


In 2007 BART initiated the procurement of the new railcars and, in 2012, 
Bombardier was awarded the contract to design and construct the next generation 
of BART railcar. The current contract is for 775 cars, with BART seeking to expand 
this quantity to 1,000 cars or more. The first 10 cars are due to BART in 2015 for 
testing and evaluation, with cars expected to enter service at the end of FY17.  


To prepare for the incoming new fleet and for upcoming extensions, BART must 
expand its maintenance shop capacity. The Hayward Maintenance Complex (HMC) 
project will provide needed maintenance and storage capacity for car repair shops, 
component repair shops, and infrastructure shops to support the southern 
expansion to Warm Springs and Berryessa. This project will reconfigure the existing 
Hayward revenue vehicle shop for increased primary repair shop capacity and 
procure a 26-acre parcel for new shops. The new shops introduce a new 
component repair shop, a vehicle-level overhaul shop, a new central parts 
warehouse, and a new maintenance and engineering repair shop. This integrated 
solution meets the requirements for the new revenue car fleet, including 
expansion of the fleet, while also helping move needed maintenance capacity 
southward to support maintenance of BART’s 16 miles of extensions.  


These projects are further described in Chapter 5.  


Vehicle Storage and Staging 


BART's current system is configured for five lines of service. These service patterns 
are supported by four major yards, three of which are primary 24-hour servicing 
locations. 


The four major yards are Concord Yard with 283 revenue vehicles currently 
assigned, Richmond Yard with 285 vehicles assigned, Daly City Yard with 101 
vehicles assigned, and Hayward Yard, which is currently used for program works 
and specialized repairs. Incidental overnight vehicle storage takes place at the 
terminal end points of Millbrae, Pittsburg/Bay Point, and Dublin/Pleasanton. 


  







Overview of BART System 


2-22 


Train Control, Power Systems, Communications, and 
Administration 


Most of BART’s administrative staff is located in downtown Oakland at 300 
Lakeside Drive near the 19th Street station. The Operations Control Center (OCC) 
houses BART's central train control computer system that supervises train 
movements 24 hours a day. OCC train controllers and other BART certified 
personnel monitor train movements and can override the automatic system if 
needed. A telephone system connects the OCC to station agents and each station 
has radios for direct contact to the OCC in the event of emergencies, delays, 
problems, or other events. In addition, OCC personnel can monitor train 
movements and activities in and around stations via remote cameras located at key 
points.  


BART systems that control ventilation, coordinate emergency response, and 
monitor electricity to the system are also located in the OCC facility. BART’s “third 
rail” provides 1,000 volt DC electricity to propel trains at up to 80 miles per hour.  


Security 


The safety and security of passengers, employees and the general public is BART’s 
highest priority. Security measures are implemented at all levels of the BART 
organization through both operational activities and capital projects. The BART 
Police Department (BPD) has the lead role for operational security activities and 
works with other departments to coordinate security programs that are risk based 
and intelligence driven. BPD uses the principles of Community Oriented Policing 
and Problem Solving (COPPS) to partner with stakeholders and identify security 
solutions that address root causes of crime and disorder. 


BART identifies security gaps through threat and vulnerability assessments and 
data analysis. Security committees and change control boards use this information 
to provide direction and focus for projects that address identified security gaps.  
BART Facilities Standards (BFS) incorporate Crime Prevention Through 
Environmental Design (CPTED) concepts to ensure that capital improvement 
projects provide security by design.  BART System Safety and Police Departments 
both provide input and oversight to ensure that capital projects meet the BFS 
requirements for safety and security. 







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-1 


3 BART GOAL AREAS, 
OBJECTIVES, AND 
PERFORMANCE EVALUATION 


This chapter describes the goals and objectives that BART works to achieve, 
and to what extent the system is meeting these goals. It includes a 
description of the process used to establish goals and objectives for this 
SRTP/CIP, the specific indicators that are used to measure performance, and 
BART’s actual performance over the past 10 years as compared to these 
indicators. The chapter concludes with an additional section that describes 
BART’s compliance with Title VI and FTA Triennial Review, as required by 
MTC’s SRTP guidelines. 


DEVELOPMENT OF GOAL AREAS 


BART’s mission to deliver safe, reliable, customer-oriented transportation 
service has remained the same throughout its 50-year history. Over the years, 
BART has developed and updated a Strategic Plan to link this mission to 
more concrete goals and performance indicators. A future update to BART's 
Strategic Plan will likely include a comprehensive reconsideration of the 
agency’s goals, which will help guide how BART invests in its future. 


In the meantime, to ensure that this document considers BART’s current 
priorities related to safety, reliability, capacity, and sustainability, this 
SRTP/CIP has identified five key goal areas to guide the next 10 years of 
BART’s investments: 


 Safety 
 Service reliability 
 System effectiveness 
 Customer experience 
 Sustainability 


OBJECTIVES AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  


To gauge BART’s progress in each of these goal areas, specific objectives 
have been identified, each of which has a measureable indicator(s) 







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-2 


associated with it. The FY15 SRTP/CIP goal areas, objectives, and 
performance indicators are shown in Figure 3-1.  


To calculate BART’s current performance, data was drawn from BART’s 
Quarterly Performance Reports, the biennial Customer Satisfaction Survey, 
and mandatory metrics reported to MTC as part of the Transit Sustainability 
Project (TSP). MTC’s TSP recommendations establish performance measures, 
performance standards, and a monitoring process for BART and the other 
large transit operators in the Bay Area. Per MTC Resolution 4060, SRTP/CIPs 
are required to be consistent with the TSP process and demonstrate progress 
toward achievement of one of the TSP performance measures.  


The TSP performance standard is a 5% real reduction by FY17 in at least one 
of three performance measures and no growth above the Consumer Price 
Index (CPI) thereafter. The TSP Performance Measures as defined by the 
Transportation Development Act are:  


 Cost per service hour 
 Cost per passenger 
 Cost per passenger mile 


To account for the results of recent cost control strategies by transit 
agencies, the baseline year to measure against is set as the highest cost year 
between FY08 and FY11.  


BART’s performance versus the standard for each of these three measures is 
described in this document. BART has met the cost per passenger and cost 
per passenger mile standards for the first five year period (FY08-FY13). 
However, BART’s planned expansion projects may impact BART’s ability to 
meet these standards in the future. BART will work with MTC to determine 
how to comply with Resolution 4060 moving forward, given that the costs 
associated with expansion projects and near-term operations and 
maintenance needs for an aging system are not specifically addressed in the 
TSP.  
 







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 


3-3 


Figure 3-1 BART FY15 SRTP/CIP Goal Areas, Objectives, and Performance Indicators 


Goal Area Objective Performance Indicator Performance Standard FY13 Performance 


Service 
reliability 


Improved service 
reliability 


On-time performance1 


Customers6:  96% (peak)  
96% (daily) 


Trains6:  94% (peak) 
94% (daily) 


Customers:  94.6% (peak) 
94.94% (daily) 


Trains:  91.7% (peak) 
93.1% (daily) 


Peak car availability1 
573 cars at commencement 
of morning service 


587 cars at commencement of 
morning service 


Mean time between 
service delays1 


3,500 hours between service 
delays (on average)  


3,758 hours between service 
delays (on average) 


Safety 


Continued 
passenger safety 


incidents1 


5.5 station incidents per 
million passengers 
1.3 vehicle incidents per 
million passengers 


5.2 station incidents per 
million passengers 
0.9 vehicle incidents per 
million passengers 


Continued 
employee safety 


Injuries to BART workers1 13.3 recordable injuries per 
OSHA 


15.8 recordable injuries per 
OSHA 


System 
effectiveness 


Enhanced 
efficiency 


Cost per revenue vehicle 
hour2 


$240.10 per hour $259.21 per hour 


Cost per passenger2 $3.95 per passenger $3.73 per passenger 


Cost per passenger mile2 $0.31 per passenger mile $0.29 per passenger mile 


Rail farebox ratio3 73.4%  73.7% 


Accommodating 
more passengers 


Weekday ridership3 376,475 passengers  392,293 passengers 


Customer 
experience 


Accessibility and 
access  


Elevator/escalator 
availability1 


Station elevators:  98% 
Garage elevators:  98% 
Street escalators:   95% 
Platform escalators: 96% 


Station elevators:  98.6% 
Garage elevators:  96.9% 
Street escalators:   89.6% 
Platform escalators: 94.8%  


Customer 
experience 


Overall satisfaction4 N/A  84% Satisfied 


BART as "good value"4 N/A  70% Agree 


Cleanliness of trains4 N/A  


Train interiors: 4.49  
Train floors: 4.28 
Train seats: 4.18  
(1=Poor, 7= Excellent) 


Cleanliness of stations4 N/A 4.6  (1=Poor, 7= Excellent) 


Customer complaints1 
5.07 complaints per 100,000 
riders 


4.2 complaints per 100,000 
riders 


Enhanced security 
Police response time1 


5 minute police response 
time 


4.6 minute police response 
time 


Crimes against 
person/million riders1 


2 crimes per million riders 
2.2 crimes per million riders 


Financial 
Sustainability  Financial health Prudent reserve5 


Maintain an operating 
reserve equal to 5% of 
operating costs 


$33.1 million 


NOTE: BART Performance Standards and FY13 Performance taken from the following sources. 


1 BART Quarterly Performance Report 


2 Transit Sustainability Project BART Performance Indicators Report 


3 BART FY 13 Budget and Quarterly Performance Report 


4 2012 Customer Satisfaction Survey 


5 BART Financial Stability Policy 


6 BART Performance Standard changed in FY15 to Customers: 95% and Trains: 92%.  







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 


3-4 


HISTORICAL BART SYSTEM PERFORMANCE 


BART reports its performance as compared to established performance 
standards, a comparison that highlights where the system is succeeding and 
which areas require more attention. Every three months, the Quarterly 
Performance Report allows the Board and staff to evaluate the status of a 
comprehensive set of performance measures; this is the source of much of 
the data that is provided in this section. BART also relies on data reported to 
MTC as part of the TSP and the biennial Customer Satisfaction Survey.  


Provided below is a 10-year retrospective of three major operating statistics: 
ridership, annual revenue miles, and annual revenue hours as well as BART’s 
10-year financial history. Next, a detailed description of BART’s performance 
as compared to each of the nine performance standards for the past 10 years 
(FY04-FY13) is provided. 


Ridership Retrospective 


Ridership is one of the key measures of BART’s success. Between FY04 and 
FY13, BART’s ridership grew by almost 28%, from 306,600 to 392,300 on an 
average weekday. Within that timeframe, ridership increased steadily, with 
one exception in FY10 when ridership gains were interrupted by the effects 
of the most recent recession. The system also recorded an all-time daily 
ridership high of almost 570,000 passengers on October 31, 2012 and an all-
time high of 117.8 million annual trips for FY13.  


Figure 3-2 shows average weekday, Saturday, Sunday, and total annual 
linked trips for the past 10 fiscal years. Figure 3-3 graphically illustrates the 
trend in total annual trips over this time period.  


Ridership trends largely reflect the health of the economy overall; travel 
increases when the economy is healthy and declines during times of 
recession. Described below are key economic milestones and a description of 
their effects on ridership over the past 10 years:  


 Starting in the summer of 2003, when the region began pulling out of 
the 2001 dot-com recession, BART ridership began to increase.  


 Ridership declined in early 2009 in response to the next recession, with 
ridership reaching its lowest point in the summer and fall of 2009 
(FY10).  A year-to-year ridership decline of 10% was observed for the 
summer of 2009. 


 Monthly ridership loss persisted until July 2010, when trips started to 
grow again very slightly.  


 Although moving in a positive direction, ridership growth was 
inconsistent until early 2011, when growth of around 4% to 6% 







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-5 


indicated that the region’s recovery from the recession was actually 
taking hold. 


 Bay Bridge toll increases and increases in gas prices were also factors 
that likely contributed to making BART a more attractive option 
compared to the automobile. 


Other factors that impacted ridership fluctuations during the 10-year period 
are:  


 Since January 2010, BART ridership in San Francisco has been impacted 
by Muni’s implementation of a two-tier Fast Pass pricing structure. The 
“A” Fast Pass, currently $76, is accepted both on Muni and BART 
within San Francisco, while the “M” Fast Pass, currently $66, is 
accepted on Muni only. Since the introduction of the more expensive 
“A” Fast Pass, Fast Pass trips on BART have declined by 41%, from 12.1 
million trips in calendar year 2009 to 7.1 million trips in calendar year 
2013. This decline has been only partially offset by riders taking intra-
San Francisco trips using BART’s fare media. 


 The West Dublin/Pleasanton Station opened in February 2011. 
Currently, ridership at this station averages about 6,800 weekday 
entries and exits combined. About two-thirds of these trips are 
estimated to be new riders and the rest of trips are assumed to be 
existing riders who have shifted away from using the existing 
Dublin/Pleasanton Station.  


 In general, over the 10-year period, ridership growth on the SFO 
Extension in San Mateo County outpaced growth in the rest of the 
system. Ridership grew from approximately 25,000 weekday trips in 
FY04 (the first year of SFO Extension service) to nearly 46,000 weekday 
trips in FY13. About 12% of all air travelers at the San Francisco 
International Airport use BART to access or depart the airport. 


 BART’s all-time ridership record was set on October 31, 2012, when 
nearly 570,000 riders took BART on a single day as the region 
celebrated the Giants’ 2012 World Series victory. The Giants’ World 
Series victory parade on November 3, 2010 resulted in the second 
highest number of trips in a day, when over 522,000 people rode 
BART. 


 With continued growth in the local economy, FY13 saw strong 
ridership increases, averaging about 392,300 trips on an average 
weekday (a 7% increase over FY12). Growing ridership shows the 
important role BART plays in connecting the Bay Area and in 
facilitating economic recovery locally. 







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-6 


Figure 3-2 BART Weekday Ridership FY04-FY13 (rounded to nearest 100) 


 


Average 
Weekday 


Trips 


C
h


an
g


e 


Average 
Saturday 


Trips 


C
h


an
g


e 


Average 
Sunday Trips 


C
h


an
g


e Total 
Passenger 


Trips 
(Linked) 1 


C
h


an
g


e 


FY04 306,600 -- 145,400 -- 104,300 – 91,042,200 – 


FY05 310,700 1% 150,000 3% 108,700 5% 92,756,100 2% 


FY06 323,000 4% 161,900 8% 116,500 6% 96,852,200 4% 


FY07 339,400 5% 172,000 6% 124,900 8% 101,704,400 5% 


FY08 357,800 5% 181,200 5% 132,500 6% 107,487,600 6% 


FY09 356,700 0% 182,800 1% 130,200 -2% 106,874,400 -1% 


FY10 335,000 -6% 175,200 -4% 125,300 -4% 101,003,800 -5% 


FY11 345,300 3% 173,400 -1% 126,400 1% 103,713,500 3% 


FY12 366,600 6% 190,000 10% 138,800 10% 110,777,000 7% 


FY13 392,300 7% 202,900 7% 148,200 6% 117,815,100 6% 


NOTE:   


1 A linked trip is a trip from origin to destination. Even if a passenger must make a transfer, the trip is counted as one linked trip. 


 


Figure 3-3 BART Annual Ridership FY04-FY13 


 


Revenue Service Hours and Miles Retrospective 


While ridership increased over the past 10 years, BART’s revenue service 
hours and miles remained steady overall. The following events explain the 
few fluctuations that did occur over this time period: 


 Between FY04 and FY07, the variation in service hours and service 
miles was related to the changing operating plans for serving the SFO 
extension. 


80 


90 


100 


110 


120 


FY04 FY05 FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13


M
ill
io
n
s







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-7 


 FY08 and FY09 saw an increase in service hours and/or service miles 
related to the January 2008 increase in off-peak service frequency 
(off-peak headways were reduced from 20 to 15 minutes). 


 Service hours and service miles decreased in FY10, following the 
September 2009 return to 20 minute off-peak headways. The return 
to prior service levels was mainly due to budget considerations, but 
declining fleet reliability, due in part to increased off-peak service 
frequency between January 2008 and September 2009, also had an 
effect. 


Figures 3-4 and Figure 3-5 show a 10-year retrospective summary of BART’s 
revenue service hours and revenue service miles. 


 


Figure 3-4 BART Revenue Service Hours FY04-FY13 (rounded to nearest 1,000) 


 


Revenue 
Service 
Hours 


Change 
from 
Prior 
Year 


 


FY04 1,842,000 – 


FY05 1,774,000 -4% 


FY06 1,820,000 3% 


FY07 1,844,000 1% 


FY08 1,940,000 5% 


FY09 1,941,000 0% 


FY10 1,780,000 -8% 


FY11 1,774,000 0% 


FY12 1,800,000 1% 


FY13 1,821,000 1% 


 


  


1,500 


1,550 


1,600 


1,650 


1,700 


1,750 


1,800 


1,850 


1,900 


1,950 


2,000 


Th
o
u
sa
n
d
s







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-8 


 
Figure 3-5 BART Revenue Service Miles FY04-FY13 (rounded to nearest 1,000) 


 
Revenue 


Service Miles 


Change 
from 
Prior 
Year 


 


FY04 62,373,000 – 


FY05 60,004,000 -4% 


FY06 62,089,000 3% 


FY07 64,330,000 4% 


FY08 66,988,000 4% 


FY09 67,843,000 1% 


FY10 63,237,000 -7% 


FY11 63,347,000 0% 


FY12 64,266,000 1% 


FY13 65,652,000 2% 


55 


57 


59 


61 


63 


65 


67 


69 


M
ill
io
n
s







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 


3-9 


BART Financial Retrospective 


Figure 3-6 illustrates BART’s actual financial outcomes for the previous 10 fiscal years (FY04 through FY13).  


 


Figure 3-6 BART Operating Financial History ($ millions) 


 FY04 FY05 FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13


Operating Revenue 


Net rail revenue $219.9 $233.1 $255.6 $281.5 $308.9  $317.5 $331.4 $342.7 $366.5 $406.1 


ADA 0.5 0.5 0.6 0.6 0.6  0.6 0.7 0.8 0.9 0.8 


Subtotal net passenger revenue 220.4 233.7 256.2 282.1 309.5  318.1 332.0 343.5 367.3 406.9 


Parking revenue 4.3 3.8 5.0 8.7 10.2  11.2 11.8 14.0 14.8 15.7 


Other operating revenue 11.1 13.3 18.5 22.0 22.1  20.0 24.9 19.5 19.8 20.7 


Subtotal non-fare revenue 15.5 17.1 23.4 30.7 32.3  31.2 36.7 33.5 34.6 36.4 


Total Operating Revenue 235.9 250.8 279.7 312.8 341.8  349.3 368.7 377.0 402.0 443.3 


Tax and Financial Assistance 


Sales tax 170.6 178.4 191.7 198.8 202.6  184.3 166.5 180.8 195.2 208.6 


Property tax 21.4 22.4 24.3 27.4 29.0  30.4 30.1 29.5 29.7 31.7 


State Transit Assistance (STA) 0.0 0.0 3.5 21.2 21.7  0.0 0.0 19.7 18.3 17.3 


ARRA grants/feeder swap 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0  0.0 25.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 


SamTrans - SFO operations 17.9 14.7 10.2 4.7 6.0  2.8 2.9 1.5 0.0 0.0 


Allocations from reserves 0.0 12.0 0.0 0.0 5.6  26.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 


Other 2.0 1.9 2.1 7.0 7.2  7.0 9.2 6.7 4.9 6.5 


Rail car fund swap 0.0 0.0 0.0 22.7 22.7  22.7 22.7 0.0 26.7 24.0 


Total Financial Assistance 211.8 229.5 231.8 281.8 294.8  273.7 256.8 238.2 274.8 288.0 


TOTAL SOURCES 447.7 480.2 511.4 594.6 636.6  623.0 625.5 615.1 676.8 731.3 


 


(Continued on following page)  







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-10 


 FY04 FY05 FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13


Expenses 


Net labor 275.1 313.1 315.0 326.7 360.6 381.7 352.3 352.9 375.6 401.2 


OPEB unfunded liability1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 21.3 5.2 14.4 5.4 5.1 5.8 


Traction/station power 24.1 18.1 20.9 34.8 34.6  36.8 35.3 35.3 35.1 37.3 


Other non labor 68.4 74.4 80.3 92.8 89.6  91.2 87.4 83.2 99.0 106.7 


Subtotal Rail Operating Expenses 367.6 405.6 416.2 454.3 506.1 514.9 489.4 476.8 514.8 551.1


Feeder bus/purchased transportation 4.9 4.8 2.4 2.7 2.8 3.7 11.0 2.6 2.7 3.5 


ADA paratransit service 9.4 9.1 9.3 10.0 10.3 11.0 11.9 12.1 12.2 12.4 


Rail car fund swap 0.0 0.0 0.0 22.7 22.7  22.7 22.7 0.0 25.9 24.0 


Subtotal Non-Rail Expenses 14.4 13.9 11.7 35.4 35.9  37.4 45.6 14.6 40.8 39.9 


Total operating expense 381.9 419.5 427.9 489.8 542.0  552.3 534.9 491.4 555.6 591.0 


Debt Service and Allocations 


Debt service 59.4 59.5 62.7 70.3 65.9  67.7 68.5 59.2 62.3 62.5 


Capital and other allocations 8.0 5.5 15.4 25.4 17.2  8.2 33.4 68.4 52.2 31.1 


Allocations to/from SFO reserve 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 17.5  0.0 0.7 0.0 8.6 7.0 


Allocation - rail cars 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0  0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 45.6 


Operating reserve allocations 0.0 0.0 8.1 7.6 15.3  0.0 0.0 0.0 3.3 0.0 


Total Debt Service and Allocations 67.4 65.0 86.3 104.4 115.9  75.9 102.5 127.6 126.4 146.2 


OPEB unfunded liability1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (21.3) (5.2) (14.4) (5.4) (5.1) (5.8) 


TOTAL USES 449.3 484.5 514.2 594.1 636.6  623.0 623.1 613.6 676.8 731.3 


ANNUAL FINANCIAL RESULTS ($M) ($1.7) ($4.3) ($2.7) $0.4 $0.0  $0.0 $2.4 $1.5 $0.0 $0.0 


Rail farebox ratio 59.8% 57.5% 61.4% 62.0% 61.0% 61.7% 67.7% 71.9% 71.2% 73.7% 


Operating ratio 61.8% 59.8% 65.4% 67.0% 65.8% 66.0% 72.0% 76.7% 75.9% 78.2% 


Rail cost per passenger mile 29.9¢ 32.3¢ 31.8¢ 33.2¢ 33.5¢ 35.7¢ 35.6¢ 33.0¢ 33.3¢ 33.4¢ 


NOTES:  


1 OPEB: Other Post Employment Benefits.







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-11 


Service Reliability Evaluation 


Service Reliability – On-Time Performance (Customer and Train) 


The ability of BART to maintain its published schedules and train frequencies 
is the single most important factor that impacts customer perception of 
BART’s reliability. BART measures its on-time performance with regard to its 
customers and trains during peak hours and on the average weekday. To be 
“on-time,” a train/customer must arrive at the destination station less than 
five minutes late compared to published schedules. Train on time represents 
the percentage of trains that dispatch from their scheduled start point, 
provide service to all stations without run through, offload or cancellation, 
and arrive at the end point less than five minutes late compared to schedule 
arrival. BART aims to deliver 96% of its customers on-time and ensure 94% 
of its trains arrive on-time.1  


As shown in Figure 3-7, BART has met its customer daily on-time 
performance benchmarks every year for the last 10 years, and has met the 
peak period customer on-time performance for the past seven years. 
However, BART has largely fallen short of delivering 94% of its trains on 
time over the last 10 years with between 89% and 93% of peak period trains 
on time and 91% to 94% of daily trains on time (Figure 3-8). While the on-
time performance during peak hours is worse than the overall daily on-time 
performance, it has experienced greater improvement between FY04 and 
FY13.  


                                                 


1 BART Performance Standard changed in FY15 to Customers: 95% and Trains : 92%.   







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-12 


Figure 3-7 Customer On-time Performance   


 


 


Figure 3-8 Train On-time Performance  


 
  


94.97% 94.90% 94.97% 95.38%
94.70% 95.04%


95.72%
94.55%


95.71%
94.94%


92.8% 93.2% 92.6%


94.8% 94.7% 94.2%
95.6%


94.2%
95.5%


94.6%


80.00%


85.00%


90.00%


95.00%


100.00%


FY04 FY05 FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13


Customers on time (Daily) Customers on time (Peak)


92.7%
91.9%


92.4% 92.3%
91.5%


92.7%
93.4%


91.9%


93.9%
93.1%


90.0%
89.0%


90.1%


91.4%
90.9% 90.6%


92.6%


90.9%


93.0%


91.7%


80.0%


85.0%


90.0%


95.0%


FY04 FY05 FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13


Trains on time (Daily) Trains on time (Peak)







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-13 


Service Reliability – Peak Car Availability 


BART’s ability to provide reliable service is integrally related to how many 
clean, functioning vehicles are available to commence service every morning. 
To ensure high reliability, BART specifies a number of cars that must be 
available to provide peak period revenue service at the start of service each 
morning. This standard has fluctuated over time alongside service changes 
from as low as 555 vehicles to a high of 577 vehicles; the current need is 573 
cars. As shown in Figure 3-9, BART met its standard every year from FY04 to 
FY13 except in FY09, when the standard was temporarily set at 577 cars and 
BART achieved only 575 cars available on average. This was the only year 
that BART set a standard as high as 577 cars. 


Figure 3-9 Peak Car Availability 


 


 


  


582 582 578
587


599


575
584 582 585 587


500


550


600


650


FY04 FY05 FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-14 


Service Reliability – Mean Time between Service Delays 


Another standard indicator used by transit agencies to track the reliability of 
their infrastructure is the amount of time that passes, on average, between 
service failures. BART aims for a minimum of 3,500 hours as the mean time 
between service failures. From FY04 to FY13, BART has steadily improved its 
performance with regard to this indicator, almost doubling the average time 
that elapses between failures from 1,901 hours in FY04 to 3,758 hours in 
FY13 (Figure 3-10). This steady improvement is a result of refinements in 
BART’s asset maintenance and management strategy under the SMP. 


Figure 3-10 Mean Time between Service Delays (hours) 


 


  


1,901  2,016 


2,435 


3,004  3,007 
2,683  2,796 


2,995 
3,216 


3,758 


‐


500 


1,000 


1,500 


2,000 


2,500 


3,000 


3,500 


4,000 


FY04 FY05 FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-15 


Safety Evaluation  


Continued Passenger Safety – Incidents 


BART has consistently met its standards for passenger safety for the past 10 
years as measured by station and vehicle incidents per million passengers. 
BART sets a goal of no more than 5.5 station incidents per million passengers 
and 1.3 vehicle incidents per million passengers. Station incidents and vehicle 
incidents are all incidents that meet the FTA criteria as “reportable” (mostly 
injuries and illnesses) and occur either in BART station areas or on BART train 
cars. 


Between FY04 and FY13, station incidents have consistently met this 
standard. The average number of vehicle incidents also has been consistently 
less than 1.3 incidents per million passengers for the 10 year period; every 
year except FY04 had less than one incident per million passengers, as shown 
in Figure 3-11.  


Figure 3-11 Incidents 


 


Continued Employee Safety – Injuries in BART Workers 


BART takes the safety of its employees very seriously. As such, reducing 
workplace incidents is a high priority. One metric BART uses to monitor its 
performance in keeping its employees safe is the number of worker injuries. 
The actual safety standard is calculated according to national standards 
provided by the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) of 
the U.S. Department of Labor. OSHA provides “incidence rates,” which show 
the relative level of injuries and illnesses among different industries, 
organizations, or operations within a single organization. These rates are 


5.5
5.1


4.9


4.2 4.1
4.3 4.3 4.2


3.9


5.2


1.4
0.9 0.9


0.6 0.8 0.9 0.9 0.8 0.9 0.9


0.0


1.0


2.0


3.0


4.0


5.0


6.0


FY04 FY05 FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13


Station Incidents Per Million Patrons Vehicle Incidents Per Million Patrons







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-16 


designed to help employers accurately evaluate their firm's injury and illness 
record and determine both problem areas and progress in preventing work-
related injuries and illnesses.2 The number of worker’s compensation injuries 
(a broader definition of injuries) has remained relatively steady over the past 
10 years. 


BART targets no more than 13.3 “recordable injuries per OSHA,” calculated 
as the number of OSHA-recordable injuries and illnesses per million hours 
worked by BART employees, multiplied by the OSHA incidence rate.3  


Between FY04 and FY13, recordable injuries per OSHA varied greatly, 
ranging from 9.1 to 16.8 recordable injuries, as shown in Figure 3-12. FY08 
had a noticeably low number of recordable injuries per OSHA, but this 
metric has risen steadily in the recent years. For the past 3 years, BART has 
not met the standard of a maximum of 13.3 injuries per OSHA.  


Figure 3-12 OSHA Recordable Injuries per OSHA 


 


BART’s Enhanced Safety Systems and Protocols 


To address safety concerns, BART has several initiatives that will be 
implemented in the coming year, which are included in the FY15 budget.  


GO 175/Wayside Worker Safety Program 


The California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) adopted General Order 175 
(GO 175) on Roadway Worker Protection in October 2013, which requires all 


                                                 


2 Bureau of Labor Statistics, Injuries, Illnesses, and Fatalities, “How to Compute a Firm’s Incidence Rate for Safety 
Management.” http://www.bls.gov/iif/osheval.htm  
3 “Recordable injuries per OSHA” = number of injuries and illnesses / hours worked by BART employees x 200,000 


16.8


15.5


11.3 11.0


9.1


11.2


12.9


14.8 15.3
15.8


0.0


2.0


4.0


6.0


8.0


10.0


12.0


14.0


16.0


18.0


FY04 FY05 FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-17 


California rail transit agencies to comply with a comprehensive set of safety 
requirements for wayside workers. In response, BART has developed and is in 
the process of implementing a new and enhanced wayside program. It 
includes more restrictive operating rules on wayside activities and 
procedures for how these activities should be performed by BART wayside 
workers and contractors. The program’s goal is to provide improved 
protection for employees in the BART right-of-way. To that end, BART has to 
acquire additional resources to fully implement the new roadway worker 
protection program and comply with GO 175. 


Under the new program, work orders from the Operations Control Center 
(OCC) are required for all work performed in the trackway during revenue 
hours. Work orders result in reduced train speeds and, therefore, negatively 
impact service. BART plans to reduce the negative impact by moving most of 
the scheduled maintenance work from daytime hours to overnight hours. 
However, this will require a significant increase in the number of 
maintenance personnel to schedule, prioritize, plan, and perform this new 
work load during non-revenue hours. This displaced work load is in addition 
to the nightly maintenance work, CPUC-mandated inspections, and capital 
project support that already must be performed during the non-revenue 
service hours. As roadway worker activities increase during the non-revenue 
service hours, BART will also need new resources to focus on wayside safety 
implementation and to provide safety support during this critical 
organizational change. These resources will also assist in administering the 
new near-miss reporting program, another requirement of GO 175. 


Starting in FY15, BART will be investing $5.3 million in operating funds to 
address these new safety rules, including 40 additional positions with 
ongoing annual operating costs. This investment includes the establishment 
of a Maintenance Operations Center (MOC) to coordinate maintenance 
activities during non-revenue hours. The FY15 capital budget includes $1.7 
million of a $4.0 million project to construct right-of-way fencing at strategic 
locations that will provide additional worker safety and allow for staging of 
maintenance work during revenue hours. These additional investments are 
necessary to ensure that BART complies with GO 175 and that BART staff has 
the time and equipment necessary to maintain the track, traction power, 
and train control systems in proper working condition.  


Safety Culture Improvement Program 


In addition to GO 175-required investments, BART’s Safety Department will 
implement a Safety Culture Improvement Program (SCIP) in FY15, with a 
goal to reduce injury rates. This interdisciplinary program will include 
enhanced tracking of safety metrics and inspections, enhanced employee 
safety training, and an incentive program to reward employees who are 
working safely. In the first year, five BART departments will participate: 







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-18 


Rolling Stock and Shops; Power and Mechanical; Treasury; Systems 
Maintenance; and, Facilities and Wayside. In subsequent years, the 
Transportation Department will participate. The goal of the program is to 
reduce injury rates and associated costs to a point where the program can 
pay for itself. The program is currently under development and projected to 
be rolled out during the last quarter of FY15.  


Safety Management Software Program 


BART is also undertaking an initiative to implement a new Safety 
Management Software Program (SMSP) in FY15. System Safety staff needs to 
replace several antiquated databases that are used to store, process, and 
manage safety data. Currently, information from hundreds of handwritten 
injuries reports and Unusual Occurrence Reports must be manually entered—
a labor-intensive process. Further, these safety data, information, and trends 
are not available to System Safety staff and managers in a timely fashion.  


SMSP can drastically reduce paper-based reports, increase productivity at 
various departments, and improve the efficiency of safety data reporting. 
The SMSP contains a "safety dashboard" that provides the status of real-time 
system safety health and enhances the accountability of all departments for 
their safety performance.  Overall, SMSP significantly improves how safety 
issues are tracked, managed, and closed and gives all personnel access to 
that real-time information simultaneously. 


System Effectiveness Evaluation 


Three of the most common metrics used by transit agencies to measure 
system efficiency and cost effectiveness are the three reported here: cost per 
vehicle hour, per passenger, and per passenger mile. These are also the three 
metrics established by the TSP recommendations (MTC Resolution 4060) that 
all large Bay Area transit operators must meet. The TSP standard is set as the 
highest cost year between FY08 and FY11 and the performance standard is a 
5% real reduction in at least one of three performance measures by FY17. 
For BART, this means that the system must achieve one of the following 
three performance standards by FY17 (all are denominated in FY08 constant 
dollars which is the baseline year for the TSP): 


 Cost per revenue vehicle hour = $240.10 
 Cost per passenger (unlinked) = $3.95 
 Cost per passenger mile = $0.31 


Another indicator commonly used by BART to measure efficiency, 
effectiveness, and productivity is the rail farebox ratio, also reported below. 







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-19 


Enhanced Efficiency – Cost per Revenue Vehicle Hour 


Between FY04 and FY13, cost per revenue vehicle hour has fluctuated from 
$227 per hour up to $261 per hour in the most recent year for which there is 
data (Figure 3-13). As of FY13, BART is not meeting the TSP standard of $240 
per revenue vehicle hour, maximum. 


Figure 3-13 Cost per Revenue Vehicle Hour (in FY08$) 


Enhanced Efficiency – Cost per Passenger 


Due to increasing ridership between FY04 and FY13, BART’s cost per 
passenger steadily decreased from $4.29 to $3.76 per passenger (Figure 3-
14). Therefore, BART is already meeting its TSP standard of $3.95 per 
passenger and has been for the past 3 years.  


Figure 3-14 Cost per Passenger (in FY08$) 


 
  


$227


$254 $246
$257 $247 $245 $253 $242 $251 $261


$0


$50


$100


$150


$200


$250


$300


FY04 FY05 FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13


$4.29 
$4.55 


$4.32  $4.35 
$4.16  $4.15  $4.16 


$3.87  $3.83  $3.76 


$0.00 


$0.50 


$1.00 


$1.50 


$2.00 


$2.50 


$3.00 


$3.50 


$4.00 


$4.50 


$5.00 


FY04 FY05 FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-20 


Enhanced Efficiency – Cost per Passenger Mile  


Like the prior metric, between FY04 and FY13, BART’s cost per passenger 
mile exhibited a decreasing trend, declining from $0.34 in FY04 to $0.29 in 
FY13 (Figure 3-15). Also like the prior metric, for the past 3 years, BART has 
been meeting the TSP standard of $0.31 per passenger mile.  


Figure 3-15 Cost per Passenger Mile (in FY08$) 


 


  


$0.34 
$0.36 


$0.34  $0.35 
$0.33  $0.33  $0.32 


$0.30  $0.29  $0.29 


$0.00 


$0.05 


$0.10 


$0.15 


$0.20 


$0.25 


$0.30 


$0.35 


$0.40 


FY04 FY05 FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-21 


Enhanced Efficiency – Rail Farebox Ratio 


The rail farebox ratio is the portion of rail operating cost that is funded 
through passenger fares. BART recovered approximately 73.7% of operating 
expenses from fares in FY13, exceeding the FY13 performance standard of 
73.4%. In fact, BART has historically had one of the highest farebox ratios 
among all operators of heavy rail in the U.S., as shown in the Figure 3-16. 
The last 10 years of BART’s farebox ratio is shown in Figure 3-6 above.  


 
Figure 3-16 Farebox Ratios for U.S. Heavy Rail Operators (2012)4 


Agency Farebox Ratio 


BART 75.0% 


New York City Transit (NYCT) 73.2% 


Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority (WMATA) 67.5% 


Port Authority Transit Corporation (PATCO) 57.1% 


Southeastern Pennsylvania Transportation Authority (SEPTA) 52.8% 


Massachusetts Bay Transportation Authority (MBTA) 52.4% 


Chicago Transit Authority (CTA) 51.0% 


Metropolitan Atlanta Rapid Transit Authority (MARTA) 39.6% 


LA County Metropolitan Transportation Authority (LA Metro) 31.9% 


Source: National Transit Database (NTD) 2012 data 


  


                                                 


4 National Transit Database (NTD) data, the source of these figures, excludes certain operating expenses, such as 
building leases, legal settlements, and Other Post Employment Benefits (OPEB). As a result, BART’s NTD farebox 
ratio is slightly higher than the numbers reported in the Financial History in Figure 3-6.  







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-22 


Accommodating More Passengers – Ridership  


BART’s ability to keep up with increasing demand is a key indicator of the 
system’s success and effectiveness. BART’s performance standard in FY13 was 
to carry an average of 376,475 passengers every weekday; the agency 
exceeded that standard by achieving an average of 392,293 passengers and 
aims to support 405,426 weekday riders in FY15 as shown in Figure 3-17.  


Figure 3-17 Average Weekday Ridership 


 


  


306,550 


310,717 


322,965 


339,359 


357,775 


356,712 


334,984 


345,256 


366,565 
392,293 


‐


50,000 


100,000 


150,000 


200,000 


250,000 


300,000 


350,000 


400,000 


450,000 


FY04 FY05 FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-23 


Customer Experience Evaluation 


Accessibility and Access – Elevator/Escalator Availability 


To ensure all passengers are readily able to access stations, BART aims to 
keep at least 98% of its station and garage elevators in service at all times 
and 95% and 96% of its street and platform escalators in service, 
respectively. BART was successful in meeting each of these performance 
standards through FY10. However, between FY10 and FY13, the availability 
of BART’s garage elevators and platform escalators has each dipped a few 
percentage points below the standard, and street escalator availability has 
dipped significantly (Figure 3-18). To address problems with elevators, BART 
station agents have been assigned to inspect elevators every two hours and 
to keep track of the results.    


Figure 3-18 Elevators and Escalators Availability 


 
  


75%


80%


85%


90%


95%


100%


FY04 FY05 FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13


Station elevators in service  Garage elevators in service 


Street Escalators in service  Platform Escalators in service







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-24 


Customer Experience – Customer Satisfaction 


Recent surveys indicate that 84% of riders are “very satisfied” or somewhat 
satisfied; only 5% say they are “dissatisfied” with BART’s services. The overall 
level of satisfaction among riders has been fairly consistent over time. 
However, in 2012, BART experienced an increase in those who are “very 
satisfied.” Additionally, there is variation among passengers depending on 
which period of the day they ride BART. Off-peak and weekend riders are 
more likely to say they are “very satisfied” with BART service, whereas peak 
period riders are more likely to be only “somewhat satisfied.”  


Customer Experience – BART as "Good Value" 


The perception of BART as a good value shows a positive trend. In 2012, 70% 
of survey respondents agreed that BART was a good value as compared to 
64% in the 2010 customer survey. Of the 70% positive rating, 30% strongly 
agreed and 40% somewhat agreed that BART is a good value for the money. 
Off-peak riders are more likely to strongly agree that BART is a good value 
(32%) than peak period riders (27%). 


Customer Experience – Cleanliness of Trains 


The 2012 BART Customer Satisfaction survey resulted in a score of 4.49 for 
cleanliness of train interiors, a score of 4.28 for condition/cleanliness of train 
floors, and a score of 4.18 for condition/cleanliness of train seats (on a scale 
of 1 to 7) . These scores represent a slight improvement from the 2010 
survey. The increase in seat cleanliness ratings is attributed to BART’s 
investment in new vinyl seats; he survey revealed that passengers who were 
surveyed on trains with vinyl seats gave significantly higher ratings to seat 
cleanliness than passengers on trains with upholstered seats. As BART 
continues to replace seats, it is expected that the cleanliness ratings will 
improve.  


Customer Experience – Cleanliness of Stations 


Cleanliness of stations is one of the attributes that showed a significant 
decline in customer ratings between 2010 and 2012. The other attributes in 
the 2012 Survey with the largest declines were escalator availability, 
reliability, and elevator cleanliness. BART acknowledges the issues related to 
station cleanliness and attributes the decline to having fewer workers to 
clean the stations than it did 10 years ago (due to budget cuts).   


In the coming year, BART will be dedicating more resources to cleaning the 
stations and hiring additional station cleaners. At key stations in San 
Francisco (the Civic Center and Mission District stations), BART is working 
with community groups to improve the area immediately surrounding the 
stations and increase attention to loitering.  







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-25 


Customer Experience – Customer Complaints 


As part of measuring its customer experience performance, BART aims to 
have a maximum of 5.07 complaints per 100,000 passengers. Between FY04 
to FY13, BART was largely successful in meeting this goal, with a decreasing 
number of complaints over these years, as shown in Figure 3-19. 


Figure 3-19 Customer Complaints per 100,000 Passengers 


 


Enhanced Security – Police Response Time 


BART aims for its BART police officers to respond to incidents within 5 
minutes. Between FY04 and FY13, response time varied between 2.8 minutes 
and 5.0 minutes, as shown in Figure 3-20. Police response time has been on 
the rise in recent years; it was 4.6 minutes on average in FY13.  


5.2


4.2


5.1


4.0


5.0


4.1


4.1


4.0


3.7


4.2


0.0


1.0


2.0


3.0


4.0


5.0


6.0


FY04 FY05 FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13


Involvement in MTC’s Community-Based  
Transportation Planning Program 
BART is committed to serving disadvantaged populations. To that end, BART has 
participated in many Community-Based Transportation Planning efforts that have 
generally been led by Congestion Management Agencies (CMAs) or cities. Additionally, 
BART has performed environmental justice studies to ensure equitable access to all 
BART stations. This is a key aspect of BART’s efforts to ensure it is meeting the needs of 
all of its passengers.  







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-26 


Figure 3-20 Police Response Time per Emergency Incident (minutes) 


 


FY05 Missing data 


Enhanced Security – Crimes per Million Riders  


In monitoring its security standards, BART sets a maximum of 2 crimes per 
million passengers. Between FY04 and FY13, BART was largely successful in 
meeting this performance standard, with the crime rate ranging between 
1.5 and 2.3 incidents per million passengers (Figure 3-21). In the most recent 
year, FY13, BART was slightly above its standard at 2.2 crimes per million 
riders.  


Figure 3-21 Crimes per Million Riders 


 
FY05 Missing data 


4.8


4.2
3.7 3.8 3.8


2.8


4.7
5.0


4.6


0.0


1.0


2.0


3.0


4.0


5.0


6.0


2004 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 20132005


2.0


1.9


2.0


1.5


2.3


1.5


1.7


2.0
2.2


0.0


0.5


1.0


1.5


2.0


2.5


FY04 FY05 FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-27 


Sustainability Evaluation 


Financial Health – Prudent Reserve 


BART's Financial Stability Policy, adopted on March 27, 2003, establishes a 
goal to set aside operating reserves at 5% of operating costs. The full policy 
can be found in Appendix A. The current balance of $33.1 million represents 
5% of current operating costs. In this financial forecast, as operating 
expenses increase in future years, small annual allocations are planned to 
keep the reserve balance at a minimum of 5%. It should be noted that 5% 
may not be sufficient to cover a severe loss or economic downtown. 
However, given the significant demands on limited BART funds, increasing 
the size of its operating reserve may not be an option in the near future.  


COMPLIANCE 


This section describes the agency’s most recent Title VI analysis and report, 
and information on the agency’s most recent FTA Triennial Review, as 
required by the MTC SRTP guidelines.  


Title VI 


BART is required to submit a report to the Federal Transit Administration 
(FTA) every three years detailing its efforts to comply with Title VI of the 
Civil Rights Act of 1964. BART submitted its 2013 Title VI Triennial Program 
Update report for the period January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2013 to the 
FTA in January 2014 in accordance with FTA Circular 4702.1B (effective 
2012).5  


The 2013 Title VI report outlines BART’s service and fare equity analysis 
process, which includes Title VI data collection, data analysis, and results and 
findings of the analysis. The report also includes BART’s Disparate Impact 
and Disproportionate Burden Policy that has thresholds to determine when a 
proposed fare change or major service change would result in a disparate 
impact on or a disproportionate burden on people with limited incomes.  


If the assessment finds that minority riders (as defined by Title VI) experience 
disparate impacts from the proposed new fares, BART will take steps to 
avoid, minimize, or mitigate these disparate impacts. If the additional steps 
do not mitigate the potential disparate impacts on minority riders, pursuant 
to FTA Circular 4702.1B, BART may proceed with the proposed new fares 
only if BART can show: 


                                                 


5 BART’s previous Title VI Program, dated 2011, covered four years due to the FTA Corrective Action Plan. The FTA 
approved submittal of a two-year report to remain up to date on the reporting schedule. BART's next triennial 
review will cover a three-year reporting period. 







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-28 


 A substantial legitimate justification for the proposed new fare; and  
 There are no alternatives serving the same legitimate objectives that 


would have a less disparate impact on minority riders.   
If the assessment finds that low-income riders experience a disproportionate 
burden from the proposed new fare, pursuant to FTA Circular 4702.1B, BART 
should take steps to avoid, minimize, or mitigate these impacts where 
practicable. BART shall also describe alternatives available to low-income 
riders affected by the proposed new fare.  


The complete process for conducting the analysis is documented in BART’s 
2013 Triennial Title VI report, which can be found at www.bart.gov/titlevi.  


In addition to the program-specific data collection and analysis requirements 
stated above, the Title VI Circular also includes a number of general 
reporting requirements that are completed by departments within BART. 
These include, for example, public notification of protection under Title VI; 
Title VI complaint procedures and forms; a policy for providing access for 
limited-English-speaking populations (based on the U.S. Department of 
Transportation’s limited-English-Proficiency [LEP] guidance); inclusive public-
participation processes; a breakdown of minority representation on planning 
and advisory bodies; and, equity analyses of the locations of any proposed 
transit facilities. All of the documentation related to these general reporting 
requirements can be found in BART’s 2013 Title VI Triennial Program update 
report at www.bart.gov/titlevi. 


  







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-29 


FTA Triennial Review 


BART completed its most recent FTA Triennial Review in September 2012. 
BART was found to be compliant in all but one area where deficiencies were 
identified: Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE).  


The findings of the FTA Triennial Review are shown in Figure 3-22. The FTA 
reviewed BART’s response to the above deficiencies, dated January 31, 2013, 
and found that corrective actions to these deficiencies had been achieved 
and no further action was required. The FTA closed the review as of 
February 28, 2013. 


Figure 3-22 FTA Triennial Review Findings 


Review Area Finding Deficiency Corrective Action 
Response 


Date 


Disadvantaged 
Business 
Enterprise 


D-17 Grantee not 
ensuring 
prompt 
payment 


Submit report to Region IX Civil Rights 
Officer on progress in implementing short 
term initiatives identified in the Small 
Business Opportunity Plan and provide an 
update on the Vendor Payment Tracking 
System. The Standard Operating 
Procedures must address compliance with 
DBE program requirements for public 
participation, prompt payment and return 
of retainage, and accurate completion of 
the Uniform Reports. The Uniform Report 
due 12/1/12 must include all required 
information. 


January 
31, 2013 


D-18 Public 
participation 
process 
deficiencies 


D-20 Uniform reports 
do not include 
required 
information 


 


 







BART Goal Areas, Objectives and Performance Evaluation 
 


3-30 


 
This page intentionally left blank. 







 Operating Service Plan and Financial Plan 
 
 


4-1 


4 OPERATING SERVICE PLAN AND 
FINANCIAL PLAN 


This chapter details BART’s long-term operating outlook, rail service plan, and 
operating financial forecast for FY15 through FY24. These 10-year ridership, 
operating service, and financial forecasts help guide BART’s annual budget 
decision-making process and identify potential challenges or opportunities that 
may arise over the next 10 years.  


The financial forecast for the draft SRTP was based upon the FY15 budget, which 
the BART Board adopted on June 12, 2014. 


LONG-TERM OPERATING FINANCIAL OUTLOOK 


This financial forecast shows BART facing major challenges in its operating 
program over the 10 years of this plan: BART must fund critical capital renovations 
and infrastructure upgrades while maintaining high service levels to meet ridership 
demands and operating new system extensions when they come on line.  


A particular challenge will be to provide reliable rail service prior to the receipt of 
new rails cars starting in late FY17. If ridership grows more than forecast, BART will 
not be able to add additional service during the peak periods until new cars are 
available. In addition, running the current fleet of older cars with more passengers 
and more crowding could increase delays and make service less reliable. In the past, 
BART has successfully reinvested in programs like the Strategic Maintenance Plan 
(SMP), which improves car maintenance procedures and processes in order to 
increase car reliability and move cars more quickly from maintenance into revenue 
service. In the future, BART will need to continue to implement innovative 
programs like the SMP.  


In addition, BART is continuing to implement its Asset Management Program 
(AMP) to ensure that it is prioritizing investments that provide the best value and 
address the biggest safety, operational, and financial risks. The BART system is well 
over 40 years old and infrastructure throughout the system requires renovation 
and replacement. The AMP is beginning to identify and prioritize infrastructure 
needs in a manner that allows BART to make its operating and capital investment 
choices based on risk and criticality to safety and system operations, which will 
benefit the financial sustainability of both the operating and capital programs. 


With regard to the projected annual shortfalls for the operating program, which 
range from $6 million to $80 million in future years, it is important to remember 







 Operating Service Plan and Financial Plan 
 
 


4-2 


that the SRTP forecasts are based on several assumptions. The operating 
projections reflect conservative yet reasonable assumptions regarding ridership 
growth and revenue sources. The forecast also reflects realistic, updated 
projections of labor expenses, including increases in the cost of benefits such as 
medical coverage and pensions. However, actual results can be quite different. Past 
experience suggests that over the next 10 years, the Bay Area is likely to experience 
both periods of higher-than-normal growth and a recession or economic 
downturn. The SRTP/CIP does not attempt to predict economic cycles and thus 
projects conservative yet steady growth. If revenues increase more than projected, 
or if expenses grow less than projected, the deficit could be reduced. Conversely, 
lower revenues or higher expenses than projected could produce a larger shortfall.  


In addition, BART has a specific program of directing all incremental revenue from 
the four inflation-based fare increases implemented between FY14 and FY20 to 
high-priority capital programs. The SRTP financial forecast continues this 
assumption through the end of the 10-year forecast in FY24. One option to reduce 
projected deficits in the later years is to redirect the incremental fare increase 
revenue back to the operating program after the end of the eight-year program. 
However, this would adversely impact the timing and ability to fund critical high-
priority capital projects.  


BART is committing a significant amount of operating funds to capital programs 
over the next 10 years, particularly to fund the “Big 3” capital programs (Fleet of 
the Future rail cars, Hayward Maintenance Complex, and Train Control 
Modernization Project), in addition to baseline capital allocations. Much of these 
operating funds will come from the four inflation-based fare increases 
implemented between FY14 and FY20. The need for these allocations, based on 
project schedules, will put a great deal of pressure on future operating budgets. 
The timing associated with these allocations is reflected in the projected annual 
operating shortfalls. BART is working to develop strategies to address the timing 
issue in order to reduce pressure on future operating budgets. If the impact of 
these timing issues cannot be fully mitigated then BART staff will need to consider 
other financial strategies, which may include short-term financing or borrowing 
from operating reserves. 


Other ways of addressing projected deficits could include finding additional 
revenue sources for the capital needs to lessen the demand on operating revenues, 
cutting costs, or reducing future expense increases. The second approach would be 
challenging because BART operations are already quite lean. To address the 
impacts of the two recessions between 2000 and 2010, BART reduced a 
considerable amount of expense, as exemplified in the number of positions for 
BART’s operating budget. BART operates with fewer staff today than 14 years ago 
-- 3,044 in FY15, including nearly 300 positions added in FY04 for the SFO 
Extension, compared to 3,169 in FY01. Further expense reductions, particularly in 
the area of staffing, would likely negatively influence service and system 
performance. Regarding the first and third options–identifying additional revenue 







 Operating Service Plan and Financial Plan 
 
 


4-3 


sources and limiting expense increases–BART staff are always striving to do both; 
however, exogenous factors sometime undermine their ability to accomplish this.  


BART’s Financial Stability Policy, adopted by the Board in 2003, outlines specific 
goals and strategies to ensure BART’s ability to deliver service rests on a strong and 
stable financial foundation (see Appendix A for full policy). The goals include:  


 Maintain an operating and capital financial base that is sufficient to deliver 
safe, quality service efficiently and cost-effectively meet the level of demand. 


 Continuously improve productivity. 
 Preserve and maximize BART's fare revenue base, through a predictable 


pattern of adjustments, while retaining ridership. 
 Provide a fare and fee structure that is tied to the cost of providing service, 


optimizes use of the BART system, and provides BART customers with 
convenience, ease of use, and a good value for the money. 


 Establish and maintain prudent reserves sufficient to ensure that BART can 
adjust to economic downturns. 


 Maintain the highest possible credit rating and reputation for prudent 
financial management. 


 
To date, BART has implemented a number of strategies to meet the Financial 
Stability Policy, including: 
 Implementing small regular fare increases tied to Consumer Price Index (CPI)-


based cost increases and surcharges tied to capital needs. 
 Increasing revenue from other sources such as parking and advertising.  
 Maintaining a reserve of at least 5% of total annual operating expenses to 


preserve BART’s ability to deliver safe and reliable service and to reinvest in 
capital. 


 
For the financial outlook, the Financial Stability Policy will continue to provide 
guidance and strategies to address potential deficits. As part of future annual 
budget processes, staff will develop and adjust strategies to fit actual 
circumstances, particularly those that provide long-term solutions.  


To put the current projected deficits in perspective, the cumulative operating 
shortfall of approximately $500 million represents 5% of the total projected 
operating uses forecast over the 10-year time frame. The capital shortfall, 
described in the next chapter, represents a much larger percentage of the total 
Capital Improvement Program, as described in the next section. 


OPERATING SERVICE PLAN 


One of the first steps in planning for BART’s future is forecasting how many riders 
the system will serve and how to configure service to accommodate them. BART 
balances available cars across all routes to match projected ridership so it can 







 Operating Service Plan and Financial Plan 
 
 


4-4 


efficiently provide the right level of service to meet actual rider demand. It is 
important to note that the ridership forecast assumes that BART is able to maintain 
current service levels and on-time train performance. Should ridership grow 
substantially more than forecast before the arrival of new train cars in 2017, it may 
be difficult to maintain the current high level of customer and train on-time 
performance while running the older cars. Generally, more passengers and more 
crowding can increase delays and make service less reliable.  


Over the 10-year SRTP timeframe, four new extension projects are planned to open 
shown in the figure below.  


Figure 4-1 BART Extensions under Construction 


Extension Opening Date 


BART-to-Oakland International Airport (OAK) FY15 (fall 2014) 


BART to Warm Springs (WSX) FY16 


East Contra Costa BART Extension (eBART) FY18 


Silicon Valley Berryessa Extension (SVBX) FY18 


 


The first three projects are included in the SRTP forecasts. At this time, projections 
of ridership, fare and other revenues, and agreement expenses for the SVBX 
project are not factored into the draft SRTP. Per the terms of BART’s 2001 
Comprehensive Agreement with the Santa Clara Valley Transportation Authority 
(VTA), the financial responsibility for the extension rests with VTA, and operations 
of the BART extension into Santa Clara County will not financially impact BART. 
The additional service for this extension, however, is shown in the BART Rail 
Service Forecast, Figure 4-3.   


Ridership Forecasts  


As part of its service and financial planning process, BART projects weekday 
ridership for future years. The first step is to establish a recent actual station-to-
station trip table. This table is then adjusted to account for the following areas: 


 Projected changes in regional population and employment 
 Scheduled openings of new extensions and stations 
 Scheduled BART fare and service changes  
 Projected changes in competing travel markets (e.g., auto travel times and 


fuel costs) 


The base for BART’s current set of ridership forecasts is actual origin-destination 
data from all weekdays in FY13, averaged and projected forward to FY15. Figure 4-







 Operating Service Plan and Financial Plan 
 
 


4-5 


2 shows the resulting ridership forecast through FY24, including the BART-to-OAK 
project, WSX, and eBART. 


Figure 4-2 BART Ridership Forecast 


  FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 


Average 
Weekday 


405,426 413,536 422,294 429,658 440,563 449,760 456,915 463,896 468,949 474,110 


Total 
Annual (M) 


122.1 124.6 127.2 129.4 132.7 135.5 137.6 139.7 141.2 142.8 


Annual 
Increase 


 2.0% 2.1% 1.7% 2.5% 2.1% 1.6% 1.5% 1.1% 1.1% 


 
Key findings from the ridership forecast are as follows: 


 After two years of much higher than normal growth (6% in FY12 and 7% in 
FY13), growth in FY14 has been inconsistent and much slower than past 
years, averaging just 1% since November 2013. 


 Based on current trends, and taking into account the estimated impact of 
the two labor strikes in 2013, weekday ridership in FY14 is expected to 
average 399,500, 2% above FY13.  


 Ridership is budgeted to grow only slightly in FY15, by approximately 1.5% 
based upon growth trends during the latter half of FY14. 


 Approximately 2,800 daily riders are expected to use the new BART-to-
Oakland International Airport service during the first year of operations. 


 Each of the three extension projects included in the forecast is expected to 
grow at a faster rate than the current core system for approximately the first 
three years after opening, based on BART’s actual experience with previously 
opened extensions and infill stations. 


 Total annual trips are projected to grow at approximately the same rate as 
weekday trips. Passenger miles are expected to increase at a slightly higher 
rate due to expected longer average trip lengths for some extensions. 


  







 Operating Service Plan and Financial Plan 
 
 


4-6 


Service Planning 


BART’s service plan is based on the ridership forecast described above and 
operational constraints, for example, car loading standards and peak Transbay 
Tube throughput. The service plan produces a fleet demand for an entire weekday 
based on: 


 Average passenger loading on cars: 107 passengers per car (PPC) traveling 
transbay in the peak one-hour period, 100 PPC in the peak three-hour 
period. 


 Headways: Service is scheduled at 15 minute frequencies on each line during 
the peak periods, with additional “rush train” service on the Pittsburg-
Baypoint line. Rush trains will be added to the Warm Springs line upon 
service commencement. 


 Transbay Tube throughput: Twenty-three trains pass through the Transbay 
Tube during the peak hour and in the peak direction, increasing to 24 trains 
with Warm Springs service. 


 Number of trains on each route: Four trains per hour in each direction, 
except for evenings and weekends, when there are three trains per hour in 
each direction.  


 Total cars and control cars required: To optimize train sizing, generally three 
out of eight cars are planned to be control cars, which have operator cabs. 


 Number of cars in maintenance: To meet peak demand, 85% of the total 
fleet is required to be in service; the remaining 15% is undergoing 
maintenance.  Between FY18 and FY23, while BART is operating a mixed 
fleet of old and new cars, the percentage of the total fleet in service will 
decline temporarily to 80%. 


Figure 4-3 shows the BART Rail Service Forecast, a preliminary overview of how 
BART might operate service to accommodate the projected increase in ridership 
and service through FY24.  


Key findings from the service forecast are as follows: 


 The period of FY16 through FY18 will be a challenging time for BART service 
provision. A total of 850 new cars are assumed to be delivered gradually and 
accepted into BART’s revenue fleet, with the first new cars available for 
service at the end of FY17. Until then, only the current, aging, fleet will be 
available to address growing ridership and the increased car requirements 
associated with the extension of rail service to WSX.  


 As new cars are accepted into the revenue fleet, BART plans to retain some 
of the current fleet to help provide and expand service. The current fleet is 
assumed to be completely retired by FY24. With an entirely new fleet of cars, 
fleet availability is anticipated to return to 85% level.  







 Operating Service Plan and Financial Plan 
 
 


4-7 


 In FY18, SVBX is expected to open with 60 new cars operating two-line 
(Green and Orange) service. Additional vehicles could be added later to 
address ridership growth on this line. 


 By the end of FY19, BART anticipates receipt of over 300 new cars enabling 
service to catch up on prior demands.  


 Also in FY19, BART will be able to increase train lengths to 10 cars on all 
peak Transbay runs and to as many as 8 cars on East Bay (Orange Line) runs. 
BART’s original cars will be retained to allow this near-term expansion in 
train lengths. 


 The BART-to-OAK and eBART are not anticipated to require increases to 
heavy rail service beyond the planned increases in peak train lengths. 


Additional expansion to service, such as an increase in off-peak service on selected 
lines or the increase in peak Transbay service to up to 28 or 30 trains per hour 
would require additional operating funds beyond those included in the Operating 
Financial Plan which is described in the next section of this document. 







 Operating Service Plan and Financial Plan 
 
 


4-8 


Figure 4-3 BART Rail Service Forecast  


  FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 
 


Peak vehicles 534 546 546 596 674 674 674 674 674 674 


Ready spares and yard logistics 39 39 39 40 50 50 50 50 50 50 


Total peak vehicles 573 585 585 636 724 724 724 724 724 724 


Maintenance 96 84 84 159 181 181 181 181 181 126 


Total vehicle demand 669 669 669 795 905 905 905 905 905 850 


Total vehicle fleet 669 669 669 795 905 905 905 905 905 850 


Fleet availability 86% 87% 87% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 85% 
 


Peak trains 62 63 63 65 70 70 70 70 70 70 


Trains peak hour/direction: Transbay tube 23 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 


Peak hour/direction: Transbay cars 213 218 218 231 240 240 240 240 240 240 


Peak hour/direction headway: Transbay tube 02:37 02:30 02:30 02:30 02:30 02:30 02:30 02:30 02:30 02:30 
 


Total car miles (millions) 68.5 69.8 70.6 77.3 87.0 87.0 87.0 87.0 87.0 87.0 


Total car hours (millions) 2.22 2.26 2.29 2.51 2.82 2.82 2.82 2.82 2.82 2.82 
 


Vehicles required 669 669 669 795 905 905 905 905 905 850 


Available vehicles 669 669 669 795 905 905 905 905 905 850 


NOTES: 


The BART-to-Oakland International Airport project opens in FY15   


WSX opens in FY16  


First new cars arrive FY17  


WSX service includes second route, Orange Line, in FY18 


SVBX opens in FY18  


eBART opens in FY18  







 Operating Service Plan and Financial Plan 
 
 


4-9 


 


OPERATING FINANCIAL PLAN 


The Operating Financial Plan includes projected revenues, financial assistance, 
expenses, and allocations out of operating funds to other BART programs. 
Projections of passenger revenue are calculated using ridership forecasts described 
in the prior section. Expense forecasts are developed through a multi-step process 
that utilizes ridership forecasts, projections of future service requirements, known 
impacts of labor contracts, and changes to benefit costs. It is important to note 
that BART’s capital needs have a meaningful impact on its operating financial plan 
and are a significant driver of projected deficits. 


These forecasts are, as much as possible, consistent with or based upon regional 
forecasts and historical trends. For example, the Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission (MTC) provides guidance on projections for inflation and State Transit 
Assistance funds. Figure 4-4 details the current 10-year operating financial outlook 
through FY24, building upon the FY15 budget. Major categories of revenues and 
expenses are described in subsequent sections. 


 


  







 Operating Service Plan and Financial Plan 
 
 


4-10 


Figure 4-4 BART Operating Financial Forecast ($ millions) 


(Escalated $M) FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 


Revenue 


Fare revenue $421.2 $435.0 $448.8 $459.7 $475.4 $488.1 $497.9 $507.9 $515.7 $523.7 


Fare increase for priority capital 18.8 27.1 36.0 45.1 55.1 64.9 74.8 85.7 96.7 108.0 


Total net rail passenger revenue 440.0 462.2 484.8 504.8 530.5 553.0 572.7 593.6 612.5 631.8 


ADA passenger revenue 0.8 0.8 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9 


Subtotal net passenger revenue 440.8 463.0 485.7 505.7 531.4 553.9 573.6 594.5 613.4 632.7 


Parking revenue 26.2 26.8 27.4 28.0 28.6 29.2 29.8 30.5 31.2 31.9 


Advertising revenue 8.7 9.2  10.0  10.8  11.5  11.5  11.6  11.6  11.6  11.6 


Other operating revenue 11.4 11.5 11.6 11.7 11.8 11.9 12.1 12.2 12.3 12.4 


Subtotal non-fare revenue 46.3  47.5  48.9  50.5  51.8  52.6  53.5  54.2  55.0  55.8 


Total Operating Revenue 487.2  510.5  534.6  556.1  583.2  606.5  627.0  648.7  668.3  688.5 


Financial Assistance 


Sales tax 228.7 235.6 242.6 249.9 257.4 265.1 273.1 281.3 289.7 298.4 


Property tax 33.7  34.7  35.7  36.8  37.9  39.1  40.2  41.4  42.7  44.0 


State Transit Assistance (STA) 21.9 22.5 23.1 23.7 24.3 25.0 25.7 26.3 27.0 27.8 


Local and other assistance 3.7 8.7 2.8 2.8 2.9 2.9 3.0 3.0 3.1 4.6 


5307 Rail Car Fund swap assistance 77.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 


Total Financial Assistance 365.0 301.5 304.2 313.3 322.6 332.1 341.9 352.1 362.6 374.8 


TOTAL SOURCES 852.2 812.0 838.8 869.4 905.8 938.6 969.0 1,000.8 1,030.9 1,063.3 


 


(Continued on the following page)  







 Operating Service Plan and Financial Plan 
 
 


4-11 


(Escalated $M) FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 


Expense  


Net labor and benefits 420.5  446.1  478.9  523.4  552.5  575.5  590.9  608.7  625.7  645.3 


OPEB unfunded liability 2.4  2.5  2.6  2.6  2.7  2.8  2.9  3.0  3.1  3.2 


Subtotal labor 422.9  448.6  481.5  526.0  555.2  578.3  593.8  611.7  628.8  648.4 


Traction/station Power 38.1  40.4  41.7  43.4  45.2  47.1  49.0  50.8  52.9  55.1 


Other non-labor 114.6  116.4  122.8  133.3  140.1  142.3  146.9  149.9  154.3  157.1 


Subtotal non-labor 152.7  156.7  164.6  176.7  185.3  189.3  195.9  200.7  207.3  212.2 


BART-to-OAK and eBART 3.7  5.6  5.7  11.9  18.5  19.0  19.5  20.1  20.6  21.2 


Subtotal rail/guideway operating expense 579.2  611.0  651.8  714.6  758.9  786.6  809.2  832.5  856.6  881.9 


Purchased transportation 19.8  20.3  20.9  21.6  22.3  23.0  23.7  24.5  25.3  26.1 


5307 Rail Car Fund Swap Expense 77.0  0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0 


Subtotal non-rail expense 96.8  20.3  20.9  21.6  22.3  23.0  23.7  24.5  25.3  26.1 


Total Operating Expense 676.1  631.3  672.7  736.2  781.2  809.5  832.9  856.9  881.9  908.0 


Debt Service and Allocations 


Bond debt service 56.0  56.3  56.5  56.8  56.9  57.1  57.2  57.4  57.6  57.7 


Allocations: 


Priority capital projects/programs 63.8  72.1  81.0  90.1  55.1  64.9  74.8  85.7  96.7  108.0 


Capital renovations 37.0  33.8  26.6  25.2  25.7  24.7  25.3  25.8  26.4  27.0 


Additional capital allocations 6.0  11.0  6.0  1.0  26.0  25.0  25.0  25.0  25.0  25.0 


Operating reserve 0.0  0.3  2.1  3.2  2.2  1.4  1.2  1.2  1.2  1.3 


SFO operations 8.7  10.0  11.1  11.2  12.7  14.2  15.1  16.0  16.8  9.5 


Access program from parking fees 4.3  4.0  4.0  4.2  4.4  4.6  4.9  5.1  5.4  5.7 


Other (leases, BART-to-OAK capital reserve) 2.7  1.5  1.5  1.5  1.5  1.6  1.6  1.6  1.6  3.1 


Total Debt Service and Allocations 178.4  189.1  188.7  193.2  184.6  193.5  204.9  217.8  230.8  237.4 


TOTAL USES 854.5  820.3  861.4  929.4  965.8  1,003.0  1,037.9  1,074.7  1,112.7  1,145.4 


 


OPEB unfunded liability 2.4 2.5 2.6 2.6 2.7 2.8 2.9 3.0 3.1 3.2 


NET RESULT 0.1  (5.9) (20.1) (57.3) (57.3) (61.6) (66.0) (70.9) (78.8) (79.0)


 







 Operating Service Plan and Financial Plan 
 
 


4-12 


Operating Sources: Revenue 


Rail Passenger Revenue  


Rail passenger revenue is projected based on the rail ridership forecast 
described previously and is net of the various fare discounts offered by 
BART.    


Fare increases are estimated using the Board-approved renewal of the CPI-
based fare formula that accounts for changes in inflation over the preceding 
two-year period, both nationally and locally, and is reduced by a productivity 
factor of 0.5% to account for increases in labor and operating efficiencies. 
Estimates for the fare increases are based on 2.2% CPI annually, resulting in 
3.9% increases every other year.  


Fare Increase Revenue for Priority Capital Programs 


In 2013, the Board took action to dedicate incremental fare revenue 
generated from the CPI-based increases in 2014, 2016, 2018, and 2020 to 
fund high-priority capital projects, including the “Big 3” projects of Rail Car 
Fleet of the Future Program, Hayward Maintenance Complex (HMC), and 
Train Control Modernization Project (TCMP). The incremental revenue is 
separated in the financial forecast. 


Using current assumptions of ridership and inflation, the financial forecast 
estimates $600 million of incremental fare increase revenue over the 10 
years. For planning purposes, the SRTP assumes continuation of the CPI-
based formula and continued dedication of the incremental fare revenue to 
high-priority capital programs through the end of the 10-year forecast, with 
fare increases assumed for 2022 and 2024. Continuation of the inflation-
based fare increase program beyond 2020 and continued direction of 
incremental fare revenue to high-priority capital projects are subject to 
Board approval. 


ADA Passenger Revenue 


BART complies with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) requirement 
to provide paratransit service comparable and complementary to the BART 
system. In their areas of joint service, BART and AC Transit fund and 
administer the East Bay Paratransit Consortium (EBPC), which provides 
service through contractors. BART directly collects fare revenue from EBPC 
trips. Fare revenue projections are a function of ridership. Recent paratransit 
ridership has been relatively flat and is expected to remain flat during the 
time covered by this SRTP, with a projected growth in revenues of 0.7% per 
year. 







 Operating Service Plan and Financial Plan 
 
 


4-13 


Parking Revenue 


Paid parking is the largest source of non-passenger revenue. BART charges 
daily and permit parking fees at its current 33 stations with parking facilities. 
In February 2013, the Board approved modifications to its paid parking 
programs by implementing a demand-based approach to parking fees. Daily 
parking fees are now re-evaluated every six months, based on the occupancy 
of the parking facility. Costs for permits and fees may either increase or 
decrease by 50¢ per day, depending upon whether the facility's utilization is 
above or below 95% capacity. There is a daily fee maximum of $3 at all 
stations, with the exception of West Oakland, which does not have a cap.  


Additional revenue raised from the demand-based initiative is dedicated for 
investments in station access and improvements, including renovation, heavy 
cleaning, and addressing quality of life issues. In addition, the funds are used 
to enhance the customer experience, including signage and communication. 
Programs and projects funded by the increased parking revenue consist of 
both operating and capital efforts, some of which are one-time in nature 
and others ongoing.  


The FY15 parking revenue budget is $26.2 million, which includes an 
estimated $10.1 million from the parking fee modification program, funding 
$4.1 million of ongoing programs such as Station Brightening (through deep 
cleaning) and $6 million in new projects and programs such as retrofitting 
station lighting and pedestrian improvements. FY15 will also see daily fee 
parking charges implemented at the last four stations that did not have fees: 
North Concord, Concord, Hayward, and Coliseum. 


Aside from the changes noted above, parking revenue is projected to 
increase annually by inflation, or 2.2% each year through FY24. In addition, 
once open, the Warm Springs Station and the eBART extension are projected 
to generate small amounts of parking revenue. 


Advertising Revenue and Other Revenue 


Other sources of operating revenue include, in order of the amount of 
revenue generated, advertising contracts; fiber optics and 
telecommunication programs; station concessions; and parking fines and 
forfeitures. Categories not tied to contracts are forecast to keep pace with 
inflation. 


  







 Operating Service Plan and Financial Plan 
 
 


4-14 


Operating Sources: Financial Assistance 


Sales Tax 


BART’s largest source of financial assistance is a dedicated 75% share of a 
one-half cent sales tax levied in the three BART counties. For FY15, sales tax 
revenue is estimated to grow by 4% compared to annual growth rates 
between 6% and 9% over the prior four years. Most regional economic 
forecasts anticipate Bay Area sales tax growth to return to more sustainable 
long-term rates. BART’s annual average sales tax growth rate for the past 10 
to 15 years ranges from 2.2% to 2.6%, which reflects the substantial 
negative impacts of two recessions. A growth rate of 3% is estimated for 
FY16 through FY24.  


Property Tax 


BART receives a dedicated property tax assessment in the three BART 
counties to fund operations. After growing at an average rate of 5% over 
the past 10 to 15 years, property tax revenue growth is estimated to slow to 
4% in FY15 and 3% growth over the long term, which is slightly less than 
BART’s historical average. The more conservative long-term growth rate 
assumes that the real estate and housing value market, which was generally 
robust in the Bay Area over the past 15 years, moderates slightly. 


State Transit Assistance  


BART receives funding assistance through appropriations of State Transit 
Assistance (STA), which is derived from actual receipts of the sales tax on 
diesel fuel. Statewide collections can fluctuate based on diesel prices and 
consumption; appropriations to transit operators will vary based on 
calculations of qualifying revenues for the local operator and the region. 
These funding sources have not been consistent throughout the years and 
can be subject to actions in the governor’s state budget. In some years, BART 
received no STA funds.  


In FY15, BART’s share of STA is estimated at $27.9 million. $5.6 million of 
that amount will be directed by the MTC to feeder bus operators providing 
service to BART stations and $0.4 million will be held by MTC to fund fare 
coordination efforts with AC Transit. In addition, $3.2 million is committed 
as a pass-through to AC Transit to fund BART feeder service payments (also 
described in the Purchased Transportation section later in this document). 
This leaves a net of $18.7 million for BART operations. STA is projected to 
grow to $27.8 million by FY24. 







 Operating Service Plan and Financial Plan 
 
 


4-15 


Local and Other Assistance 


BART also receives smaller amounts of annual funding from several local 
sources. Alameda County’s Measure B one-half cent sales tax and Contra 
Costa County’s Measure J one-half cent sales tax currently provide almost 
$1.8 million for BART’s paratransit service operations. These voter-approved 
fund sources are assumed to be renewed at this same level when the current 
programs expire. 


As part of operating service to the joint BART/Caltrain station at Millbrae, 
Caltrain is required to pay for the use, operations, and maintenance costs at 
the station applicable to Caltrain service and passengers. For FY15, the 
payment is about $0.8 million; future payments are based on actual inflation 
and thus are estimated to increase by 2.2% annually through FY24. 


Also included in “local and other assistance” is a one-time allocation of $6.0 
million of capitalized interest from prior debt issuance from the BART-to-
Oakland International Airport project expected in FY16. 


Rail Car Fund Swap (Federal 5307 Reimbursement) 


In FY15, federal preventive maintenance grant funds of $77.0 million are 
available through MTC to fund BART’s rail car purchase. This is the final year 
of the grant, which is recorded by BART in the Financial Assistance category, 
and then transferred to MTC as an expense to be placed in a sinking fund for 
future rail car replacement. The net result of the assistance and expense to 
the budget’s bottom line is zero. Including the FY15 funds, a total of $290 
million has been directed to the MTC reserve account to fund BART rail cars.  


Operating Uses: Expenses 


Operating expense projections use the FY15 budget as the base and are 
estimated for future years based on labor contracts, anticipated changes to 
benefit costs, inflation growth, and agreements with other agencies and 
service providers. Expenses include the anticipated cost of operating BART-
to-Oakland International Airport, the Warm Springs extension, eBART, and 
the expanded Hayward Maintenance Complex. In addition, the forecast 
reflects the operating expense of lengthening and adding trains to revenue 
service with the arrival of new cars, starting in FY17.  


The FY15 Budget proposed funding a number of new ongoing operating 
initiatives, totaling $6.3 million and including 45 positions, the majority of 
which are to enhance wayside worker safety. The SRTP assumes that these 
initiatives are approved in the final budget and the expenses continue for 
future years.  







 Operating Service Plan and Financial Plan 
 
 


4-16 


Net Labor and Benefits 


Labor cost, which includes both wages and benefits, is the primary driver for 
BART’s operating uses, comprising about 70% of BART’s operating expense. 
Labor cost reflects the wage and benefit increases included in the FY14 
through FY17 labor agreements.6 For represented employees, annual wage 
increases of 3.72% are scheduled for FY14 through FY16, with a 4.22% wage 
increase scheduled for FY17. For non-represented employees, wage increases 
are scheduled to be the same, but delayed six months. An annual wage 
increase of 2.0% was assumed for the years not covered by the labor 
contracts.  


Under the current contracts, all BART employees (represented and non-
represented) will contribute $37 more per month to their medical plans, in 
addition to the amount they agreed to contribute in previous labor 
agreements. This provision is expected to generate $6.9 million to help pay 
for medical costs over the contract period. Beyond FY17, no assumption was 
made for increases to medical plan contributions from employees. 


Despite FY10’s district-wide cap on individual-level HMO premium 
contributions and the $37 per month increased contribution, cumulative 
health premium costs are projected to escalate by 7% in FY15. The average 
rate of change for active employee medical insurance plans over the past 
five years was approximately 8%. The actuarial projection of rate changes 
for the next five years ranges between 4.5% and 6.75%. These actuarial 
projections are reflected in the SRTP/CIP. 


Under the current contracts, all BART employees will make contributions to 
their pensions, starting at 1% of pay and increasing by 1% for each year of 
the contract, up to a 4% maximum. This provision is expected to save BART 
$20.3 million over the contract period. Prior to this contract provision, BART 
paid 100% of the both the employer and employee share of pension costs. 
No assumption was made for additional pension contributions beyond FY17, 
but it is assumed that the 4% employee contribution continues.  


BART’s pension plan is administered by the California Public Employee 
Retirement System (CalPERS) and includes two plans: Safety (sworn police 
officers) and Miscellaneous (all other employees). In 2012, the State 
Legislature passed Assembly Bill (AB) 340, the California Public Employees’ 
Pension Reform Act (PEPRA). PEPRA affects employees hired on or after 
January 1, 2013 and contains several provisions that are intended to lower 
future pension costs for public agencies, including changes to the retirement 


                                                 


6 At the time of publication, BART’s two police unions were still negotiating their contracts. For the SRTP, it has 
been assumed that the police unions would receive the same basic wage and benefit package as other BART labor 
unions. 







 Operating Service Plan and Financial Plan 
 
 


4-17 


plans and how pensions are calculated, and places a cap on the amount used 
to determine an employee’s pension. 


The U.S. Department of Labor (DOL) determined that PEPRA interfered with 
collective bargaining, so the law was suspended for transit unions, including 
BART’s, until related litigation is concluded. The SRTP/CIP assumes that the 
exemption of represented employees from PEPRA continues into the future. 
Non-represented employees hired on or after January 1, 2013 are subject to 
PEPRA.  


CalPERS determines all employer and employee pension contribution rates. 
To ensure the long-term health of the pension fund, and decrease fund 
volatility, the CalPERS Board has been considering and implementing a 
number of key actuarial assumptions that have significant impacts on 
employer rates: 


 Beginning in FY14, CalPERS decreased its projected investment return 
assumption from 7.75% to 7.50%. Increased contributions by 
employers, including BART, make up the difference. For FY15, the 
CalPERS pension employer rate will increase by 11% of payroll for 
Safety employees and by 8% for Miscellaneous employees. 


 In April 2013, the CalPERS Board approved new amortization and 
smoothing policies that will be phased in over five years from FY16 
through FY20. As a result of this policy, CalPERS projects BART’s 
employer rates to increase by 54%7 for Miscellaneous plans and by 
19%8 for Safety plans over the five-year period.  


 In February 2014, the CalPERS Board approved a number of changes 
to actuarial assumptions. One of the most significant changes is the 
increased life expectancy of active and retired employees, which will 
increase costs to plan members beginning FY17. 


The SRTP/CIP assumes the first two changes to CalPERS policy. The impact of 
assuming longer life expectancy is currently unknown and will be included in 
subsequent updates of the SRTP/CIP. 


The other post employment benefit (OPEB) unfunded liability is an 
accounting transaction, specifically for life insurance, with an equal 
offsetting budget adjustment. There is no net impact to BART’s bottom line. 


                                                 


7 Miscellaneous Plan of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District, Annual Valuation Report as of June 30, 
2012, October 2013, p. 26. 
8 Safety Plan of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District, Annual Valuation Report as of June 30, 2012, 
October 2013, p.26. 







 Operating Service Plan and Financial Plan 
 
 


4-18 


Traction and Station Power Expense 


Electrical power costs are a sizable component of BART’s operating budget. 
Annually, BART uses about 370,000 megawatt hours of electrical power, 
making BART one of Northern California’s 10 largest users.  


Recognizing the large impact that power supply has on BART’s operating 
expenses, BART obtained authority from the California legislature to 
purchase electrical power from sources other than the Pacific Gas and 
Electric Company (PG&E). Under legislation enacted in 1995, BART procured 
low cost-based power from the federal Bonneville Power Administration 
(BPA) through FY06. In 2004, BART obtained expanded statutory authority 
from the California legislature that permits BART to purchase power from 
municipal utilities as well as federal power marketing agencies. Under these 
expanded provisions, the Northern California Power Agency (NCPA) has 
replaced the expiring BPA supply by procuring market-priced power on 
behalf of BART. BART is also a participant in the Lodi Energy Center, a highly 
efficient natural gas project located in the city of Lodi, and is the sole 
participant in a 2.5 megawatt solar photovoltaic project located in the city of 
Gridley. In 2014, BART entered into a 20 year agreement for the output of 
the 4.3 megawatt Lake Nacimiento Hydroelectric project. There are also two 
pending projects to develop solar shade structures in two BART parking lots. 
The federal Western Area Power Administration will continue to supply a 
small amount of power under an existing contract through FY24. BART will 
continue to seek to reduce its exposure to power market cost fluctuations 
through joint ownership with municipal utilities of power generation 
facilities and to increase BART’s use of renewable energy resources. Another 
goal is to reduce power usage through conservation efforts.  


The estimate for the cost of power through FY17 is based primarily on 
contract prices. The estimates beyond FY17 assume 3% annual increases. 
BART must purchase transmission and distribution services from PG&E to 
deliver its power supplies and these delivery costs are also forecast to 
increase at 3% annually. 


State law requires investor-owned utilities, such as PG&E, to have renewable 
energy sources provide 33% of their electricity supply by 2020. Although this 
law does not apply to BART, it has decided to meet or exceed this same 
environmental goal for its electrical power supply. In FY14, BART's power 
resources were 53% renewable or carbon-free. 


Other Non-Labor Expenses 


Non-labor expenses include materials usage; rental and maintenance 
contracts; insurance; utilities other than traction and station power; 
professional and technical services, and; other miscellaneous expenses, 
including fees paid to MTC and financial institutions to administer the 







 Operating Service Plan and Financial Plan 
 
 


4-19 


Clipper regional transit smart card program. Most other non-labor categories 
are assumed to increase at the rate of inflation.  


Purchased Transportation 


BART’s paratransit program has been operating under full federal 
compliance since 1997. Expenses, which rapidly escalated during the 
program’s early days, have started to stabilize. National experience suggests 
that annual expense growth rates are highly variable and can range as high 
as 10% to 15%. Staff will continue to look for ways to control BART’s 
paratransit program costs while providing compliant service. The Operating 
Financial Plan forecasts expenses of $13.4 million for FY15 and a subsequent 
annual expense growth at the rate of inflation. 


BART has an agreement with the San Francisco Municipal Transportation 
Agency (SFMTA) that links the annual purchased transportation (feeder) 
payment to changes in the Bay Area CPI and changes in the number of riders 
transferring between BART and Muni, and has an annual cap of 5% for 
increases or decreases. A similar agreement will be implemented with AC 
Transit, effective FY15. The AC Transit agreement will be funded by BART’s 
share of STA and also includes a provision whereby 10% of the overall 
payment will be retained by MTC and used towards fare coordination efforts 
between the two agencies. New BART service to the Oakland International 
Airport is scheduled to open in fall 2014 and will be operated and 
maintained for twenty years by a private contractor, Doppelmayr Cable Car 
(DCC). Certain contractor performance measures and inflation factors apply 
to the calculation of annual operations and maintenance (O&M) costs. The 
FY15 estimated O&M cost is $3.7 million for eight months of operation in 
FY15, growing to $6.8 million per year by FY24.  


Rail Car Fund Swap Expense 


As noted in the Financial Assistance section, Federal Section 5307 Urbanized 
Area Formula Grant funds are allocated to BART by the MTC for preventive 
maintenance work and then swapped with other funds to pay for new rail 
cars. There is no net impact to BART’s operating budget bottom line as the 
Section 5307 funds are merely swapped for other funds. Including funds 
budgeted for FY15, a total of $290 million has been directed to the MTC 
reserve account.  


Operating Uses: Debt Service and Allocations 


As BART begins to take an even larger role in self-funding critical capital 
needs, the level of detail needed to describe the resultant accounting has 
increased. The section below describes the line items in the financial 
forecast, which include debt service, allocations to support the capital 







 Operating Service Plan and Financial Plan 
 
 


4-20 


program, and other allocations as required by agreements with other 
agencies or accounting rules.  


Bond Debt Service 


BART first issued bonds backed by sales tax revenues in 1970 and has 
periodically sold additional bonds to finance or refinance the capital costs of 
constructing, improving, renovating, and equipping the system. As of March 
2014, the outstanding principal for all outstanding sales tax revenue bonds is 
about $718.9 million. BART’s last bond sale was in 2012, with the issuance 
and refunding of bonds totaling $241.6 million, including $111.1 million for 
the BART-to-Oakland International Airport project. Annual debt service for 
all current bonds will remain nearly constant at $56.0 million in FY15, 
increasing to $57.7 million in FY24.  


Allocations – Priority Capital Projects/Programs 


BART has made a commitment to fund three high-priority programs (the 
“Big 3”) that are needed for system reliability and for system capacity to 
meet future ridership demand: the Rail Car Fleet of the Future, TCMP, and 
the HMC. Incremental fare revenue from the January 1, 2014 fare increase 
and subsequent fare increases scheduled for 2016, 2018, and 2020 will be 
directly allocated to a fund for these programs. For planning purposes, the 
SRTP assumes continuation of the fare increase program and allocations 
through FY24. 


 Rail Car Fleet of the Future. BART has an initial order for 410 new 
rail cars and has exercised options to purchase a total of 775 new cars, 
with a goal of securing a fleet of 1,000 new cars. In May 2012, BART 
committed $298 million from BART operating funds to the first 410 
cars, with $118 million of operating funds allocated to rail car 
replacement to-date. The SRTP/CIP reflects BART’s annual operating 
allocations of $45 million in FY15 through FY18, totaling $180 million, 
to fulfill BART’s remaining obligation. BART will continue the $45 
million annual allocations in FY19 and beyond, for a total of $270 
million, to fund rail cars beyond the initial 410 cars.  


 Train Control Modernization Project and Hayward Maintenance 
Complex. Through FY24, the SRTP/CIP reflects commitments of 
operating allocations totaling $196 million for the TCMP and $149 
million for the HMC. 


Allocations – To Baseline Capital Renovations 


Throughout its history, BART has reinvested annual operating revenues into 
the capital program. These annual allocations are used for many critical 
capital projects that do not qualify for grant funding or for which other 







 Operating Service Plan and Financial Plan 
 
 


4-21 


funding sources may not be available. Representative uses of allocations 
include station renovation, the purchase of capitalized tools, parts inventory 
and non-revenue vehicles, and as a local match for grant funds.  


Capital renovation allocations include the following:  


 An annual baseline allocation, which starts at approximately $22 
million in FY15 and grows by, to serve as the local match for federal 
grants or to fund ongoing capital projects for which grants are not 
typically available (such as stations and facilities renovation, inventory 
buildup, non-revenue vehicle replacement, tools, and other 
capitalized maintenance).  


 Additional capital renovation allocations when funding allows for 
critical projects of a short-term nature. Examples of projects for FY15 
through FY19 include replacement programs for rail car floors, right-
of-way fencing, train control room batteries, and obsolete and 
inefficient T12 fluorescent lighting in BART tunnels and facilities, 
including the Transbay Tube.  


Additional Capital Allocations  


In May 2014, at BART’s request, the California Transportation Commission to 
shift Proposition 1A High-Speed Rail bond funds from other BART projects to 
the HMC project. The agreement is to shift $5 million ($1 million each year 
for FY15 through FY19) from the Millbrae Tail Track project; $20 million ($5 
million in FY15 and FY17; $10 million in FY16) from the planned new 
Operations Control Center (OCC); and $13.6 million from un-programmed 
Proposition 1A funds to HMC. BART made this request because the HMC 
project is on an earlier timeline than the other projects and the funding is 
currently available. In addition, the FY15 SRTP/CIP assumes that beginning in 
FY19, BART plans to allocate $25 million annually to fund critical asset 
replacement.  


Allocations – To Operating Reserve 


BART’s Financial Stability Policy sets a goal to set aside operating reserves at 
5% of operating costs. The current balance of $30.3 million represents 5% of 
current operating costs. In this financial forecast, as operating expenses 
increase in future years, small annual allocations are planned to keep the 
reserve balance at a minimum of 5%. 


Allocations – To Rail Cars from SFO Extension Results 


Operations of the five-station SFO extension into San Mateo County (outside 
of the three-county BART District) are projected to generate net positive 
results through FY24. Per the terms of the 2007 agreements relieving 
SamTrans of financial responsibility for the extension into San Mateo 







 Operating Service Plan and Financial Plan 
 
 


4-22 


County, fare revenue in excess of operating expenses is to be allocated to a 
special reserve account. The first $145 million deposited into the reserve 
account is to fund commitments to BART’s rail car replacement project. 
Current financial estimates project completion of that obligation in FY24. 


Allocations – To Stations and Access Programs from Parking Fees  


These programs are funded by the incremental parking fee revenue 
generated by the demand-based parking program first implemented in May 
2013. This incremental revenue, above the baseline revenue generated by 
BART’s prior parking program will be directed to new station improvement 
and station access programs. In FY15, these programs include station 
brightening (by deep cleaning), pedestrian improvements, increased parking 
enforcement, bike program expansion, and a staffing the Pleasant Hill bike 
station. Future year projects will be determined in each fiscal year’s budget 
process. The allocation is the capital portion of the programs; the balance is 
included in the operating budget. 


Safety 
BART is also making concerted operating investments in safety in coming years to 
update systems and procedures as well as hire additional staff positions dedicated 
to safety.  
In FY15, BART is undertaking several major safety initiatives which will invest on an 
ongoing basis millions of dollars into enhancing system safety. These additional 
investments will ensure that the necessary processes, incentives and equipment are 
in place to protect the safety of BART employees who are responsible for 
maintaining the track, traction power, and train control systems in proper working 
condition. They will also ensure that BART is fully compliant with a new set of 
California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) safety requirements for wayside (track) 
workers (General Order 175, or GO 175).  


In response to GO 175, BART has developed and is in the process of implementing a 
new and enhanced wayside safety program that includes more restrictive operating 
rules for wayside activities and procedures for how these activities should be 
performed by BART wayside workers and contractors. The program’s goal is to 
provide improved protection for employees in the BART right-of-way. To that end, 
the District has dedicated and needs to acquire additional resources to fully 
implement the new roadway worker protection program and comply with GO 175. 


The Safety Department will also have additional staffing resources to manage two 
additional new safety programs: The Safety Culture Improvement Program to 
reduce injury rates through creation of a safety incentive program for front line 
workers, and the Safety Management Software Program to enhance monitoring.  


Finally, the Maintenance and Engineering and Transportation Departments are 
adding 40 new positions to provide increased safety oversight. 
These efforts are further described in Chapter 3. 







 Operating Service Plan and Financial Plan 
 
 


4-23 


Allocations – Other 


Other allocations include annual accounting entries of $0.5 million to offset 
an equal amount booked as other revenue or financial assistance for the 
Pleasant Hill/Contra Costa Centre and West Dublin/Pleasanton stations. FY15 
also includes a $1.5 million accounting cash flow adjustment for BART’s lease 
on the 300 Lakeside Building in Oakland. 


In addition, an annual allocation will be directed to funding the Capital 
Asset Replacement Program (CARP) for BART-to-Oakland International 
Airport. The CARP allocation starts at $0.6 million in FY15 and grows to $1.1 
million by FY24. BART will contribute to this escrow fund each year, which 
will pay for the refurbishment and replacement costs for the system for the 
20-year term of the operating contract. Expenditure of these funds is 
controlled jointly by BART and Doppelmayr Cable Car (DCC) based upon 
actual needs for refurbishment and replacement over the 20 years. DCC is 
required to fund costs in excess of the CARP and any funds remaining at the 
end of the term belong to DCC. 


  







 Operating Service Plan and Financial Plan 
 
 


4-24 


This page intentionally left blank. 







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-1 


5 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT 
PROGRAM  


This chapter presents BART's Capital Improvement Program (CIP), a 
comprehensive inventory of the capital needs that BART faces, and the 
capital funding sources that have been identified for the 10 years of this 
plan (FY15-FY24). The primary purpose of this CIP is to provide a realistic 
picture of the funding outlook and the challenges BART faces in securing 
adequate funding to pay for needed capital improvements. While BART has 
some funding that is already programmed, allocated, or identified, the CIP 
shows that there is a significant shortfall between projected need and 
available funds. Additional funding at the federal, state, and local level will 
be needed to fully fund BART’s long term capital program.  


The CIP’s secondary goal is to ensure that it is as consistent as possible with 
BART’s needs described in the Metropolitan Transportation Commission’s 
(MTC’s) Plan Bay Area (2040) Regional Transportation Plan (RTP).   


The capital improvement projects described below are designed to maintain 
and enhance BART’s service by renovating and strengthening the core 
system; improving the system’s safety, security, and reliability; and 
modernizing and expanding the system to accommodate increasing ridership 
demand. This CIP is a snapshot of the current outlook, and is updated 
periodically as projects are further developed and the funding picture 
evolves. 


LONG-TERM CAPITAL FINANCIAL OUTLOOK 


As with the operating outlook, the capital forecast illustrates serious funding 
challenges for BART in the coming years. Currently identified funding falls 
far short of the system’s capital needs, especially in the short term.  This 
shortfall poses major challenges for ensuring that BART can adequately 
reinvest to maintain the system’s reliability and safety, while also making 
enhancements and adding capacity to serve new ridership demands and 
serve extensions that are under construction.  


The CIP is not financially constrained and cannot be considered a capital 
budget as it shows a significant shortfall. To fully fund the CIP for FY15-FY24 
would require approximately $9.6 billion. BART has already secured $323 







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-2 


million in “previously identified” capital funding. Staff has identified 
another $4.5 billion in future “committed” funding.  Committed funding is 
defined as funding that is already secured or can reasonably be assumed to 
be received by BART.  The remaining $4.8 billion shortfall represents 50% of 
BART’s projected capital needs.  A snapshot of total CIP need as compared to 
previously identified and committed funding is shown in Figure 5-1.  


BART has also identified several additional potential funding sources that 
may be received by BART. These are more uncertain and/or speculative, 
commonly referred to by MTC as "discretionary" funding. It is unlikely that 
all of these sources actually become a reality. Both committed and 
discretionary sources are further described later in this chapter.  


BART is also working to identify capital need and funding sources beyond 
the 10-year horizon of this plan. However, it is challenging to fully anticipate 
capital improvements that will be needed that far in the future and any 
detailed cost estimates are likely to understate actual needs. Therefore, costs 
and funding sources beyond FY24 are not included in this CIP.  


Key challenges related to the CIP financial outlook are:  


 Accommodating growth: BART’s ridership is expected to continue to 
grow. The region’s integrated transportation and land use plan, Plan 
Bay Area, relies on BART to continue to provide reliable, safe service 
for hundreds of thousands of additional riders over the next 25 years.   


 By 2040, Plan Bay Area anticipates 2 million additional Bay Area 
residents and projects accommodating this growth in “Priority 
Development Areas” (PDAs) around transit hubs – many of which 
are centered on BART stations. Plan Bay Area also projects 250,000 
new jobs (a 40% increase) located in areas adjacent to BART 
stations.  


 BART’s daily ridership is expected to grow to nearly 500,000 by 
2025 and to over 600,000 daily riders by 2040.   


 These forecasts assume the BART system continues to operate 
reliably day-to-day and is able to expand its capacity to serve this 
increase in ridership.  Sustaining the system’s current level of 
reliability will be a challenge if adequate funding for system 
reinvestment and capacity expansion is not available.   


 Misalignment between timing of need and availability of funding: 
Particularly important for BART’s capital program, funding is expected 
to become available at a far slower rate than is required to meet the 
schedule for BART’s capital needs, creating a more dramatic shortfall 
in the near term than the longer term. The shortfall is particularly 
acute in FY15 because it includes BART’s current backlog of unfunded 
maintenance as well as new investment needs that arise. BART is 







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-3 


actively working with MTC to finance this funding misalignment to 
the extent possible. 
Amplifying this issue, BART is allocating a significant amount of 
operating funds to the capital program. The need for these operating 
allocations, which is based on project schedules, will put a great deal 
of pressure on future operating budgets. These operating allocations 
to capital are one of the drivers of the projected annual operating 
shortfalls. BART is working to develop strategies to address the 
misalignment between capital funding and capital needs that could 
relieve the pressure on the operating budget. 
 


Figure 5-1 BART’s Capital Financial Outlook, FY15-24 


 


  


$‐


$200 


$400 


$600 


$800 


$1,000 


$1,200 


$1,400 


$1,600 


$1,800 


$2,000 


FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24


M
ill
io
n
s


CIP Need CIP Funding







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-4 


Decision-Making Factors 


BART considers number of factors when determining which capital projects 
are allocated the limited funding that is available. The Asset Management 
Program, described in Chapter 2, is refining and standardizing the manner in 
which BART decides to fund projects and related operating expenditures. In 
the past, BART has taken into consideration most of the factors listed below 
when considering which projects to fund, but the Asset Management 
Program, managed by the Budget Project Governance Group, will ensure 
that the process is transparent, accountable, and evidence-based. BART 
considers the following questions when deciding which projects to fund:  


 Does this expenditure provide the best value? 
 Does this expenditure maximize value for money? 
 Does this expenditure help BART manage risk? 
 Does this expenditure address BART’s biggest identified sources of 


risk? 
 Does this expenditure close an identified need (i.e., a gap between 


target and actual service levels)? 
 Does this expenditure minimize life-cycle cost?  
 Does this expenditure yield ongoing operational cost savings either 


through efficiency or reduced risk?  
 Does this expenditure align with BART’s six-point strategy for long-


term financial sustainability?  


In addition, BART takes the following factors into consideration before 
finalizing its resource allocation strategy: 


 Equity: Does this project support BART’s mission to ensure equitable 
and just investments that support customers throughout its system?  


 Environmental Justice: Does this project comply with federal Title VI 
and BART’s environmental justice policies? 


 Project Continuity: Is this project already underway and does it need 
ongoing funding to continue implementation from a prior year? 


 Project Interdependence: Are other projects dependent on this 
project? Is this project dependent on others? 


  







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-5 


CAPITAL NEEDS 


The CIP includes hundreds of capital improvement projects. For ease of 
understanding, these individual projects have been grouped into nine major 
infrastructure categories and a series of subcategories. The list of categories 
and subcategories is shown in Figure 5-2 below. Each category and 
subcategory is subsequently briefly described.  


Many of the projects described here are explicitly designed to mitigate 
system risks that have been identified through the Asset Management 
Program. BART’s six Asset Management Plans provide detailed descriptions 
of asset condition, performance, and the risk created by not adequately 
investing in each type of capital asset, as well as suggestions for mitigating 
these identified risks.  


To fully fund the current CIP would require approximately $9.6 billion from 
FY15-FY24. The full CIP financial need projections for FY15 through FY24 are 
shown in Figure 5-3. Of these needs, 74.5% of the CIP is system 
reinvestment, another 17.5% is for service and capacity enhancement and 
the remainder is for system expansion, earthquake safety and other 
planning and Transit-Oriented Development (TOD) projects as illustrated 
below. Detail on total project costs and timelines for the “Big 3” and major 
BART system expansion projects is provided in Figure 5-4.  


 


System 
Reinvestment


74.5%


Service and 
Capacity 


Enhancement
17.5%


System 
Expansion


3.3%


Earthquake 
Safety
4.6%


Other
0.1%







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-6 


Figure 5-2 Overview of CIP Categories and Subcategories 


Categories Subcategories 


BART Stations  BART Metro Station Capacity 
 Communication Systems 
 Emergency Response 
 Escalators/Elevators 
 Facility Upgrades 
 Fare Collection 
 Landscaping 
 Lighting 


 Planning 
 Platforms 
 Plazas & Concourses 
 Signage 
 Stairs 
 Transit-Oriented Development 
 Waste Management 
 Water Infrastructure 


Station Access  Accessibility 
 Bike Access 


 Intermodal Facilities 
 Parking Facilities 


Trains and Other 
Vehicles 


 Non-Revenue Vehicles 
 Railcars 


 Train Equipment 


Tracks & Related 
Infrastructure 


 Aerial Structures 
 All Guideways 
 At-Grade Guideways 
 BART Metro Track Capacity 
 Earthquake Safety 
 Emergency Repair 
 Emergency Response 


 Grounds 
 Lighting 
 Tracks 
 Transbay Tube 
 Tunnels 
 Ventilation Systems 
 Water Infrastructure 


Maintenance Shops 
& Yards 


 Electrical Systems 
 Emergency Response 
 Lighting 
 Maintenance Buildings & Facilities 
 Mechanical Systems 


 Parking Facilities  
 Security Systems 
 Shop Equipment 
 Tools & Equipment 
 Water Infrastructure 


Train Control, 
Power Systems, and 
Communications 


 Communication Systems 
 Electrical Systems 
 Facility Upgrades 
 Integrated Computer Systems (ICS) 


and Related Infrastructure 


 Traction Power 
 Train Control 
 Wireless 


Security  BART Police 
 Building Security 
 CCTV 


 Emergency Response 
 Station Security 


Administration  Customer Service 
 Information Technology 


 Office of External Affairs 
 Studies 


BART System 
Expansion 


 BART-to-Oakland Int’l Airport 
 eBART 
 Grounds 
 Infill Stations 


 Livermore 
 Planning 
 Silicon Valley Berryessa Extension 
 Warm Springs  







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-7 


Figure 5-3 CIP Funding Needs ($ thousands)  


CIP Categories FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 Total FY15-24 


BART Stations  $335,461 $161,653 $138,524 $153,823 $132,964 $126,645 $124,471 $112,389 $106,162 $61,967 $1,454,057 


BART Metro Station Capacity 13,000 13,000 13,000 13,000 13,000 13,000 13,000 13,000 13,000 13,000 130,000 


Communication Systems 29,529 12,828 6,142 3,342 3,333 3,333 3,333 0 0 0 61,841 


Emergency Response 38,626 11,326 8,409 7,093 3,333 3,933 1,700 1,100 1,100 600 77,220 


Escalators/Elevators 53,648 24,621 22,499 21,536 29,528 29,528 28,595 28,595 28,595 30,500 297,646 


Facility Upgrades 90,000 46,715 44,107 44,960 38,127 30,627 30,627 23,127 22,733 6,000 377,023 


Fare Collection 25,376 7,975 4,409 20,875 18,875 18,489 18,482 18,333 18,333 0 151,148 


Landscaping 4,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 22,000 


Lighting 5,083 3,667 3,000 5,583 3,333 8,667 8,667 8,667 7,333 4,000 58,000 


Planning 111 88 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 201 


Platforms 22,000 12,000 12,000 12,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 70,000 


Plazas & Concourses 27,105 13,620 11,645 11,500 9,500 9,500 9,500 9,500 6,000 0 107,870 


Signage 9,692 6,866 4,366 2,500 2,500 0 0 0 0 0 25,924 


Stairs 4,900 3,900 3,900 3,900 3,900 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 500 27,000 


Transit-Oriented Development 125 13 13 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 151 


Waste Management 6,067 533 533 533 533 533 533 533 533 333 10,667 


Water Infrastructure 6,200 2,500 2,500 5,000 3,000 3,533 4,533 4,033 3,033 3,033 37,367 


Station Access  95,323 34,161 25,358 24,600 22,400 26,547 26,547 26,547 26,547 9,122 317,153 


Accessibility  50,592 21,150 14,390 14,390 13,500 13,500 13,500 13,500 13,500 0 168,022 


Bike Access  8,705 1,600 900 600 1,100 789 789 789 789 789 16,850 


Intermodal Facilities  25,154 7,015 5,673 5,417 4,167 4,167 4,167 4,167 4,167 2,667 66,759 


Parking Facilities  10,872 4,395 4,395 4,193 3,633 8,092 8,092 8,092 8,092 5,667 65,523 


(Continued on the following page) 
  







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-8 


CIP Categories FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 Total FY15-24 


Trains and Other Vehicles  80,011 57,359 190,710 546,025 597,565 499,937 467,808 473,916 27,214 64,630 3,005,175 


Non-Revenue Vehicles 21,527 9,365 9,365 9,073 9,073 1,766 1,766 1,766 0 14,983 78,684 


Railcars  49,949 47,587 180,938 536,952 588,492 498,171 466,042 472,150 27,214 49,647 2,917,142 


Train Equipment 8,535 407 407 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9,350 


Tracks and Related Infrastructure  595,246 134,306 117,328 104,273 113,018 142,480 142,168 167,534 148,701 129,645 1,794,698 


Aerial Structures 43,911 10,567 4,287 4,250 17,583 17,583 17,583 4,250 4,250 250 124,515 


All Guideways 6,959 3,424 3,424 3,250 2,250 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 0 23,308 


At-Grade Guideways 316,322 556 556 556 556 556 556 556 556 0 320,767 


BART Metro Track Capacity  4,300 0 1,000 0 3,500 6,750 6,750 44,550 44,550 37,800 149,200 


Earthquake Safety  70,238 48,077 40,226 40,212 40,212 40,212 40,212 40,212 40,212 40,212 440,024 


Emergency Repair  2,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 0 10,000 


Emergency Response  1,375 875 875 375 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,500 


Grounds  16,142 7,286 5,940 2,413 2,413 32,413 32,100 32,100 32,100 31,350 194,255 


Lighting  1,836 824 824 813 500 0 0 0 0 0 4,797 


Tracks  70,340 26,920 26,920 21,500 21,000 21,000 21,000 21,000 6,500 3,000 239,180 


Transbay Tube  11,450 4,044 1,544 772 772 500 500  333 333 20,249 


Tunnels  40,757 25,228 22,728 21,633 21,633 20,800 20,800 22,200 18,200 16,700 230,680 


Ventilation Systems  9,616 5,504 5,504 5,000 1,600 667 667 667 0 0 29,223 


Water Infrastructure  0 0 2,500 2,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,000 


 
(Continued on the following page) 
 
  







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-9 


CIP Categories FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 Total FY15-24 


Maintenance Shops & Yards  190,638 115,247 117,311 26,446 10,807 27,950 28,658 24,003 16,320 10,750 568,131 


Electrical Systems 11,500 3,833 1,333 1,333 0 56 56 56 56 0 18,225 


Emergency Response 35 4,035 4,035 4,035 35 0 1,000 0 0 0 13,175 


Lighting 685 279 959 893 805 805 730 0 0 0 5,155 


Maintenance Buildings and 
Facilities 


163,945 100,973 105,191 13,609 3,791 15,650 15,433 12,933 12,250 9,750 453,526 


Mechanical Systems 0 0 0 0 0 1,333 1,333 1,333 0 0 4,000 


Parking Facilities 3,000 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 0 15,000 


Security Systems 0 0 0 0 0 1,667 1,667 1,667 0 0 5,000 


Shop Equipment 5,458 1,779 1,779 2,563 2,163 2,425 2,425 2,000 0 0 20,591 


Tools & Equipment 3,099 1,514 1,514 1,514 1,514 1,514 1,514 1,514 1,514 1,000 16,209 


Water Infrastructure 2,917 1,333 1,000 1,000 1,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 1,000  17,250 


Train Control, Power Systems, 
and Communications  


480,250 197,720 162,714 163,328 127,174 252,729 212,015 190,560 138,990 92,415 2,017,896 


Communication Systems 24,667 7,638 7,176 7,300 7,000 39,658 17,533 17,533 7,600 0 136,107 


Electrical Systems 67,823 35,613 24,674 20,430 14,863 11,313 3,167 3,167 3,167 667 184,883 


Facility Upgrades 2,110 1,055 1,055 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 0 10,220 


Integrated Computer Systems 
(ICS) and Related Infrastructure 


6,902 2,150 2,000 0 1,667 4,067 2,667 0 0 0 19,452 


Traction Power 237,485 91,788 66,991 58,444 42,444 55,516 38,348 52,110 45,473 32,348 720,947 


Train Control 140,863 59,357 60,699 76,154 60,200 137,175 145,300 112,750 77,750 55,400 925,648 


Wireless 401 119 119 0 0 4,000 4,000 4,000 4,000 4,000 20,639 


 


(Continued on the following page)  







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-10 


CIP Categories FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 Total FY15-24 


Security  35,787 14,951 11,270 5,533 5,176 13,976 14,484 7,737 7,835 7,533 124,282 


BART Police 17,071 7,741 7,194 2,000 1,643 2,345 2,645 1,370 1,468 500 43,976 


Building Security 0 0 0 0 0 800 0 0 0 0 800 


CCTV 1,085 543 543 0 0 9,508 8,183 3,833 3,833 3,833 31,362 


Emergency Response 0 0 0 0 0 498 498 0 0 0 995 


Station Security 17,631 6,668 3,533 3,533 3,533 825 3,158 2,533 2,533 3,200 47,149 


Administration  4,872 1,839 514 546 531 572 168 12 12 0 9,067 


Customer Service 42 21 21 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 83 


Information Technology 3,633 1,807 482 475 475 475 150 0 0 0 7,497 


Office of External Affairs 577 12 11 71 56 97 18 12 12 0 866 


Studies 621 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 621 


BART System Expansion  193,423 75,487 31,134 14,266 1,776 1,776 0 0 0 0 317,863 


BART-to-Oakland 
International Airport 


22,108 21,618 7,486 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 51,212 


eBART 19,920 14,039 12,584 12,489 0 0 0 0 0 0 59,033 


Grounds 174 87 87 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 347 


Infill Stations 654 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 654 


Livermore 3,747 3,747 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,495 


Planning 585 181 181 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 948 


Silicon Valley Berryessa 
Extension 


2,404 1,776 1,776 1,776 1,776 1,776 0 0 0 0 11,286 


Warm Springs 143,831 34,038 9,020 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 186,889 


Grand Total 2,011,011 792,722 794,864 1,038,839 1,011,412 1,092,613 1,016,320 1,002,698 471,780 376,063 9,608,321 


 
 







 


5-11 


Figure 5-4 Major BART Investments’ Schedule and Total Cost 


Project 
Total 


Cost (M$) 


Schedule 


Enter 
Revenue 
Service Project Funding 


Rail Cars (1,000) $3,286.0 FY171 FY08 - FY27 FY10 - FY27 


Hayward Maintenance 
Complex (HMC) 


$432.9 FY172 FY10 - FY18 FY10 - FY19 


Train Control Modernization 
Project (TCMP) 


$700-
$9004 


FY203 FY12 - FY24 FY12 - FY30 


BART-to-OAK $484.1 FY15 FY11 - FY15  


Warm Springs Extension 
(WSX) 


$767.0 FY16 FY10 - FY17 FY07 - FY28 


eBART $506.0 FY18 FY10 - FY17 FY18 


1. Multi-year project. First cars to be delivered in FY17. 


2. Multi-year project. Must improvements functional by FY17. 


3. Multi-year project. Transbay and Oakland Wye improvements estimated to begin in FY20. 


4. Cost depends on technology selected. 


BART Stations 


BART has 44 stations – 16 subway stations, 12 elevated and 16 at ground 
level. Every station has buildings, fare gates, fare collection equipment, 
elevators and escalators, plazas, waiting areas, and many other features that 
support passengers accessing, waiting for, and boarding BART trains every 
day.  Some station plazas are used by the community as civic spaces.  Other 
stations connect to transit-oriented development, which often combines 
housing with office space and shopping. 


Stations also include a great deal of infrastructure that is not easily visible or 
noticed by everyday users. This type of infrastructure includes water and 
ventilation systems, lighting, emergency infrastructure, and waste 
management equipment. Asset Management Plans identify the risks 
associated with stations, some of which include: older station roofs that 
allow water intrusion into public and non-public spaces and leads to 
deterioration of infrastructure. Plumbing/sewer drains are also old, which 
can result in undetected leaks, flooding, electrolysis, or fire system failures. 


Capital improvement projects for stations are grouped into several 
subcategories described below.  


BART Metro Station Capacity 


As noted in the Building a Better BART section of this report, the BART 
Metro Core Capacity Capital Improvement Program encompasses a package 







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-12 


of projects to enhance BART service and capacity. It includes two phases – 
Metro Commute, which focuses on service strategies and investments to 
support growing ridership within the existing core system, and Metro Vision, 
which provides a framework for long-term service enhancements and system 
expansion. 


Capacity is simply a measure of the station’s ability to accommodate riders, 
whether in station plazas and concourses or on the station platform. 
Capacity is especially important during peak commuting hours.  In part, the 
BART Metro planning initiative includes projects designed to increase station 
capacity at existing core stations to ensure that more passengers are able to 
get to and from the platforms and safely wait for the trains. BART Metro 
station capacity projects such as additional platforms and elevators will be 
particularly helpful in accommodating BART's growing ridership safely and 
efficiently. 


Communication Systems 


Communication systems at the station level include infrastructure and 
technology to convey information to passengers. Examples of projects 
included in the CIP are: 


 Replacement of the public address system BART uses to make 
announcements  


 Replacement of the destination signs on station platforms 
 Installation of real-time train arrival displays  


Emergency Response 


These projects ensure that BART has adequate information and 
infrastructure in place to quickly and safely respond in the event of an 
emergency as well as ensure that station areas are safe and secure at all 
times. Examples of projects included in the CIP are: 


 Replacement of station fire alarms  
 Replacement of sprinkler heads 
 Rehabilitation/installation of emergency lighting  


Escalators/Elevators 


There are over 173 escalators and 130 elevators throughout the BART 
system. In operation continuously during service hours, they require a great 
deal of regular maintenance and upkeep. Most stations only have one 
elevator to get people on to a platform or into a station.  As a result, if just 
one elevator is out of service, a customer who must use the elevator is 
unable to access that station.  Keeping the elevators in service at the 90% 
level is managed by prioritizing escalator maintenance second.  Escalators 







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-13 


are used by most patrons, so an out-of-service escalator results in several 
complaints from customers, but the station is still accessible by most patrons.  
Escalators that lead to streets are exposed to the outside elements, which 
contributes to increased maintenance issues. 


Examples of short- and long-term capital improvements to escalators and 
elevators are:  


 Replacement and/or renovation of street level escalator canopies 
 Basic elevator renovation 
 Louder elevator gongs and brighter call buttons (which have been 


faded by the sun) at Lake Merritt station 


Facility Upgrades 


As BART stations age and experience the wear and tear of daily use, the 
various components that make up station areas and buildings need to be 
replaced. BART is also planning to install infrastructure to help shield 
surrounding neighborhoods from the noise created by BART and other 
activities that occur at stations. Examples of capital improvements to station 
facilities are: 


 Replacements of station roofs  
 Installment of noise abatement facilities 
 Rehabilitation of employee facilities  


Fare Collection 


Station fare collection equipment includes fare gates, Clipper card 
technology, change machines, and other infrastructure that enables 
passengers to make, and BART to collect and process, fare payments. 
Examples of projects included in the CIP are: 


 Replacement of fare collection computer equipment 
 Installation of bill-to-bill change machines 
 Removal of bus transfer machines and subsequent site restoration  


Landscaping 


Landscaping projects include re-planting of outdoor areas and other 
improvements to the natural areas around station structures and plazas.  


Lighting 


BART station lighting includes lights that illuminate the platforms, station 
concourses, and station parking lots. Examples of projects included in the CIP 
are: 







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-14 


 Retrofit of underground station lighting to LED for energy efficiency 
 Installation of programmable lighting panels for all stations 


Planning 


Station planning projects largely include studies about expanding station 
capacity.  


Platforms 


Station platforms are where riders wait for, board, and get off trains. 
Platform projects include basic renovation of platform components, such as 
the systemwide replacement of the platform edge detectable warning 
system (i.e., the “yellow strip”).  


Plazas and Concourses 


Station plazas and concourses include both unpaid and paid areas within the 
station, as well as infrastructure immediately outside the station. Related 
infrastructure includes paths, patios, street furniture, and sidewalks. Projects 
in this subcategory typically include renovation and/or replacement of key 
plaza components, such as tiles and other hardscapes.  


Signage 


BART station signage includes station name signs and directional signage. 
Projects in this subcategory include installing new signage to help 
passengers better navigate within the stations and get oriented before they 
exit. Some stations are scheduled to receive a full upgrade of all the signage, 
echoing the complete signage renovation at the Ashby and downtown San 
Francisco stations. 


Stairs 


In addition to escalators and elevators, stairs are the primary forms of access 
between the street, concourse, and platform levels. Stairway projects 
include: 


 Replacement of handrails and guardrails  
 Replacement of station stair tread to keep passengers from slipping 


Transit-Oriented Development 


BART’s station parking lots are prime locations for transit-oriented, mixed-
use developments. Transit-oriented development (TOD) generally includes 
one or more of the following elements: a combination of office, retail, civic 
and/or residential uses; high density development; walkable, bikeable 
design; and easy transit access.  TOD can significantly increase transit 







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-15 


ridership.  Joint transit-oriented development projects are being planned or 
built at several stations, including Walnut Creek, MacArthur, Coliseum, San 
Leandro, South Hayward, and Millbrae.  


Waste Management 


With hundreds of thousands of riders passing through each day, significant 
quantities of waste are generated at stations every day. Examples of projects 
to ensure BART is able to adequately manage waste collection and disposal 
are: 


 Replacement of trash compactors  
 Replacement of station trash cans  


Water Infrastructure 


Water infrastructure at BART stations includes pumps, storm water drainage 
systems, and irrigation for station area landscaping.   


Examples of projects included in the CIP are: 


 Upgrades to storm water treatment systemwide 
 Replacement of irrigation systems and maintenance of valves 


Station Access 


There are a wide variety of facilities and improvements that give riders 
access to BART stations including bike facilities, bus and shuttle loading 
areas, and parking facilities. BART manages 47,000 parking spaces across 33 
stations. Almost all BART stations have bike racks, over half of BART stations 
have bike lockers, and four stations now have bike stations. BART also has 
many features throughout the system to accommodate people with 
disabilities, such as tactile pathways, Braille signage, and audible 
announcements. 


 Capital improvement projects for station access are grouped into 
subcategories described below.  


Accessibility 


Like all transit agencies across the United States, BART is required by the 
ADA to ensure that all patrons may safely access BART. Examples of ADA 
accessibility projects in the CIP include:  


 Installation of accessible fare gates 
 Installation of Braille signage at stations, including elevators 
 Replacement/renovation of pavement and reduction of slopes at the 


Castro Valley intermodal area 







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-16 


Bike Access 


BART has increased bike accessibility over the past several years in a number 
of ways, including revising the agency’s bike policy to be more inclusive and 
installing bike lockers and other infrastructure to make it easier for bicyclists 
to access and ride BART. Future bike access needs include additional bike 
lockers, bike stations, and stair channels throughout the BART system.  


Intermodal Facilities 


Intermodal facilities are locations where BART riders can access connecting 
transit services such as AC Transit, Muni, and SamTrans buses. Examples of 
intermodal facility improvements in the CIP include repaving of station 
intermodal areas, which endure daily wear and tear from constant use.  


Parking Facilities 


Thirty-three of BART’s 44 stations have on-site parking facilities, such as 
multi-story parking garages and surface lots. Examples of projects here 
include: 


 Renovations of elevators in parking garages 
 Improvements to lighting in and around parking areas 
 Renewal of paint for striping and curbs in parking areas 


Trains and Other Vehicles 


BART has a fleet of 669 rail cars, which are joined into 3- to 10-car trains to 
provide daily service. BART’s current fleet is the oldest in the United States 
and is in constant need of maintenance and repair. Rehabilitation and 
upgrade of BART’s railcars in the late 1990s helped prolong the life of these 
essential vehicles, but they are now in need of replacement.  BART has 
embarked on a project to acquire new cars – its Fleet of the Future – 
described more fully below.  BART staff also use a wide range of non-
revenue vehicles to maintain and access the BART system. 


The primary need of this category is investing in the Fleet of the Future, 
which are the railcars that will carry BART passengers for the next 40 years.  


Non-Revenue Vehicles 


Non-revenue vehicles are any vehicles that are not used for passenger 
service. BART staff use over 30 different types of service vehicles to support 
BART train service, including rail grinding vehicles, which are used to grind 
down rough patches of track, and maintenance trucks at yards. Asset 
Management Plans identify the risks associated with non-revenue vehicles, 
which include inadequate shop space to support fleet maintenance; an 
aging non-revenue fleet, which increases down-time of critical assets needed 







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-17 


for track maintenance; and, for track equipment, customized parts that are 
very expensive and have a long procurement lead time. In addition, 
although the size of the BART system has increased over the past 20 years, 
there has not been a commensurate increase in the fleet of maintenance 
equipment.  Projects in the CIP include systematic replacement of non-
revenue vehicles and related equipment due to age and wear and tear.  


Railcars 


BART’s railcars are among its most visible capital assets. With railcars that are 
over 40 years old, BART launched the process of acquiring its Fleet of the 
Future, a project to expand BART’s current fleet from 669 to as many as 
1,000 railcars. This will improve the reliability of BART’s fleet, decrease 
maintenance costs, relieve crowding, and help meet growing demand 
associated with regional population growth and system expansions. In 2012, 
BART chose Bombardier Transportation to build BART's Fleet of the Future. 
The project is currently in the design and engineering phase. A complex 
supply chain and assembly process, followed by testing, will result in the first 
new train cars going into service in 2017. In 2015, Bombardier will deliver 10 
fully functional pilot cars that will spend 18 months in the Bay Area running 
on BART test tracks and throughout the BART system outside of normal 
operating hours. During this qualification and testing phase, BART and 
Bombardier will verify and validate the train car performance prior to 
manufacturing the railcars for revenue service. 


Train Equipment 


Train equipment includes components and parts of railcars that allow them 
to operate normally and provide passenger comfort. Projects of this nature 
in the CIP include continued replacement of the floors and heating and air 
conditioning units of existing railcars in the short-term, prior to the full 
deployment of the Fleet of the Future.  


Tracks and Related Infrastructure 


BART operates 104 route miles of track: 37 miles in subways and tunnels; 23 
miles on aerial structures; and 44 miles at ground level. In addition, BART 
maintains 500 linear miles of track throughout the entire system. 


Aerial Structures 


Aerial (or “elevated”) structures allow BART trains to travel at high speed 
above the ground, which frees up space for streets, trails, and other uses 
under the tracks. As aerial structures age, BART will need to reinvest in 
infrastructure, such as sound walls, steel girder bridges, and catwalks—
structures that allow staff access to equipment along aerial structures.  







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-18 


All Guideways 


This subcategory simply refers to projects that apply to trackways 
throughout the system, whether aerial, at-grade, or underground. Examples 
of these types of projects include: 


 Restoration of handrails along emergency walkways 
 Control and repair of steel corrosion 


At-Grade Guideways 


Another term for at-grade is “ground level.” This subcategory includes 
capital investment projects that renew BART trackways at the surface level 
or on embankments. At-grade projects in the CIP primarily include slope 
stabilization and the rehabilitation of embankments at key locations in the 
system.  


BART Metro Track Capacity 


BART Metro projects related to tracks and related infrastructure include a 
series of capital improvements that would allow BART to improve its service 
flexibility and reliability while also filling empty seats during the off-peak 
and creating a high frequency service in the region's core. These 
improvements specifically involve the installation of a limited number of tail 
tracks, pocket tracks, and track crossovers at locations such as Richmond, 
Lafayette, Dublin/Pleasanton, Bay Fair, Daly City, Millbrae, and Glen Park. 
that allow trains to switch directions without going all the way to the end of 
the line, allowing additional peak trains in core areas. 


Earthquake Safety 


From 2009 to the present, BART has been steadily investing in crucial seismic 
upgrades to its core infrastructure. In particular, the Earthquake Safety 
Program, which seeks to strengthen the BART system and its facilities as 
quickly as possible while maintaining normal BART service, will be complete 
in 2023.  


Emergency Repair 


Emergency repair projects are those that address the needs caused by 
emergencies, such as repairing substations after failures, fixing broken rails, 
or cleaning up storm damage. Projects such as these occur on an ad hoc basis 
as they are undertaken only in response to an unplanned event.  







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-19 


Emergency Response 


In contrast, projects in the emergency response category address 
reinvestment needs for infrastructure that supports fire response and 
suppression along trackways.  


Grounds 


BART grounds include rights-of-way and other ground level areas around 
trackways and buildings. Asset Management Plans identify the risks 
associated with guideways and grounds, some of which include major 
deterioration of sound walls along several lines; broken irrigation systems at 
stations, resulting in dead vegetation that can become a fire hazard; and 
damaged right-of-way fencing that may not meet California Public Utilities 
Commission (CPUC) requirements in the next five years. 


Grounds projects in the CIP include: 


 Management of vegetation on BART grounds 
 Replacement and renewal of fencing 


Lighting 


Trackway lighting mainly includes emergency lighting and other lights in 
tunnels.  


Tracks 


BART’s tracks include the rails on which BART runs. Ensuring that the tracks 
are always in top shape requires a great deal of ongoing maintenance and 
reinvestment. Asset Management Plans identify the risks associated with 
track, some of which include old and unreliable track equipment and worn 
existing track in need of replacement.  


Sample projects in the CIP include:  


 Replacement of ties at switches and regular track segments 
 Renewal of rails along regular track segments 


Transbay Tube 


BART’s Transbay Tube links San Francisco and Oakland and runs along the 
bottom of the San Francisco Bay. As the most crucial link in the system, it 
requires constant maintenance and reinvestment to ensure that it remains 
safe and reliable. An investment project for the Transbay Tube includes the 
replacement of cross-passage doors and hardware to ensure emergency 
egress.  







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-20 


Tunnels 


BART has several major tunnels in the system in addition to the Transbay 
Tube. These include the Berkeley Hills Tunnel and the subway sections in San 
Francisco, downtown Oakland, and downtown Berkeley. Asset Management 
Plans identify the risks associated with tunnels, such as deterioration of the 
Berkeley Hills tunnel liner in the area of the Hayward Fault and premature 
failure of tracks and train control equipment due to groundwater intrusion 
in some locations between San Francisco and Millbrae. 


Tunnel capital projects in the CIP include: 


 Waterproofing of the tunnel and related facilities at Ashby and 
Berkeley stations on the Richmond line 


 Earthquake mitigation in the Berkeley Hills Tunnel 


Ventilation Systems 


Investments in ventilation systems help control the temperatures at BART 
stations and trackways through the use of fans and other equipment. A 
number of replacements and upgrades are needed to ensure that this 
equipment continues to operate efficiently.  


Maintenance Shops and Yards 


BART has five maintenance facilities as well as tools and other equipment to 
support the upkeep and repair of the BART system. The four rail car 
facilities, located near the Hayward, Concord, Richmond, and Daly City 
stations, are used for preventive and unscheduled maintenance, with heavy 
maintenance performed at Hayward. The Oakland Shop is used to maintain 
BART’s fleet of non-revenue support vehicles.  


Electrical Systems 


This subcategory of projects includes key electrical system upgrades and 
replacements at maintenance facilities.  


Emergency Response 


Emergency response projects at maintenance shops and yards include 
reinvestments in fire hoses and piping at key locations.  


Lighting 


Projects to improve lighting at maintenance shops and yards include 
upgrades to fixtures in storage yard areas and in shop buildings.  







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-21 


Maintenance Buildings and Facilities 


Maintenance facilities and yards include a number of components, paint 
shops, fueling stations, storage areas, and offices for staff. Projects in this 
subcategory generally include rehabilitations and/or expansions of existing 
facilities to ensure they continue to meet the needs of an expanding fleet.  


A major investment in this category is the expansion of the Hayward 
Maintenance Complex (HMC). While BART already has a maintenance yard in 
Hayward, the agency plans to expand the HMC to accommodate the 
growing fleet and system expansion. The HMC project has two components:  


 Reconfiguration of the existing Hayward Yard 
 Acquisition of three adjacent properties on the west side of the 


existing Hayward Yard for a larger primary repair shop, a new 
component repair shop, a vehicle overhaul shop, a new central parts 
warehouse, and a new maintenance and engineering repair shop 


Investment in the new HMC is essential to ensuring that BART’s maintenance 
and repair capacity is sufficient to support existing and new infrastructure, 
particularly as the Silicon Valley Berryessa Extension project and the Fleet of 
the Future are put into service in the second half of this decade.  


Mechanical Systems 


Mechanical systems at yards and shops include heating, ventilation, and air 
conditioning (HVAC) units and systems. 


Parking Facilities 


Employees access and/or park at maintenance shops and yard parking areas 
using access and service roads. A project in the CIP is the repaving of these 
areas to ensure that they remain viable in the long term.  


Security Systems 


Maintenance shops and yards must be properly secured to ensure that 
BART’s important assets remain intact. The CIP includes one major security 
systems project in this category: improving security at the Oakland Shops 
and Yards.  


Shop Equipment 


Shop equipment includes a variety of key machines and shop components 
that allow staff to adequately maintain BART railcars and other assets. Shop 
equipment include train washers, shop heaters, overhead cranes, and units 
for large-scale washing. Projects in this subcategory involve replacement of 
these types of equipment.  







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-22 


Tools and Equipment 


This subcategory includes general tools and equipment used by BART 
maintenance staff to complete their duties in a variety of fields, including 
systems and power/mechanical maintenance.  


Water Infrastructure 


Water infrastructure at maintenance shops and yards generally includes 
standard water and sewage connections and pumps, as well as treatment 
plans for wastewater created at each of the four BART yards. Examples of 
projects in this subcategory are infrastructure replacement once existing 
units and systems have become obsolete.  


Train Control, Power Systems, and Communications 


BART’s trains, stations, and other facilities operate continuously due to a 
number of key systems that provide a functional foundation for BART 
service. Three major types of systems are covered in this category: train 
control, power systems, and communications. This category also includes 
other types of systems that enable BART to function properly. 


Two significant BART reinvestment projects are included in this category: 
Train Control Modernization, which is one of the Core Capacity “Big 3” 
projects, and the new Operations Control Center (OCC).  


Communication Systems 


BART’s communication systems form the backbone of its supervisory and 
control systems. They consist of fiber optic cable plant and computer systems 
that control and route all commands to the field from the Operations 
Control Center (OCC). The OCC functions as the nerve center of BART's 104-
mile system, performing supervisory control of train operations and remote 
control of electrification, ventilation, and emergency response systems. The 
display boards use computer imaging and video projection to display the 
entire system, combining information into two modules: one for track and 
train positions and the other for maintenance information and 
electrification. In addition, OCC personnel can monitor train movements and 
activities in and around stations via remote cameras located at key points. 
The OCC was constructed in 1972 and will be replaced in FY18. 


Communication systems are critical to ensuring that OCC staff can 
consistently monitor activity throughout the BART system at all times. 
Another primary communication network is the trunked radio system, which 
is used for a variety of daily functions. Also, throughout the BART system, 
closed-circuit television (CCTV) infrastructure functions dually as a key 
component of BART’s operational oversight and security functions. Asset 







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-23 


Management Plans identify the risks associated with communications, such 
as insufficient storage capacity of the VCR/DVR for CCTV and obsolescence of 
the majority of analog CCTV cameras and many of the aged communications 
systems. 


Improvement projects for communication systems in the CIP include: 


 Upgrade of system CCTV’s  
 Replacement of  various telephone network components 


Electrical Systems 


This subcategory includes BART’s 1,000 volt DC electricity third rail which 
propels trains at up to 80 miles per hour and other electrical infrastructure 
for powering BART facilities. This electrical equipment supports BART’s 
traction power system, electrical generators, and related infrastructure. 
Examples of projects included in this subcategory are: 


 Replacement of power generators 
 Replacement of breakers and wiring on fans systemwide 
 Replacement of coverings for BART’s third rail power source 


Facility Upgrades 


Some electrical infrastructure is housed in substations at various locations 
around the BART system. An example of a facility upgrade project in the CIP 
is repainting substations.  


Integrated Computer Systems (ICS) and Related Infrastructure 


BART’s Integrated Computer System is a major component in BART’s train 
control and supervisory system, along with the OCC, the train control system, 
and on-board train operation computers. ICS, together with the 
communications network, essentially allows the OCC to control and monitor 
the systems and devices that run BART trains.  


This subcategory also includes other computer systems that monitor BART 
facility performance and provide passenger information (like the Destination 
Sign System). Asset Management Plans identify the risks associated with the 
ICS and related infrastructure, including an ICS Central Computer that is 
nearing the end of its useful life. This system is critical to operations. BART 
has a limited number and, in some cases, no spare parts for the existing 
destination sign system. Any sudden failures that cannot be repaired 
because of insufficient spare parts could result in failure to meet ADA and 
other service requirements. 







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-24 


Sample projects in this subcategory include several upgrades and 
improvements to expand the ability of the ICS in smartly guiding train 
control operations.  


Traction Power 


The Traction Power System (TPS) is what propels BART trains by providing 
electricity to BART’s third rail. The TPS is supported through a set of 118 
substations, over 700 high voltage circuit breakers and switchgear, over 1.5 
million linear feet of cabling, and other electrical equipment. Projects in the 
CIP include routine replacement and rehabilitation of this equipment to 
ensure that BART is able to draw power for its daily operations.  


Train Control 


The train control system consists of both hardware and software that is used 
to ensure safe operation of the system. It monitors train location, ensures 
sufficient distance between trains, manages train movements, and helps 
staff to analyze and report on any issues.  


The Train Control Modernization Project entails replacing aging train control 
equipment and upgrading it with a Communications-Based Train Control 
(CBTC) system that will improve the reliability of the system, decrease the 
run time of trains between stations, and enhance the efficiency of 
maintenance. Specifically, modernizing BART’s train control system will allow 
trains to operate on the tracks at more closely-spaced intervals and at faster 
speeds, thereby increasing the BART system’s capacity to carry passengers. A 
modernized train control system will enable BART to meet the projected 
demand of over 30,000 peak hour/peak direction passengers; compared to 
today’s approximately 21,000 riders. 


Wireless 


Projects to improve wireless connectivity on BART are also a component of 
BART’s communication networks. Future projects include improving Wi-Fi 
access aboard trains and at other locations throughout the system.  


Security 


The security of the BART system is primarily provided by BART Police. In 
addition, BART has a robust emergency preparedness program, coordinated 
with adjacent jurisdictions, and a dedicated Safety Department. In addition 
to BART Police, security investments can be subcategorized, as described 
below. 







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-25 


BART Police 


BART Police is BART’s own police department, which provides security at all 
of BART’s stations and facilities. Future investments in the department 
include: 


 Improvements to staff facilities (break/locker/other rooms) 
 Improvements to other facilities (e.g., the evidence room) 
 Rehabilitation projects at other BART Police locations 


Building Security 


BART’s facilities are kept secure using CCTV and other access control systems 
that limit access to BART staff. Projects in this subcategory primarily include 
upgrading BART’s Access Control System and related infrastructure.  


CCTV 


While BART uses CCTV technology as a means to conduct routine 
observation of daily operational activities, it is also a crucial tool in ensuring 
that BART stations and facilities are safe and secure at all times. Projects in 
the CIP include: 


 Reinvestment in the reliability and coverage of on-train CCTV units  
 Installation of cameras in more elevators 
 Implementation of analytic tools for CCTV and other security data 


Emergency Response 


A project in this subcategory is to reinvest in fire extinguishers at locations 
throughout the system (not solely at stations). 


Station Security 


Station security infrastructure includes a variety of components, such as 
grates covering station entrances when BART is not operating and fencing 
and gates designed to secure paid fare areas by discouraging fare evasion. 
Investment projects in this subcategory include: 


 Reinvestment in station entrance roll-up grilles 
 Installation of additional station entrance protection 
 Mitigation of fare evasion 


Administration 


There are a variety of administrative activities and facilities behind the 
scenes that support BART, such as IT equipment, customer service, and 
planning studies. 







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-26 


Customer Service 


BART’s customer service activities include providing customer information 
through paper brochures, signage at stations, and information on a variety 
of online platforms. A major capital investment for BART’s customer service 
is the remodeling of BART’s Transit Information Center near the Lake Merritt 
station.  


Information Technology 


BART’s Information Technology department oversees BART’s administrative 
computer networks. Projects for the IT department include investments in 
asset management and computer hardware and software upgrades.  


Office of External Affairs 


BART’s Office of External Affairs primarily oversees media relations and 
public information programs. Capital projects for the Office of External 
Affairs include a BART Museum and other outreach equipment, as well as 
funding for the maintenance of items used for communications activities.  


Studies 


Administrative study projects include a review of BART’s real estate 
procedures and a report on refining BART’s train operator training 
simulator.  


BART System Expansion 


At the same time BART must reinvest in its core system infrastructure, it is 
also continuing to invest in system extensions, infill stations, and planning 
for future expansion. BART’s System Expansion Policy which sets forth the 
criteria for adding new BART service is included in Appendix A.  


BART is currently working on several capital projects to expand the system, 
including: 


 The BART-to-Oakland International Airport Project will link the 
Coliseum station with the Oakland International Airport and is 
expected to open in fall 2014.  


 The Warm Springs extension (WSX) is a 5.4-mile extension from the 
existing Fremont station to a new station in the Warm Springs District 
of South Fremont. This project is underway and projected to open in 
December 2015.  


 eBART is a 10-mile, one station extension of BART that will create a 
link from Pittsburg/Bay Point to Antioch in eastern Contra Costa 
County. The project will use a cost-effective technology called diesel 
multiple unit (DMU) trains that are run with clean-diesel technology 







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-27 


and can carry 300 to 400 people in each two-vehicle train. eBART is 
expected to begin service in 2017.  


 Silicon Valley Berryessa Extension (SVBX) will link the Warm 
Springs/South Fremont station (currently under construction) to 
Milpitas and Berryessa near San Jose. The SVBX will be constructed 
through a partnership between BART and the Santa Clara Valley 
Transportation Authority (VTA). This project is expected to open in 
2018.  


Specific projects related to these extensions are included in the CIP since the 
four expansion projects are currently underway. Additionally, BART planning 
staff is busy preparing for the future. Projects of this nature included in the 
CIP involve environmental planning for a potential extension to Livermore.  


CAPITAL FUNDING 


Securing capital funds in the Bay Area is challenging because of the number 
of transit operators within the region. Their collective need for replacement 
and expansion of capital assets and the consequent required funding creates 
a significant financial burden for the Bay Area. As identified in Plan Bay Area 
(the region’s federally mandated Regional Transportation Plan), over the 
next 28 years the Bay Area region is facing a $17 billion transit capital 
shortfall out of a $47 billion overall need.  The resulting funding uncertainty 
means that projects included in BART’s CIP will not necessarily be funded. 
Given these circumstances and the magnitude of BART's capital needs over 
the next 10 years and beyond, a very aggressive approach to securing 
discretionary grants will be necessary. Advocacy for project grant funding 
must be continuous at the county, regional, state, and federal levels from 
the moment a project is approved to the year that the grant is won. This 
process is labor intensive and requires persistent effort on the part of BART 
staff, Board members, and elected officials.  


Capital funds come from a wide variety of federal, state, regional, and local 
sources. With the exception of FTA Section 5307 and Transit Development 
Alternative funding formula allocations, other capital funding sources are 
one-time, competitive grants. With fierce competition for federal and state 
funding coupled with ongoing and recent tightening of regulations and 
restrictions on such funding, transit agencies increasingly need to rely on 
regional and local funding sources, including public/private partnerships. The 
fact that BART operates in four counties impedes local ownership of 
systemwide capital needs, which reduces BART's ability to secure local 
funding for these systemwide needs.  


Consistent with the terminology used by MTC in its Regional Transportation 
Plan, BART has identified future funding sources either as “committed” or 
“discretionary.” Committed funds are those already allocated to BART, 







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-28 


programmed, identified in an agreement, or that can be reasonably assumed 
to be committed to BART in the future. Discretionary funds are more 
speculative funding sources; these funds may require a vote of the electorate 
or legislative action and there is far less certainty that they will become 
available within the plan horizon.  


Also included in the funding projections is a modest amount of funds that 
have already been received by BART, but have not yet been expended; these 
sources are referred to as “previously identified” sources.  


Previously identified funding sources and committed funding sources are 
shown in Figure 5-5. Potential discretionary sources are shown in Figure 5-6. 
Committed and discretionary sources are each described in more detail after 
the figures.







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-29 


Figure 5-5 Capital Funding Sources: Previously Identified and Committed Funding ($thousands) 


  FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 Total  
FY 15-24 


Previously Identified Funding            


Total Previously Identified Funds $32,321 $32,321 $32,321 $32,321 $32,321 $32,321 $32,321 $32,321 $32,321 $32,321 $323,213 


Committed Funding            


Federal 


TCP - FTA Sections 5337 & 53071,19 $152,719 $154,480 $156,295 $158,163 $160,088 $162,071 $164,113 $166,216 $168,383 $170,614 $1,613,143 


STP 2nd Cycle TCS2 1,438 2,000 2,000 2,000 62,019 62,067 62,117 62,169 62,222 62,277 380,309 


TSP - Transit Performance Initiative3 3,713 3,825 3,939 4,057 4,179 4,305 4,434 4,567 4,704 4,845 42,567 


STP & CMAQ4,15 4,671 0 3,726 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 13,000 0 171,397 


State 


Proposition 1 B Security7 5,400 5,400 5,400 5,400 5,400 5,400 5,400 5,400 5,400 0 48,600 


Proposition 1A High Speed Rail Bonds8 148,600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 148,600 


Regional 


AB 664 Bridge Tolls & BATA Project Savings5, 15 20,320 20,449 20,583 20,720 20,862 21,008 21,158 21,313 21,472 21,636 209,520 


Local 


County Sales Taxes10 2,910 2,910 2,910 2,910 2,910 2,910 2,910 2,910 0 0 23,280 


VTA Contribution s17 76,833 6,304 24,584 67,783 57,788 13,028 1,757 912 6,742 3,454 259,185 


Alameda County Vehicle Registration Fees4 3,718 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,718 


BART 


BART Seismic GO Bonds9 43,000 43,000 43,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 129,000 


BART Op. Allocations to "Big 3" Core Capacity Projects & Capital4,11,12 82,178 79,033 79,387 72,305 161,288 242,534 111,938 78,140 80,750 87,317 1,074,869 


BART Op. Allocations - Other SGR Assets11 6,000 11,000 6,000 1,000 26,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 175,000 


BART Op. Allocations - Access11 4,344 4,033 3,959 4,194 4,436 4,604 4,858 5,119 5,388 5,663 46,599 


SFO Net Operating Revenue18 8,679 9,974 11,145 11,158 12,719 14,211 15,055 15,964 16,839 9,541 125,285 


Total Committed Funds 564,523 342,407 362,928 379,692 547,690 587,137 448,740 417,710 409,898 390,348 4,451,072 


TOTAL FUNDING 596,844 374,729 395,249 412,013 580,011 619,458 481,061 450,031 442,220 422,669 4,774,286 


  







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-30 


Figure 5-6 Capital Funding Sources: Potential Discretionary Funding ($thousands) 


  FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 


Discretionary Funding  


Federal  


STP & CMAQ14 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $22,000 $35,000 


New Starts (including Core 
Capacity)/Small Starts15 


0 0 0 0 0 0 14,400 14,400 14,400 14,400 


State 


New Bridge Tolls13 0 0 0 0 25,230 25,230 25,230 25,230 25,230 25,230 


Cap & Trade Funds (SB375)15 0 0 0 0 0 0 22,600 22,600 22,600 22,600 


Local 


Sales Tax Reauthorizations16 0 28,400 28,400 28,400 28,400 28,400 28,400 28,400 28,400 28,400 


Regional Gas Tax13 0 0 0 0 24,330 24,330 24,330 24,330 24,330 24,330 


Other Anticipated but 
Undetermined Revenues13 


0 0 0 0 89,443 89,443 89,443 89,443 89,443 89,443 


 


  







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-31 


NOTES for Figures 5-5 and 5-6: 


1 FTA Section 5337 and Section 5307 amounts for FY 2012/2013 and FY 2013/2014 reflect BART submittal for TCP call for projects, October 2012.  Total FTA Section 5337 and Section 5307 estimate for  FY13 
through FY40 is $3,365,400,000 per TFWG Memorandum, June 18, 2012.  FTA revenues projected to increase 3% annually per TFWG Memorandum, January 4, 2012.  Includes 10% ADA Operating and Flexible Set-
asides.  FTA Section 5309 Fixed Guideway has been replaced by Section 5337 State of Good Repair in the federal transportation authorization forFY13 and FY14, per MAP-21.  Score 16 projects: Revenue vehicle 
rehab/repl, train control, traction power, fixed guideway repl/rehab.  Other eligible projects: security, fare collection equipment, ADA, other SOGR. 


2 Total STP 2nd Cycle TCS estimate for FY13 through FY40 $58,200,000 per TFWG Memorandum, June 18, 2012.  FTA revenues projected to increase 3% annually per TFWG Memorandum, January 4, 2012.  Also 
assumes funds will be programmed to TCP-eligible operators in proportion to projected Score 16 needs.  Eligible projects: regional planning, regional operations, regional bicycle program, transportation for livable 
communities, transit capital rehabilitation.  Assumes additional $906M spread equally over 15 years (2016-2030) for Core Capacity Challenge Grants - $743M for additional 365 rail cars and $163M for train control. 


3 TSP - TPI FY 2012/2013 estimate per Programming and Allocations Committee Memorandum, October 10, 2012.  FTA revenues projected to increase 3% annually per TFWG Memorandum, January 4, 2012.  
Eligible projects increase ridership or productivity.    


4 OBAG grant for Berkeley BART Plaza & Transit Area Improvement project = $1,805,000 CMAQ (CA-95-X145 FY2014), Proposition 1B Lifeline $721,360 (FY14), Coordinated OBAG (STIP - Federalized = 
STP/CMAQ) $3,726,000 (FY17), Coordinated OBAG (CMAQ) $340,000 (FY15), Alameda County Vehicle Registration Fees $3,718,000 (FY15), City of Berkeley $557,000 (FY14) and BART $551,250 (FY14). 
OBAG grant for Richmond BART Station Intermodal = $4,331,000 CMAQ (FY15) and BART $561,127.      


5 Total AB664 Bridge Tolls estimate for FY13 through FY40 $174,800,000 per TFWG Memorandum, June 18, 2012.  FTA revenues projected to increase 3% annually per TFWG Memorandum, January 4, 2012.  Also 
assumes funds will be programmed to eligible operators in proportion to FTA Section 5307/5309 FG programming for capital projects, consistent with current programming policy.  Generally used as local match to TCP 
(i.e. SOGR/renovation projects).  Assumes an additional $82M AB664 Bridge Tolls and $83M BATA Project Savings in 2014 for Core Capacity Challenge Grants for additional 470 rail cars spread over 10 years 
beginning in 2018.   


6 Proposition 1B Revenue-Based amount for fiscal year 2012/2013 reflects actual programmed amount.  The total estimate for FY13 through FY18 per TFWG Memorandum, October 3, 2012, and is spread roughly 
evenly over those years.  Already programmed for a number of projects, including Station Mod, Warm Springs, eBART, BART-to-Oakland International Airport Project, and Earthquake Safety.   


7 $5.4M annual Prop 1 B Security Grant for 10 years per Michael Tanner March 28, 2014.         


8 Assumes $78.6M in FY 2015 per Todd Morgan (expected to request allocation from CTC June 2014).         


9 Assumes remaining $215M of GO Bond funds spread equally over five years.      


10 Assumes $29.1M remaining Contra Costa County Measure J allocation to BART spread over 10 years (2013-2022 per Michael Tanner).  Source MTC TFWG Attachment A March 5, 2013.   


11 Per BART Financial Planning.  BART Operating Allocations to Capital.  Other SGR includes Millbrae Tailtrack, OCC, Other SGR.  For TCM, includes $50.85M of prior AATC funds in FY2012-2014.  


12 On March 22, 2013, the BART Board of Directors affirmed its intention to dedicate all funds from the CPI based fare increase to three projects: new rail cars, train control and the Hayward Maintenance Complex  


13 Plan Bay Area Investment Strategy (discretionary revenues) per TFWG Memorandum June 18, 2012.  Assume revenues available starting after 2018 and straightlined for 22 years.  Memorandum does not assign 
specific revenue types by operator, so amount by revenue type assumed in proportion to overall Plan Bay Area assumptions provided by Glen Tepke in an email dated November 14, 2012.   


14 Assumes $35M/year starting in 2024 (after completion of train control modernization funding), with partial funding of $22M in 2023.    


15 MTC Resolution No. 4123, dated December 18, 2013, outlines a Core Capacity Challenge Grants - Funding Plan which identifies grant funding for BART, as follows: BART Rail Cars (470 cars beyond current 
funding commitment) - FTA/STP $743M, AB664 Bridge Tolls $82M, BATA Project Savings $83M, SFO Net Op Revenue $145M, Cap & Trade $100M; BART Train Control - FTA/STP $163M, Cap & Trade $126, Core 
Capacity New Starts $144M.      


16 Assumes expected $710M Alameda County Sales Tax Reauthorization planned for 2014, with revenues beginning in 2015 and spread over 25 years per Michael Tanner).  Source 2014 Alameda County 
Transportation Expenditure Plan.   


17 HMC: Per Hayward Maintenance Complex Cost Sharing Agreement executed September 9, 2013. Rail Cars: Contribution for 60 cars.               


18 Assumes $145M spread over 3 years (2015-2017) for Core Capacity Challenge Grants for additional 365 rail cars.      


19 Total equals Federal contribution for 410 cars per cashflow summary 2/21/13 ($347M + 524M) plus Federal contribution for additional 470 cars per MTC Resolution No. 4123 ($743M), spread out $94M/year through 
2027 and the balance in 2028.







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-32 


Committed Funds  


Under federal law, MTC, along with other Metropolitan Planning 
Organizations (MPOs), is required to submit to the FTA a Regional 
Transportation Plan (RTP) every four years. Projects must be included in an 
RTP in order to receive funding. MTC's current RTP, Plan Bay Area, was 
adopted in July 2013 for the 2040 planning horizon.  


The RTP process provides policy direction to county-level funding agencies 
regarding many issues and projects of relevance to BART. For example, MTC 
sets policy for each of the counties to follow regarding the funding of 
reinvestment and rehabilitation of transit systems, a topic of particular 
concern to BART given its aging infrastructure. The process of updating 
county plans begins when the individual counties take the series of budget 
assumptions and policies provided by MTC and use them to develop their 
individual Countywide Transportation Plans. The resulting county 
transportation priorities feed into a region-wide planning process conducted 
by MTC, which culminates with the development and adoption of the RTP.  


The RTP forecasts a 4% annual growth in federal formula funds for the next 
25 years and predicts that roughly 75% of BART's 25-year system 
reinvestment needs will be funded, largely from federal formula funds. 
However, the actual determination and programming of projects with 
formula funds is done once every three years. This is due to the volatility of 
the annual appropriation and apportionment process at the national level 
and can result in projects that appear to be funded in the RTP not receiving 
actual programming when the time comes. The reality is that not all of 
BART's reinvestment needs are fully funded and that BART must continue to 
compete with other transit operators for limited funding.  


Federal Funding 


On July 6, 2012, President Obama signed into law new federal 
transportation legislation, Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century 
(MAP-21). MAP-21 reauthorizes surface transportation funding in the United 
States. The legislation took effect on October 1, 2012 and will guide surface 
transportation funding for 27 months, until January 1, 2015.  


MAP-21 includes several strategic changes as compared with the prior 
transportation legislation known as SAFETEA-LU. One of MAP-21’s central 
goals is to reverse the proliferation of smaller and more specialized 
programs and consolidate them into larger programs that give funders more 
flexibility.  







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-33 


FTA Sections 5307 and 5337 (Urbanized Area Formula Funds)  


The main sources of funding for BART's capital needs are FTA Section 5307 
and 5337 formula funds. BART is eligible to receive federal formula funds in 
three urbanized areas: San Francisco-Oakland, Concord, and Antioch. In 
total, BART forecasts the receipt of approximately $150 million per year from 
these federal funding sources, representing approximately half of BART's 
annual renovation funding. BART’s total estimated FTA Section 5337 and 
Section 5307 allocations for FY15 through FY40 is $3.365 billion. 


FTA Section 5307 


MTC, designated by FTA as the region's Metropolitan Planning Organization 
(MPO), distributes the Section 5307 funds to the five large and seven small 
urbanized areas in the Bay Area. In general, large urbanized area formula 
funds can be used for capital purposes only. The major changes under the 
FTA Section 5307 Formula Funds are: 


 Consolidation of Job Access and Reverse Commute (JARC) with 
5307. Activities eligible under the former JARC program are now 
eligible under the Urbanized Area Formula program. This includes 
operating assistance for “job access and reverse commute” activities. 
In addition, the urbanized area formula for distributing funds now 
includes the number of low-income individuals as a factor. There is no 
floor or ceiling on the amount of funds that can be spent on job 
access and reverse commute activities. 


 New Operating Assistance Authority. Now MAP-21 expands 
eligibility for using Urbanized Area Formula funds for operating 
expenses. FTA Section 5307 provides funding for transit capital and 
transportation-related planning.  


FTA Section 5337 (State of Good Repair) 


Section 5337 is FTA’s first stand-alone initiative written into law that is 
dedicated to repairing and upgrading the nation’s rail transit systems to 
maintain a state of good repair. These funds reflect a commitment to 
ensuring that public transit operates safely, efficiently, and reliably. This 
program replaced the Fixed Guideway Rail Modernization Formula program. 
Eligible capital activities include projects on fixed guideway transit services 
(e.g. rail, ferry, BRT, and cable-car systems) to replace and rehabilitate rolling 
stock, track, line equipment and structures; signals and communications; 
power equipment and substations; passenger stations and terminals; security 
and other support equipment. Section 5337 funds are also distributed to 
MPOs on an urbanized area basis. Unlike Section 5307 funds, the 5337 funds 
are generated in large urbanized areas only. 







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-34 


In the Bay Area, federal Section 5307 and Section 5337 funds are consolidated and 
distributed to transit operators through MTC’s Transit Capital Priorities process, 
which assigns funding to highest needs based on scoring criteria.  BART programs 
eligible for this funding include train control, traction power, general main line, 
fare collection and revenue vehicle replacement. 


Surface Transportation Program (STP)  


BART also receives federal funds from the Surface Transportation Program 
fund. STP funds are considered "flexible" meaning they can be spent on 
mass transit, roads, highways, pedestrian, bicycle, and intermodal facilities. 
They are programmed by MTC on a two or three year cycle, administered by 
the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA), and flow to BART through FTA 
formula grants. Eligible projects include regional planning, regional 
operations, the regional bicycle program, transportation for livable 
communities, and transit capital rehabilitation. BART has projected the 
amount it expects to receive by escalating the amount received in FY13, 
$1.35 million, at a 3% annual increase. In addition, beginning in FY19, BART 
is expected to receive a supplemental amount of $906 million spread equally 
over 15 years for new rail cars and train control upgrades.  


Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality (CMAQ) Funds 


BART is eligible to receive federal funds from Congestion Mitigation and Air 
Quality funds. The CMAQ program, which is jointly administered by FHWA 
and FTA, provides funding to state departments of transportation, MPOs, 
and transit agencies to invest in projects that reduce air pollution in areas 
that do not meet the National Ambient Air Quality Standards, which are 
referred to as “nonattainment areas.”  


CMAQ funds can be used for a wide variety of transit uses, including 
programs to improve public transit, High Occupancy Vehicle (HOV) facilities, 
Employee Trip Reduction (ETR) programs, traffic flow improvements that 
reduce emissions, bicycle/pedestrian facilities, park-and-ride facilities, and 
programs to restrict vehicle use in areas of emission concentration. While 
these funds are largely used to fund clean air capital projects, a portion of 
funds can be used for operations to support a demonstration or pilot project 
for a period of three years. As of FY13, all CMAQ projects require a 20% 
local match with the exception of carpool and vanpool projects, which 
remain fully funded through federal monies. CMAQ funds are programmed 
by MTC and, like STP funds, flow to BART through FTA formula grants. 
Historically, these funds have been used to fund BART's car renovation 
projects.  







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-35 


Transit Sustainability Project (TSP) and Transit Performance Initiative (TPI) 


A program established under the Transit Sustainability Project is the Transit 
Performance Initiative, which is a pilot program to fund low-cost capital 
investments that can be implemented quickly and efficiently and are 
designed to increase ridership and productivity. BART has a commitment 
from the MTC Transit Finance Working Group to receive $3.5 million per 
year with a 3% annual increase each year.  


State Funding 


Proposition 1B  


The Highway Safety, Traffic Reduction, Air Quality, and Port Security Bond 
Act, approved by voters in 2006, allows the state to sell up to $1.475 billion 
in bonds for security and disaster preparedness projects throughout the 
state. Of the $3.6 billion allocated in Proposition 1B to transit statewide, half 
is to be allocated based on transit agency revenue from fares and taxes.   In 
FY13 and FY14, $52.3 million in Proposition 1B revenue-based funds were 
committed to BART for a number projects, including Station Modernization, 
WSX, eBART, BART-to-Oakland International Airport Project, and 
Earthquake Safety. 


In June 2007, MTC adopted Resolution No. 3814, which dedicated a portion 
of the bond proceeds to be used for lifeline projects to address the needs of 
low-income and minority communities. As part of a One Bay Area Grant for 
the Berkeley BART Plaza and Transit Area Improvement Project, BART was 
awarded $721,000 in Proposition 1B lifeline funds. 


Proposition 1B includes $1 billion for capital projects that provide increased 
protection against security and safety threats.  BART is expected to receive 
$5.4 million in Proposition 1B Security funds annually over 10 years.  


Proposition 1A High Speed Rail Bonds 


The Safe, Reliable High-Speed Passenger Train Bond Act for the 21st Century 
was approved by voters as Proposition 1A on November 4, 2008. It 
authorized the California Transportation Commission to allocate funds for 
capital improvements to intercity rail lines, commuter rail lines, and urban 
rail systems that provide direct connectivity to the high-speed train system 
and its facilities, or that are part of the construction of the high-speed train 
system. The Commission will allocate the net proceeds received from the sale 
of $950 million in bonds authorized under Proposition 1A for the intercity 
rail program and the commuter and urban rail program. BART anticipates an 
allocation of $45 million and $78.6 million in FY14 and FY15, respectively.  







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-36 


Regional Funding 


AB664 Bridge Tolls 


Assembly Bill 664 designated MTC to allocate certain bridge tolls for projects 
that relieve congestion on the southern bridges (Bay Bridge, San Mateo 
Bridge, and Dumbarton Bridge). These funds are split 70% for East Bay and 
30% for West Bay. MTC Resolution No. 2004 gives first priority to match 
federal and state funds for transit capital projects in score order. AB664 
bridge tolls are primarily used to match federal formula grants. BART 
expects to receive approximately $4 million annually with a 3% annual 
increase; BART typically uses these funds to match federal grants. In FY14, 
BART anticipates an additional $165 million from a combination of Bridge 
Tolls and Bay Area Toll Authority (BATA) project savings. These funds will be 
used to pay for 365 of the new rail cars.  


Local Funding 


Contra Costa Measure J Sales Tax Measure 


In November 2004, Contra Costa County voters approved a new measure, 
Measure J, which took effect in 2009. This measure was projected to 
generate $1.6 billion over 25 years. BART received funding from Measure J 
for two capital projects: eBART, which received $150 million in 2004 dollars, 
and the BART Parking, Access, and Other Improvements project, which 
received $41 million. This CIP assumes that BART will receive the remaining 
Contra Costa County Measure J allocation of $29 million, which will be 
spread over 10 years.  


VTA Contribution to Hayward Maintenance Complex and Rail Cars  


Voters in Santa Clara County approved a sales tax measure in 2000 designed 
to fund transit service and the future extension of BART to Santa Clara, 
called Silicon Valley Rapid Transit (SVRT). VTA and BART reached agreement 
in November 2001 regarding the relationship between the two 
organizations for the duration of the planning, building, and operating of a 
future BART line to Santa Clara.  


In 2013, an agreement between the two agencies was executed for the 
purchase of property and the design and construction work for the HMC 
project, which will support the maintenance of the 60 BART revenue vehicles 
being purchased for the SVBX project and other maintenance aspects of the 
full 16-mile SVRT program. The agreement addresses the purchase of 
property and the design and construction of improvements to BART's 
existing yard and shop facilities located in Hayward. In FY14 and FY15, $87.7 
million is anticipated.  







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-37 


This agreement also commits VTA to partially fund the purchase of the new 
rail cars that are being acquired to serve the SVBX project. Annual funding, 
in varying amounts agreed to by the two agencies, is expected for FY15 
through FY25.  


Alameda County Vehicle Registration Fee (VRF) 


The Alameda County Transportation Commission has committed $3.718 
million from Alameda County Vehicle Registration Fees to BART for FY15.  


BART Funding 


BART Seismic General Obligation Bonds 


General Obligation (GO) bonds are supported by a district-wide, voter-
approved ad valorem property tax. Prior to the $980 million Earthquake 
Safety Program bond, GO bonds were used to finance the construction of 
the original BART system. Approval from at least two-thirds of the voters 
within the BART district is required to approve the sale and issuance of the 
GO bonds and assume the burden of the additional property tax necessary 
to pay off the bonds over several years. BART issued GO bonds in 2005 and 
2006 for earthquake safety improvements and construction of the West 
Dublin/Pleasanton station and related improvements. This CIP assumes the 
remaining $215 million in GO bonds will be spread equally over the next five 
years.  


BART Operating Allocations  


Throughout its history, BART has reinvested annual operating revenues into 
the capital program. These annual allocations are used for many critical 
capital projects that do not qualify for grant funding or for which other 
funding sources may not be available. These are fully described in Chapter 4, 
but in general will fund the “Big 3” (Fleet of the Future, the Train Control 
Modernization Project, and the Hayward Maintenance Complex) as well as 
some other state-of-good-repair and access projects. 


SFO Net Operating Revenue 


This allocation is from the positive net operating result of the SFO Extension. 
Over the 10 years of the SRTP, $125 million is projected to be generated for 
Core Capacity Challenge Grants to acquire an additional 365 rail cars. 
Including prior year allocations, this source totals $145 million. 


Discretionary Funds  
Discretionary revenues are not yet committed to BART and are more 
speculative funding sources. However, they may become available within the 
plan horizon. Although federal and state funding for transportation is 







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-38 


critical, it is insufficient to cover BART’s significant capital investment needs. 
The discretionary funds discussed below include federal, state and local fund 
sources that have potential to be realized by FY40.  


Federal Funding 


Discretionary STP and CMAQ Funds 


Beyond the committed STP/CMAQ 
funds described above, BART 
projects it may also receive $22 
million in 2023, increasing to $35 
million per year in 2024 and 
beyond after completion of the 
Train Control Modernization 
Program.  


New Starts/Small Starts 


FTA Section 5309 New Starts funds 
are earmarked by Congress. FTA 
Section 5309 New Starts are used 
for building new rail, bus rapid 
transit, and ferry systems, or 
extensions to existing systems. 
MAP-21 adds new eligibility for 
core capacity improvement 
projects, that is, projects that 
expand capacity by at least 10% in 
existing fixed guideway transit 
corridors that are at or above 
capacity, or are expected to be at 
capacity within five years. The 
BART to San Francisco Airport 
extension received $750 million in 
New Starts funds over more than a 
10-year period. This CIP assumes 
$144 million of New Starts/Small 
Starts spread over 10 years to fund 
Core Capacity Challenge Grants 
for train control (further described 
in sidebar). These funds are highly 
competitive at the national level 
and MTC's RTP dictates the next 
priority within the region.  


MTC’s Core Capacity 
Challenge Grant Program 


MTC recently approved a funding plan for 
the region’s core capacity projects, 
Resolution No. 4130, called the Core Capacity 
Challenge Grant Program. This 15-year 
funding plan for the three largest operators 
– BART, Muni, and AC Transit– includes 
funding for fleet replacement and 
enhancement, facilities upgrades, and fixed 
guideway infrastructure. This is the first time 
MTC has addressed the region’s core capacity 
needs in a program of projects similar to the 
regional expansion programs.  


BART’s three interrelated core capacity 
projects are major beneficiaries. BART is set 
to receive $1.7 billion over the next 15 years, 
exclusive of the already awarded $1.4 billion 
railcar contract. Specifically, the plan 
provides funding for 850 railcars, 75 more 
than the current contract, from a 
combination of federal formula funds, bridge 
tolls, and bridge toll project savings. The plan 
also provides funding for the Train Control 
Modernization Project with federal formula 
funds, cap and trade, and core capacity new 
starts. The Hayward Maintenance Complex is 
funded with VTA and BART funds. This 
program requires BART to provide $918 
million in local funds as a matching 
contribution.  


As part of this program, MTC has agreed to 
accelerate funding to projects that are ready 
to go, such as the BART railcar project, and 
provide financing to address cash flow 
problems. This allows BART to award the 
remaining options for the Fleet of the Future 
railcar project and sets the stage for 
additional cars beyond the current contract. 







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-39 


State Funding  


New Bridge Tolls 


Regional Measure 1 (RM1) and Regional Measure 2 (RM2) were approved by 
voters in 1988 and 2004, respectively. Consistent with the investment 
strategy in Plan Bay Area, this plan assumes that in FY19 there would be a $1 
increase in the non-carpool vehicle toll on all state-owned bridges. Regional 
bridge toll revenues are based on projected travel demand on the region’s 
seven state-owned toll bridges. Beginning in FY19, $25.2 million per year is 
estimated as new revenue for BART to help fund its capital improvement 
projects.  


Cap and Trade Funds (SB375) 


In 2013, California officially launched its Cap and Trade program for 
greenhouse gas pollution. California Carbon Allowances (CCAs) are 
auctioned by the State’s Air Resources Board on a quarterly basis through 
2020. 


Plan Bay Area assumes Cap and Trade funding for a variety of transportation 
improvements, including transit operating and capital 
rehabilitation/replacement, local streets and roads rehabilitation, goods 
movement, and transit-oriented affordable housing. In December 2013, MTC 
adopted Resolution No. 4130, which establishes the cap and trade funding 
framework and process development. While the process is just getting 
underway, MTC’s Core Capacity Challenge Grants Funding Plan identifies 
$100 million for Rail Cars and $126 million for Train Control Modernization 
over a 10 year period (further described in sidebar). 


Local Funding  


Alameda County Sales Tax Reauthorization 


The Alameda County Transportation Commission has placed a measure on 
the ballot for fall 2014 to extend and augment the county’s half-cent sales 
tax. The measure includes $710 million for BART System Modernization and 
Expansion over the 30-year time horizon of the plan, including $400 million 
for BART to Livermore, $100 million for the Bay Fair Connector/BART Metro 
projects, $90 million for the BART Station Modernization and Capacity 
Program, and $120 million for a potential future infill station in the 
Irvington area of Fremont. Should the measure pass, revenues are assumed 
beginning in FY16 and spread over 25 years. 


Regional Gas Tax 


Plan Bay Area, adopted in July 2013, includes transportation policies and 
investments intended to maintain and enhance the region’s extensive 







 Capital Improvement Program 
 
 
 


5-40 


transportation network. One of the recommended investment strategies is 
for a regional gas tax. Since there is no guarantee that such an increase 
would be approved by voters or how revenues would be allocated to Bay 
Area operators, this CIP makes several key assumptions for this potential 
revenue source. Consistent with the Transit Finance Working Group, it is 
assumed that $24.3 million in revenues would be available each year 
beginning in FY19 and extend for the duration of the plan.  


Other Anticipated but Undetermined Revenues 


Plan Bay Area required that every county congestion management agency 
create a “Priority Development Area (PDA) Investment and Growth 
Strategy” that describes how the county will support the development of its 
PDAs. As many BART station areas have been designated as PDAs, BART 
anticipates $8.4 million annually from a variety of funding sources that will 
be allocated through these plans, starting in 2018. 


  












SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT


MEMORANDUM


TO: Board of Directors Date: August 22,2014


FROM: General Manager


SUBJECT: Agenda Item 6,4.: Review of Draft Fiscal Year 2015 to Fiscal Year 2024 Short
Range Transit Plan/Capital Improvement Program


A review ofthe Draft Short Range Transit Plan/Capital Improvement Program (SRTP/CIP) will be
presented at the August 28 Board meeting. The SRTP/CIP provides an overview of BART's long-
term operating and capital financial outlook, as required by the Metropolitan Transportation
Commission (MTC). It covers l0 years, from Fiscal Year 2015 through Fiscal Year 2024. The
FYl5 SRTP/CP has a new format with two component documents:


. "Building a Better BART," an executive summary that is designed to communicate with the
general public. It uses less technical language than a traditional SRTP/CIP; highlights
BART's role in the region; articulates key financial messages and the ten-year operating and
capital financial outlook; and showcases priority capital projects and programs.


. A traditional SRTP/CIP that is more detailed and meets MTC's technical requirements.


Your agenda packet also includes the presentation that will be made at the Board meeting.


The final documents are scheduled for consideration by the Board in October.


Please contact Carter Mau at (510) 464-6194 ifyou have questions.


Board Appointed Officers
Deputy General Manager
Executive Staff








WSX Semi-Annual Update


1


BART Board of Directors
August 28, 2014







1) Project Scope, Schedule, Funding & Budget


2) Project Progress & Data 
 Line, Track, Station & Systems Contract


3) Environmental Compliance


4) Community Outreach


5) Look Ahead


6) Q & A


WSX Semi-Annual Update 
Agenda


2







3 3


Fremont Central Park Subway


Line, Track, Station and Systems


BART Overpass (City of Fremont Grade Separation Project)


Fremont Station


Warm Springs/ 
South Fremont 
Station


Fremont Central Park


South Subway Portal


North 
Subway 


Portal 


North Ventilation
Structure


Lake Elizabeth


South Ventilation 
Structure


Irvington Station 
(Future)


W
ashington Blvd.


A
uto


M
all Pkw


y.


S. G
rim


m
er Blvd.


BART Overpass


Paseo Padre Pkw
y.


Tie-in Point 
for SVBX 
Project


WSX Project Scope







WSX Project Schedule
Major Contracts


Subway Contract
Permits/Agreements/ROW Certification & 
Bid Document Preparation
(1Q 2007 to 4Q 2008)


Advertisement/Award/Notice to Proceed
(1Q 2009 to 2Q 2009)


Subway Construction
(43 Months)


LTSS Contract
Secure Funding, ROW Cert & Bid Doc Prep
(1Q 2007 to 1Q 2010)


RFQ/RFP/Award/Notice to Proceed
(2Q 2010 to 2Q 2011)


Design/Build Construction 
(51 Months)


Begin Revenue Service
(4Q 2015)


2007   2008   2009   2010   2011   2012   2013   2014  2015


4







WSX LTSS Design Build 
Construction Schedule*


Notice to Proceed
(5 October 2011)


Facilities Design
(4Q 2011 through 2Q 2013)


Facilities Construction 
(2Q 2012 through 4Q 2014)


Systems Design
(4Q 2011 through 2Q 2014)


Systems Manufacture & Installation
(1Q 2013 through 2Q 2015)


Contractor Testing
(3Q 2014 through 3Q 2015)


BART Testing
(2Q 2015 through 4Q2015)


CPUC Approval & Begin Revenue Service
(4Q 2015)


2011 2012 2013  2014  2015  2016


5*Calendar Years







Current Funding Amount (Millions)


Alameda County 2000 Measure B Tier 1 $215


State Traffic Congestion Relief Program (TCRP) $100


Regional Measure 1 Bridge Tolls $118


Alameda County Congestion Management Agency (CMA) $2


Proposition 1B 
50% Revenue-Based (BART), 50% Population-Based (MTC)


$40


Regional Measure 2 Bridge Tolls
(Includes $91M Dumbarton Swap)


$176


Proposition 1B State Local Partnership Program (SLPP)
(MTC $40M, ACTIA $36M, SCVTA $16M)


$92


BART Agency Contribution $24


Total Current Funding $767


Unfunded Program Reserve/Future Programming


State Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) $69


San Francisco Airport Extension Surplus Revenues
($27M MTC Advance, $27M ACTIA/BART Advance)


$54


Total Unfunded Program Reserve/Future Programming $123


Total Warm Springs Funding $890


WSX Project Funding


6







Description Current Project
Budget Expended ITD Cost to 


Complete
Current 
Forecast


Conceptual Engineering/Environmental $9 $9 $0 $9


Preliminary Engineering $28 $28 $0 $28


Final Design $10 $10 $0 $10


Construction* $607 $386 $217 $603


Design Support During Construction (DSDC)* $29 $23 $10 $33


ROW & Utility Agreements* $84 $78 $6 $84


Total** $767 $534 $233 $767


WSX Project Budget Status 
(Thru June 30, 2014 in Millions)


7
* Includes Contingency
** Does not include committed but unfunded project reserve of $123M







 Line, Track, Station & Systems Contract No. 02EE-120 Progress Since 
February 2014 Update:
– Final Design for Systems Essentially Complete


– Retaining Walls, Sound Walls & Systems Ductbanks Nearly Complete


– Walnut Avenue Overpass Constructed & Lowered Into Place


– Ballasted & Resilient Tie Trackway Construction Underway, Including 
Special Trackwork


– Retained Fill for Trackway at Fremont Station Nearly Complete


– Sitework for Wayside Traction Power & Train Control Facilities 
Nearly Complete


– Remote Parking Lot and Shuttle to Fremont Station Still In Operation


– Warm Springs / South Fremont Station, Ancillary Building, Supervisor’s 
Building, Parking Lot, Transit Center, and Warm Springs Boulevard 
Construction Well Underway


– Contract Approximately 65% Physically Compete


WSX LTSS Work Progress


8







WSX Fremont Station 
Construction


9







WSX Walnut Avenue 
Overpass Lowering


10







WSX Walnut Avenue Overpass


11







WSX Track Installation


12







WSX Warm Springs / 
South Fremont Station


13







WSX Warm Springs / 
South Fremont Station


14







WSX Warm Springs / 
South Fremont Station


15







WSX Warm Springs / 
South Fremont Station


16







WSX Warm Springs / 
South Fremont Station


17







WSX Warm Springs / 
South Fremont Station


18







BART Intern Tour of 
Warm Springs / South Fremont 
Station


19







WSX Fremont Station Bench 
Array Artwork Dedication 
July 23, 2014


20







Forecast:
 Contract Award Amount $299M
 Approved Change Orders* $3.5 M (1%)
 Working Contingency $16.5M (6%)
 Forecast at Completion $319M (Bid + 7%)


M/WBE & SBE Utilization


*Does not include AFC Options  **On $187M of Subcontracted Work ***Goal established by WSC


WSX LTSS Contract Forecast
(Thru June 2014)


21


District 
Availability


Contractor 
Commitment**


Current 
Status


MBE – Design 16% 16% 25%


WBE – Design 20% 21% 16%


MBE – Construction 23% 24% 11%


WBE – Construction 12% 12% 10%


MBE – Materials 10% 11% 5%


WBE – Materials 12% 12% 23%


SBE Utilization N/A 5.7%*** 2.7%







WSX Environmental Compliance


 Conduct Environmental Awareness Training for All Project and 
Contractor Staff


 Conduct Pre-Construction Surveys for Nesting Birds and Special 
Status Species & Archaeology


 Conduct Inspection for Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Plan 
(MMRP) and Regulatory Permit Compliance


 Provide Stormwater Pollution Prevention Monitoring and Reporting


 File Daily Environmental Inspection Reports Including 
Non-Compliance Reports and Follow-Up


 Assist the Project with Fulfilling Offsite Mitigation Obligations


 Provide Quarterly MMRP Reports to BART Board
22







WSX Community Outreach


 Held Fremont Station Bench Array Artwork Dedication Event 


July 23, 2014


 Maintain Community Relations Field Office 


 Respond to Inquiries and Requests for Information


 Issue Construction Activity Notices


 Arrange Site Tours


 Conduct Outreach/Safety Presentations at Local 


Schools/Universities


 Maintain Phone Hotline & Project Website, Including Station 


Construction Webcams


WSX Project Hotline: 510-476-3900
WSX Project Website: www.bart.gov/wsx 23







 Line, Track, Station and Systems Contract:


– Essentially Complete Facilities Construction Including Track Installation and 


Warm Springs / South Fremont Station and Site Work (Excluding Systems)


– Prepare for Installation of Systems Equipment and Field Testing Phase


– Begin Design and Construction Coordination of Photovoltaics at Warm 


Springs / South Fremont Station


– Host Fremont Station Tie-In Commemorative Event


 WSX Wetland Mitigation Site


– Advertise and Award Contract 02EE-140


WSX Look Ahead


24







Q & A


25







